
TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: (207) 475-1329 Fax: (207) 439-6806 
                                

KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

October 11, 2023 
6:00PM 

___________________________________________________________ 
 
Meetings may be watched in person, on Channel 22, the Town’s website, or Kittery Channel 
22 Facebook page. 
 
The public may submit public comments via email, US Mail, or by dropping off written 
comments at the Town Hall.  Emailed comments should be sent to: 
TownComments@kitteryme.org. 
 
The public may participate in person or via Zoom webinar. To register for the Zoom webinar, 
click this link: 

                 
https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_zJzyv8JlTTKJJSZAXwBMyw 
 

  
Written comments received by noon on the day of the meeting will become part of the 
public record and may be read in whole or in summary by the Council Chair. 
______________________________________________________________________ 

      
1. Call to Order 

2. Introductory 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Roll Call   

5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption 

6. Town Manager’s Report  

7. Acceptance of Previous Minutes  

• September 11, 2023 – Regular Meeting & Executive Session 

8. Interviews for the Board of Appeals and Planning Board 

mailto:TownComments@kitteryme.org
https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_zJzyv8JlTTKJJSZAXwBMyw


 
 

9. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees or other town 
consultants or requested offices.  

10. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

a. (100123-01) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing on a 
Marijuana Retail License – Green Truck. 

11. DISCUSSION 
a.  Discussion by members of the public (three minutes per person)  
b.  Response to public comment directed to a particular Councilor 
c.  Chairperson’s response to public comments 

12. UNFINISHED BUSINESS -  

13. NEW BUSINESS 

a.  Donations/gifts received for Council disposition. 

i. (100123-02) The Kittery Town Council moves to accept a donation from 
Kathryn Hill in the amount of $15.00 to be deposited into the George Smart 
Santa Fund, account #1372. 

b. (100123-03) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a public hearing on 
October 23, 2023 for Title 12 - Shellfish Conservation. 

c. (100123-04) The Kittery Town Council moves to discuss the Town Manager’s 
annual merit increase.  

d. (100123-05) The Kittery Town Council moves to appoint a Councilor along with the 
Chair of the Port Authority to interview Michael O’Keefe for a three-year term on the 
Kittery Port Authority.  

e. (100123-06) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve the request from the 
Kiwanis Club of the Seacoast to hold the annual Kittery Holiday Parade on 
Saturday, December 2, with a rain date of Sunday, December 3.  

f. (100123-07) The Kittery Town Council moves to appoint the proposed applicants to 
the Traffic and Parking Ad Hoc Committee. 

• Debbie Driscoll - Resident 
• John C Perry - Resident 
• Kathy Stimson - Resident 



• Lawrence Elbroch - Resident 
• Jared Lucas – Resident 
• Shannon Hill – Business/Commercial Representative 
• Jessica Becker – Business/Commercial Representative  
• Cyrus Clark – Council Representative 
• Cameron Hamm – Council Representative 

 
14. COUNCILOR ISSUES OR COMMENTS 

15. COMMITTEE AND OTHER REPORTS 
a. Communications from the Chairperson  
b. Committee Reports  

16. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

17. ADJOURNMENT    
         
 
Posted: October 5, 2023 
 



1 

 
Town Manager’s Report to the Town Council 

October 11, 2023 

1. Senior Tax Stabilization Program Error – Yesterday we identified an error in approximately 558 
tax bills issued this week.  We believe issuing correct tax bills is paramount to our work.  The tax bill 
is the only municipal function every single taxpayer engages with us on.  We take the trust in that 
interaction very seriously. 

As you know the State Legislature enacted a Senior Tax Stabilization law in 2022, to go into effect 
this tax year.  The intent of the law was to freeze the qualifying tax payer’s bill (regardless of change 
in assessed value) at the same dollar amount (or less) until they no longer live in Maine.  Cities and 
towns, Maine Municipal Association and many others raised significant issues and concerns with 
implementation of the law; and the legislature repealed it the following session.  However, the law 
remained on the books for this one year, meaning this current tax year, only.  We have 558 property 
owners approved for the program. 

Since the spring we have been working with our software companies who manage both our property 
assessments and tax billing/financial data (MUNIS) on how we were going to implement the law.  We 
believe since the law only applies to Maine and is only in effect for one year, a software-based patch 
was not a priority for MUNIS.   

With a looming deadline to get bills out, we had to develop a work around that bypassed the financial 
software systems and applied an individual credit to each of the 558 accounts.  This was in part why 
the bills were issued a little later than usual. 

We discovered yesterday, when we pulled reports to submit our reimbursement request to the State for 
the program, that we didn’t capture the Homestead or Veterans exemption correctly in the 
workaround.  This means we applied too much credit to the majority of the 558 accounts that received 
the stabilization credit, while some, specifically those who became first time exemption applicants for 
other programs, didn’t get enough of a credit.  The difference ranges from an undercharge of $380 to 
overcharge of $225 for the year.  We are still reviewing the calculations to ensure we have applied the 
law correctly.  We have the Assessing Team, Finance Team, and MUNIS working on this.  Total 
estimated impact is an undercharge of approximately $137,000 in aggregate. 

Our plan is to issue a supplemental bill in early November to those accounts that received too much of 
a credit.  To those who did not receive enough of a credit, they will see an additional credit amount on 
their 2nd tax bill.   Any accounts that received too much credit will have the balance due on the second 
and third tax bills so no late charges will apply. 

The net result for each of the 558 taxpayers is that the total amount of property taxes they pay this year 
will be equal to what they paid last year, or less in the case of those with new exemptions.   

TOWN OF KITTERY 
Office of the Town Manager 

200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 
Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 

kamaral@kitteryme.org  

 
 

 

mailto:kamaral@kitteryme.org


2 

2. Extended Resource Recovery Facility Hours for Fall Yard Waste – The Kittery Resource 
Recovery Facility will be open for extended hours on Saturday October 21, October 28, and November 
4.  On these Saturdays, the facility will be open until 4:15PM.   

3. Street Barriers Removal  – The Foreside street barriers for outside dining will be removed on 
October 31.  We wish to thank Kittery’s artists including Julia Henry, Bethany Moulton, April 
Palmieri, Janice Bigos, Barbara Tomkins, Heather Dorgan, and Girl Scout Troop 2164. 

The tubular delineators (temporary bollards) for the Bike/Pedestrian demonstration project will also be 
removed on October 31. 

4. November 7 Election –The election will be held on November 7, 2023 from 8AM to 8PM at the 
Kittery Community Center.  The ballot will include local elected positions and state referenda. 

Absentee ballots are available at the Town Clerk’s Office.   

Candidate Night has been scheduled for October 16, 6:30PM at Town Hall.  This is for candidates of 
local seats, specifically Town Council and School Committee. Candidate Night is hosted by the 
Student Government of Traip Academy and their advisor. Candidate Night is not led by any local 
voter group or newspaper. The format and questions are chosen and managed by the students. 

For more information about registering to vote and obtaining an absentee ballot, please contact Town 
Clerk Jillian Richards at 207-475-1313 or at jrichards@kitteryme.org. 

Upcoming Dates: 

• Float Out at Pepperrell Cove – October 16 
• Candidate Night – October 16, 6:30PM, Town Hall  
• Halloween Celebration – October 21, 10AM to 1PM, Kittery Community Center 
• Community First Non-Profit Fair – October 25, 5PM to 6:30PM, Kittery Community Center  
• Trick or Treat – October 30, 5PM to 8PM 
• Real Estate Taxes Due – October 31 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Kendra Amaral 
Town Manager 

mailto:jrichards@kitteryme.org


Y O U R  V O T E  M A T T E R S ,  S O  C A S T  Y O U R
B A L L O T  A N D  L E T  Y O U R  V O I C E  B E  H E A R D !

Absentee ballots are now available for the November
7, 2023 Municipal & State Referendum Election.  

Voters can request an absentee ballot until 6 PM on
November 2, 2023. 

Request by phone: 207-475-1313 & 207-475-1312.
Request online at www.kitteryme.gov/elections.
Request in person at the Customer Service Center:

Monday - Wednesday: 8:30 AM - 4:00 PM
Thursday: 8:30 AM - 6:00 PM
Friday: 8:30 AM - 1:30 PM

FOR MORE INFORMATION, VISIT: WWW.KITTERYME.GOV/ELECTIONS

Completed absentee ballots may be returned using the
secure drop box outside of Town Hall, located at 200

Rogers Road, until 4:00 PM on Monday, November 6, 2023.  

After the close of business on Monday, all absentee ballots
must be returned directly to the polls on Election Day.



THE KITTERY RESOURCE RECOVERY
FACILITY WILL BE OBSERVING EXTENDED  

HOURS IN OCTOBER & NOVEMBER

BOOK NOW

FOR MORE INFORMATION, PLEASE VISIT:
WWW.KITTERYME.GOV/KRRF

The Kittery Resource Recovery Facility (KRRF) will be
observing extended hours this fall to assist residents

with leaf, brush and grass clipping disposal.

EXTENDED KRRF HOURS WILL BE
OBSERVED ON THE FOLLOWING DATES:

Saturday, October 21 from 7:15 AM - 4:15 PM
Saturday, October 28 from 7:15 AM - 4:15 PM
Saturday, November 4 from 7:15 AM - 4:15 PM



 TRAFFIC DEMONSTRATION
PROJECT SURVEY

 TRAFFIC DEMONSTRATION
PROJECT SURVEY

This summer, the Town of Kittery implemented a series of
temporary demonstration projects throughout town, aimed
at improving conditions for pedestrians and cyclists.

T O W N  O F  K I T T E R Y

ABOUT THE PROJECT(S)

PROVIDE YOUR FEEDBACK
The Town of Kittery has launched the Kittery Moves Together survey
to gather feedback and information about how the temporary
designs impacted your driving, walking, and cycling experience in
the project areas. The survey has 9 questions and takes less than four
minutes to complete.

OCTOBER 4, 2023 | 6 PM | COUNCIL CHAMBERS & ZOOM

To share your feedback, please scan the QR code below or visit our
website at www.kitteryme.gov/kitterymovestogether.  

ATTEND OUR NEXT PUBLIC INPUT SESSION

SUMMER 2023



Kittery's Climate Action Plan Task Force has been working to
develop a plan to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and

adapt to the impacts of climate change.  29 proposed climate
action strategies have been identified by community input,

and are now available for review and feedback. 

REVIEW THE 29 PROPOSED CLIMATE ACTION STRATEGIES
& TAKE THE SURVEY TO PROVIDE YOUR COMMENTS.

To review the strategies and take the survey, please scan
the QR code below or visit: www.kitteryme.gov/CAP.

PROPOSED CLIMATE ACTION 
STRATEGIES & SURVEY

Kittery's Climate Action Plan Task Force has been
working to develop a plan to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions and adapt to the impacts of climate change.
The full plan will go to the Town Council for adoption in
December 2023.

The Kittery Climate Action Plan Task Force Presents

For more info about how to get involved, visit:
www.kitteryme.gov/CAP



GETGET
INVOLVEDINVOLVED

JOIN A TOWN OF KITTERY BOARD,
COMMITTEE OR COMMISSION

The Town of Kittery is seeking unique ideas,
problem-solving abilities and personal experience

to help shape the future of Kittery.  

BOARDS CURRENTLY
SEEKING MEMBERS,

ALTERNATES OR POOL
APPLICANTS 

Board of Assessment Review
Climate Adaptation Committee

Comprehensive Plan Committee
Economic Development Committee
Educational Scholarship Committee

Housing Committee
Land Issues Committee

Parks Commission
Port Authority

Shellfish Conservation Commission

Some boards meet once a month, while others
meet more frequently. Find one that suits your
schedule.
Participate in meetings and workshops in-person,
or remotely via Zoom for more flexibility.

Learn about local government and find new ways
to address community challenges and concerns.
Meet new people with various talents and share
ideas that make a difference.

Tell Me More!

How Often Do Boards Meet?

Apply Today!

To download or complete an application, please
visit: www.kitteryme.gov/getinvolved.

FOR MORE INFORMATION

207-475-1313

jrichards@kitteryme.org

200 Rogers Road
Kittery, ME 03908

APPLY TODAY



TO TOWN OF KITTERY E-ALERTS

Subscribe to Town of
Kittery e-alerts to
receive notifications via
e-mail about important
Town of Kittery news,
announcements, events,
and much more!

SUB
SCRIBE



FOLLOW USFOLLOW USFOLLOW US
ON SOCIALON SOCIALON SOCIAL
MEDIAMEDIAMEDIA

Stay connected for the latest and
greatest from the Town of Kittery!

on Facebook @KitteryTownHall

on Instagram @KitteryTownHall

on Twitter (X) @TownofKittery

on LinkedIn @town-of-kittery-maine

For more information, please visit www.kitteryme.gov.



                                1 
KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL 2 

September 11, 2023 3 
      4 

1. Call to Order 5 

Vice Chair McGuire called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM. 6 

2. Introductory 7 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 8 

4. Roll Call Councilors present Councilor Bragg, Councilor Clark, Councilor Hamm, 9 
Councilor Stevens.  10 

Councilors not in attendance- Councilor Dow and Chair Spiller 11 

5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption 12 

Vice Chair McGuire cast one vote to adopt Agenda as presented. 13 

6. Town Manager’s Report  14 

Town Manager reported on the Climate Action Open House and the November 7 Election. 15 

Upcoming dates:  16 
Shellfish License Issuance Day – September 23 17 
Proposed Climate Actions Open House –September 23 18 
3rd Annual Taste of Kittery – September 23 19 
Route 1 Corridor Feasibility Study Info Session – September 27 20 
 21 

7. Acceptance of Previous Minutes  22 

• July 17, 2023 23 
 24 
All were in favor of accepting minutes as presented. 25 

 26 
8. Interviews for the Board of Appeals and Planning Board- None 27 

 28 
9. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees or other town 29 

consultants or requested offices.  30 

 31 



a. (090123-01) The Kittery Town Council moves to establish an overlay amount of 32 
$_________, resulting in a mil rate of ______ per mil, and to charge an interest rate 33 
of 4% per annum on past due accounts and an interest rate of 2% on overpayment 34 
of property taxes, and confirms the dates of October 31, 2023, February 15, 2024 35 
and May 31, 2024, as the due dates for property and personal taxes.  36 

Paul McKenney, Assessor, gave a presentation. 37 

Councilor Stevens moves to establish an overlay amount of $163,630 resulting in a MIL rate of 38 
$13.61 and to charge an interest rate of 4% per annum on past due accounts and an interest 39 
rate of 2% on overpayment of property taxes, and confirms the dates of October 31, 2023, 40 
February 15, 2024 and May 31, 2024, as the due dates for property and personal taxes, 41 
seconded by Councilor Hamm. 42 

Councilor Clark asked about the tax increase exemption and what exemption that was. 43 
Mr. McKenney responded. 44 
 45 
Vice Chair McGuire stated that all this means a less than a 1% increase on the budget and 46 
that given the economy we are in we are very lucky to see such a small increase. He also 47 
thanked Mr. McKenney for his presentation and his hard work. 48 
 49 
Motion passes  50 
5-0-0 51 

 52 
10. PUBLIC HEARINGS 53 

11. DISCUSSION 54 
a.  Discussion by members of the public (three minutes per person)  55 

 56 
Vice Chair McGuire read an email from Vanessa Marquez, 55 Woodlawn Ave, where she 57 
inquired as to when the Town planned on replacing the trees removed from the Emery Field 58 
Project alongside the Pickleball courts.   59 
 60 
 61 
Vice Chair McGuire read an email from Filomena Knowles, 2 Estuary Drive, where she 62 
reported she does not believe that the additional funds of the Town should go to non-essential 63 
programs and should have gone to schools, Police and Fire Departments as well as road 64 
maintenance.  65 
 66 

b.  Response to public comment directed to a particular Councilor 67 
c.  Chairperson’s response to public comments 68 

Vice Chair McGuire asked the Town Manager to respond to Vanessa Marquez. 69 

Vice Chair McGuire responded to Filomena Knowles. 70 

12. UNFINISHED BUSINESS -  71 



13. NEW BUSINESS 72 

a.  Donations/gifts received for Council disposition. 73 

b. (090123-02) The Kittery Town Council moves to accept a request from St. Raphaels 74 
Church to place signage around town from October 21, 2023 to November 5, 2023, 75 
for their annual Holiday Bazaar.  76 

Move to approve the request by Councilor Clark, seconded by Councilor Bragg. 77 
Motion passes 5-0-0 78 
 79 

c. (090123-03) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve the Annual General 80 
Assistance Appendices A-H for the 2023-2024 year.  81 

Town Clerk, Jillian Richards gave an overview. 82 

Vice Chair McGuires moves to accept, seconded by Councilor Stevens. 83 

Motion passes  84 
5-0-0  85 
 86 
14. COUNCILOR ISSUES OR COMMENTS 87 

Councilor Bragg stated that there will be a September gathering for the Youth Ad Hoc 88 
Committee, there was a break for the DEI Committee and The Climate Committee will be 89 
seeing the community on September 23 to discuss what we can do for climate adaption. 90 

Councilor Stevens wanted to acknowledge that today is the anniversary for September 11. She 91 
wanted to comment on the letter received about the distribution of the Towns surplus funds.  92 
She stated that she believes it is the Councils responsibility to take care of everyone within the 93 
Town and that the distribution of the funds was fair and appropriate. She also stated that the 94 
Seacoast BIPOC festival is happening on September 24 in Portsmouth held at the Vida 95 
Cantina. 96 

Councilor Clark stated that Vice Chair McGuire did a great job tonight. 97 

Councilor Hamm stated his appreciation of the Vice Chair filling in tonight. He also stated that 98 
he echoes Councilor Stevens comments regarding September 11. He discussed a recent 99 
family trip to New York and how the country has rebuilt. He also thanked the Kittery Dems for 100 
hosting the annual picnic this past weekend. 101 

Vice Chair McGuire thanked everyone for their comments and support. He stated that 9/11 had 102 
a huge impact on our country and we lost many people on that day. He also discussed that 103 
there is unfortunately more degradation in adherence to ethics in our judiciary system and 104 
people should be paying attention and holding our local officials responsible for this. 105 



15. COMMITTEE AND OTHER REPORTS 106 
a. Communications from the Chairperson  107 
b. Committee Reports  108 

Councilor Hamm stated that the Housing Committee continue to have discussions on 109 
implementing LD 2003 and that the implementation should be ready to go on December 31 of 110 
this year. 111 

Vice Chair McGuire stated that we are fortunate to be in community that has forward thinking 112 
when it comes to housing as the ADU’s were looked at in a positive way by the State. 113 

16. EXECUTIVE SESSION 114 

17. ADJOURNMENT 115 
 116 
Move to adjourn made by Councilor Hamm, seconded by Councilor Stevens. 117 
All were in favor.    118 
         119 
 120 
Submitted by Jennifer Wheeler 121 
 122 
Disclaimer: The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting. Whilst 123 
every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the minutes are not 124 
intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a refer to the video of the 125 
meeting on the Town of Kittery website. 126 



 
 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 
 

 

 
R E P O R T  T O  T O W N  CO U N C I L  

 
Meeting Date: October 11, 2023 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

Subject: Marijuana Business License – GTF Kittery 8, LLC, 89 Route 236 

Council Sponsor:  N/A 

 
STAFF REVIEW 
Title 5.11.5.D requires that no license may be granted by the Town until the Town Manager, Police Chief, 
Fire Chief, Code Enforcement Officer and other staff as deemed appropriate by the Town Manager have 
all made positive recommendations regarding the applicant’s ability to comply with this title or any other 
applicable Town ordinance, Planning Board conditions of approval, or state or federal law enforced by 
such officials. 
 
SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS 
The applicant has provided all of the submission requirements for the license.  These are: 
• Proof of right title, or interest in the premises: Attached 

• Applicant's state license application and supporting documentation, as submitted to the state licensing 
authority, if a state license is required: Attached 

• Evidence of all state approvals or conditional approvals required to operate the business: Attached  

• Attested copies of any articles of incorporation, bylaws, operating agreement, partnership agreement or 
articles of association that govern the entity that will own and/or operate the business: Attached 

• An affidavit on a form to be provided by the town that identifies all owners, officers, members, 
managers or partners of the applicant, their ownership interests, and their places of residence at the 
time of the application and for the immediately preceding three years: Attached 

• A release for each applicant and for each officer, owner, member, manager or partner of the applicant 
seeking a license allowing the Town of Kittery or its officials to obtain criminal records and other 
background information related to the individual: Attached 

• Evidence of all land use approvals or conditional land use approvals required to operate the business, 
including but not limited to building permit, special exception approval, site plan review approval, 
and/or a change of use permit: Attached 

• Evidence of all other local approvals or conditional approvals required to operate the business, 
including any applicable food or victualer's license: Not Applicable 

• A description of the premises for which the license is sought, including a plan of the premises: 
Attached 

• A copy of any state or municipal license held for any other marijuana business, including any home 
occupation, owned or operated by the applicant or by any officer, owner, subsidiary, member, manager 
or partner of the applicant, as well as any notices of violation received from the state or municipality 



REPORT TO TOWN COUNCIL   OCTOBER 11, 2023 

2 
 

for such marijuana business and proof that any violation has been resolved:  Attached.   No notices of 
violation identified. 

• An operations plan, describing the applicant's security plan; provisions to ensure against loitering and 
using marijuana and marijuana products on or near the premises; protocols for hiring and training 
employees; experience and training in the state of Maine's tracking systems as applicable; protocols for 
odor control and disposal of waste marijuana or marijuana products; protocols for ensuring the safety 
and security of product; and fire suppression annual certification: Attached 

• Certification from the fire chief that the location of the marijuana business or medical marijuana 
registered caregiver home establishment on the subject premises will not pose an undue risk of fire or 
other safety hazard: Attached 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS 
The application has been reviewed by staff and determined to be in compliance with Title 5.11 Marijuana 
Businesses.    
 
The site plan was reviewed by the Planning Board and approved with conditions. 
 
The operating plan is reasonable to address the areas of interest to the Town related to public health, 
welfare, morals, and safety interest inclusive of security, staff training, odor management, and traffic flow. 
 
The applicant is seeking a sewer extension.  A sewer extension petition for this parcel was approved by 
Council on June 27, 2022.  No further Council action on this is anticipated to be needed. 
 
Based on the review conducted, the staff recommend approval of the license. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
• Application 
• Proof of Right Title or Interest 
• State Marijuana License Application 
• Other Permits and Approvals 
• Articles of Incorporation 
• Background Check Authorization 
• Land Use Approval 
• Description of Premises 
• Other Licenses Held 
• Operations Plan 
• Approval of Public Safety 
• Petition to Extend Sewer 
• Council Action on June 2022 Petition to Extend Sewer 

 



 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
Planning & Development Department 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1307 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

Jason Garnham, AICP 
Director 

TO:  KENDRA AMARAL, TOWN MANAGER 
FROM: JASON GARNHAM, DIRECTOR OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
RE:  MARIJUANA BUSINESS LICENSE APPLICATION, 89 ROUTE 236 
DATE:  OCTOBER 11, 2023 
 
SUMMARY: 
Joshua Seymour of JD Investments, LLC proposes to operate an adult use cannabis retail business in an 
existing commercial building located at 89 Route 236, next to an existing Aroma Joe’s coffee shop/ food 
retailer. Kittery’s Planning Board voted 5-0-1 during their September 14, 2023 meeting to approve this 
application along with a Site Plan application proposing upgrades to wastewater and parking facilities at 
the site. In accordance with Section 5.11.5 of Kittery’s Town Code, Mr. Seymour’s Marijuana Business 
License application must also be reviewed and approved by Kittery’s Town Council after a public 
hearing before the license can be issued.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
89 Route 236, also identified Lot 14-2 of Tax Map 28, is a 1.4-acre property that is currently developed 
with a 2,578-square foot commercial building with associated parking facilities and utilities. JD 
Investments, LLC is the property owner. The property is accessed from Route 236 via a driveway that is 
shared with a storage facility located on the abutting property to the north. The building contains two 
separate retail spaces on the ground floor and storage/ office space in the 3/4 -story second floor. The 
proposed adult use cannabis business would replace an existing CBD retail business, which is NOT 
considered a marijuana business.  

As approved by the Kittery Planning Board and the Maine Department of Transportation, the 
applicant is required to design and construct sewer facilities to connect to the force main which currently 
terminates at Mackenzie Lane, construct additional on-site parking facilities, and pay a traffic impact fee 
of $200,000 to contribute to planned improvements to Route 236 prior to commencing the proposed 
business use. Proposed sewer facilities located in public right-of-way are the subject of a separate 
petition for public acceptance to be reviewed by the Council.  
 
Title 5.11.5.D specifies that no marijuana business license applications may be granted by the Town 
until the Town Manager, Police Chief, Fire Chief, Code Enforcement Officer, and other staff as deemed 
appropriate by the Town Manager have all made positive recommendations regarding the applicant’s 
ability to comply with all applicable Town ordinances, Planning Board conditions of approval, or other 
applicable regulations. As evidenced by the Town’s permit system records, all applicable staff reviewed 
and recommend approval of this Marijuana License Application and all submission requirements were 
fulfilled by the applicant.  
 
 



2 
 

OTHER RESOURCES: 
September 14, 2023 Planning Board meeting packet: greentruck_combined.pdf (kitteryme.gov) 
September 14, 2023 Planning Board meeting video: Stream Video - Town Hall Streams 
Chapter 5.11 Marijuana Businesses: Town of Kittery, ME Marijuana Businesses (ecode360.com) 
 

https://www.kitteryme.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif10031/f/agendas/greentruck_combined.pdf
https://www.townhallstreams.com/stream.php?location_id=68&id=52566
https://ecode360.com/38532101#38532101




























Online Licensing Request

Request ID: 2890761
Request Type: NEWLIC
Date: 10/14/2022
Regulator: MAINE ADULT USE CANNABIS PROGRAM
TXN Type: NEWLIC
TXN Title: Apply for a Cannabis Retail Store License
License Prefix: AMS
License Status: PC
License: GTF KITTERY 8, LLC

Request Information:
Company: Company Name: GTF KITTERY 8, LLC

Email Address:
josh@greentruckfarm.com
Email Usages: TT

License Contact:
Add Contact Type: ORG

Contact Name: GTF KITTERY 8, LLC
Email: josh@greentruckfarm.com
Contact Phone: +1 (207) 432-6000
Contact Address:

89 ROUTE 236
KITTERY, ME 03904-5662
FIPS: 23031
Country: US

Add Contact Type: CP
Contact Name: MICHELLE DELMAR ESQ
Email: michelle@contactmylawyer.com
Contact Phone: +1 (617) 728-9800
Contact Address:

254 COMMERCIAL ST STE 245
PORTLAND, ME 04101-4899
FIPS: 23005
Country: US

Add Contact Type: CMP
Contact Name: JOSHUA SEYMOUR
Email: josh@greentruckfarm.com
Contact Phone: +1 (207) 432-6000
Contact Address:

89 ROUTE 236
KITTERY, ME 03904-5662
FIPS: 23031
Country: US

Page 1 of 5LICENSE APPLICATION[10/14/2022]

3/22/2023about:blank



Licensee Board Data:
Legal State: 
COMPANIES

Website: 
Proposed Town: Kittery

Relationship To Child:
Add Relationship Type: PR

Child License 
General Prefix: AI
License Prefix: IIC
License Number: 2305
Licensee Name: JOSHUA J. SEYMOUR

PRINCIPAL APPOINTMENT ATTRIBUTES
Role in Establishment: MANAGER

Add Relationship Type: TT
Child License 

General Prefix: AI
License Prefix: IIC
License Number: 2305
Licensee Name: JOSHUA J. SEYMOUR

Sponsor:
Add Sponsor Type: OIO

Sponsor Name: JOSHUA SEYMOUR
Sponsor Address:

8 DEER RIDGE LN
KITTERY, ME 03904-5610
FIPS: 23031
Country: US

Sponsor Attribute: 
Individual Owners Sponsor Attributes

% Ownership: 85.000
Birthdate: 08/22/1987
Place of Domicile/Residency: MAINE

Questions:
Has this entity ever been licensed (either conditional or full license) by 
the Maine Adult Use Cannabis Program in the past? No 
If yes, please provide the previous license number
Type of Organization LLC
Do you have an employee stock ownership program? No 
Does the applicant intend to co-locate adult use and medical cannabis 
operations on the same premises? No 
If yes, provide the Adult Use Establishment Licensee Name and License 

Page 2 of 5LICENSE APPLICATION[10/14/2022]

3/22/2023about:blank



Number, or the Medical Registered Caregiver or Dispensary Name and 
Registry Card/Certificate Number:
Would you like to provide any other documentation that would be 
helpful to the Office in reviewing your application? No 
a. I affirm that the entire Maine Adult Use Cannabis Establishment 
Conditional License Application, statements, attachments, and 
supporting documents are true and correct to the best of my knowledge 
and belief, and that this statement is executed with the knowledge that 
misrepresentation or failure to reveal information requested may be 
deemed good cause for denial to issue a Maine Adult Use Cannabis 
Establishment Conditional License by the Department. Yes 
b. Further, I am aware that later discovery of an omission or 
misrepresentation made in the above statements may be grounds for 
denial or revocation of the Maine Adult Use Cannabis Establishment 
Conditional license. I affirm that I am voluntarily submitting this 
application to the Department of Administrative and Financial Services, 
Office of Cannabis Policy, and hereby authorize the Department to 
conduct a complete investigation into the truthfulness of the responses, 
using whatever legal means they deem appropriate. Yes 
c. I understand I am responsible for knowing and complying with all 
state laws and regulations governing Adult Use Cannabis pursuant to the 
Maine Revised Statutes, as well as the rules promulgated thereunder. I 
understand I am being made aware of the laws and regulations governing 
the Adult Use Cannabis Program and agree to comply with them, and all 
other applicable laws and regulations. Yes 
d. I understand that I must pay a fee to obtain a Maine Adult Use 
Cannabis Establishment license, in addition to the application fee due 
with this Maine Adult Use Cannabis Establishment Conditional License 
Application, as well as at the time of an annual renewal. Yes 
e. I understand that if I have not completed my Maine Adult Use 
Cannabis Establishment Conditional License Application within one year 
of first submission, that application is considered abandoned, and I must 
reapply. Yes 
f. I understand the Department does not mail out a renewal application; 
and therefore, I am responsible for obtaining and submitting an 
application to renew my Adult Use Cannabis Establishment license prior 
to its expiration. I understand that in order to avoid unnecessary delays in 
issuance of a renewal license, the renewal application should be 
submitted no later than 30 days prior to the expiration date. Yes 
g. I understand that Maine Adult Use Cannabis Establishment licenses 
are valid for one year from the date of issuance. The Maine Adult Use 
Cannabis Establishment license shall be renewed on forms provided by 
the Department in accordance with the fee schedule. I understand that if I 
allow the Maine Adult Use Cannabis Establishment license to expire for 
even one day and then reapply, I must submit a new application along 
with the original application fee. Yes 

Page 3 of 5LICENSE APPLICATION[10/14/2022]

3/22/2023about:blank



h. I understand I am responsible for notifying the Office of Cannabis 
Policy, in writing, upon any change in name, residence address, mailing 
address, or phone number, since all correspondence will be sent to my 
last known address. Failure to notify the Office of Cannabis Policy could 
result in not receiving my physical license, legal notices, and other 
correspondence. Yes 
i. I understand that I shall not by any means interfere with, obstruct, or 
impede, the Office of Cannabis Policy or its employees or investigators 
in exercising their official duties pursuant to the authority in Title 28-B 
and rules promulgated thereunder. Yes 
j. I understand that a Maine Adult Use Cannabis Establishment license 
issued by the Office of Cannabis Policy is a revocable privilege, and that 
the burden of proving an Applicant's qualifications for a Maine Adult 
Use Cannabis Establishment license rests at all times with the Applicant. Yes 
k. I understand in order to access or input data into the State's inventory 
tracking system, I must possess a valid Individual Identification Card and 
agree to follow all the rules and guidelines set forth for the use of this 
system. Yes 
l. I understand that this application is not complete and will not be 
processed until all required parties submit to have fingerprints taken and 
to a criminal history record check. Yes 
m. I understand that I may appeal an application denial pursuant to the 
Maine Administrative Procedure Act, 5 MRS, chapter 375. Yes 
Authorizing Business Representative's Signature Joshua Seymour
Attestation forms from ALL Principals Not done
Financial Instrument(s) N/A
Business organization documents for applicant and all business owners Not done
Other Supporting Documentation (optional) N/A

Attachments:
Attachment ID: CHRQATST: All persons listed as principals of the 

organization must complete and attest to the accuracy of the 
information provided on the Principal Attestation Form found 
on OCP's Adult Use Applications and Forms page. It is the 
responsibility of each individual principal to supply the 
completed form to you, the Authorized Business 
Representative.
*To Be Mailed 

Attachment ID: CRPSTRCT: You must provide the following 
documentation:Description of the structure of the business 
organization;If the business entity is a corporation, a copy of 
its articles of incorporation or articles of organization;If the 
business entity is a limited liability company, a copy of its 
articles of organization and its operating agreement;If the 
business entity is a general partnership, limited partnership, 

Page 4 of 5LICENSE APPLICATION[10/14/2022]

3/22/2023about:blank



limited liability partnership or limited liability limited 
partnership, a copy of the partnership agreement.
*To Be Mailed 

Attachment ID: AUTHINFO: The Office of Cannabis Policy will confirm all 
responses in the Character and Fitness portion of the 
application. If the applicant is a business entity, the Office of 
Cannabis Policy will confirm all responses in the Character 
and Fitness portion for every officer, director, manager and 
general partner of the business entity. The applicant must 
provide a signed and dated Authorization to Release 
Information in order to allow the exchange of information 
related to Character and Fitness responses. You may find this 
form on OCP's Adult Use Applications and Forms page.
*To Be Mailed 

Page 5 of 5LICENSE APPLICATION[10/14/2022]

3/22/2023about:blank



Online Licensing Request

Request ID: 2976862
Request Type: CHKAUX
Date: 02/13/2023
Regulator: MAINE ADULT USE CANNABIS PROGRAM
TXN Type: CHKAUX
TXN Title: Upload Outstanding Documents for New Retail Store Conditional 

License (This option allows you to view or upload specific application 
requirements for the application initiated on 10/14/2022.) (Checklist ID: 
538375)

License Prefix: AMS
License Status: PC
License used for 
authentication:

AMS1358

License: GTF KITTERY 8, LLC (AMS1358) 

Request Information:
Sponsor:

Add Sponsor Type: OIO
Sponsor Name: DAVIS DROLET
Sponsor Phone: +1 (603) 978-7159
Sponsor Address:

1 MOXIE WAY
BERWICK, ME 03901
FIPS: 23031
Country: US

Sponsor Attribute: 
Individual Owners Sponsor Attributes

% Ownership: 10.000
Birthdate: 05/26/1987
Place of Domicile/Residency: MAINE

Add Sponsor Type: OIO
Sponsor Name: ANDREW BEASLEY
Sponsor Phone: +1 (207) 351-7059
Sponsor Address:

50 LONG SWAMP RD
BERWICK, ME 03901-2559
FIPS: 23031
Country: US

Sponsor Attribute: 
Individual Owners Sponsor Attributes

% Ownership: 5.000
Birthdate: 12/19/1990
Place of Domicile/Residency: MAINE

Questions:

Page 1 of 2ONLINE CHECKLIST UPDATE[2/13/2023]

3/22/2023about:blank



Does the information above represent 100% of the establishment's 
ownership? Yes 
Attestation forms from ALL Principals Done
Financial Instrument(s) N/A
Business organization documents for applicant and all business owners Not done
Other Supporting Documentation (optional) N/A

Attachments:
Attachment ID: CHRQATST: All persons listed as principals of the organization must 

complete and attest to the accuracy of the information provided on the 
Principal Attestation Form found on OCP's Adult Use Applications 
and Forms page. It is the responsibility of each individual principal to 
supply the completed form to you, the Authorized Business 
Representative.
Principal_Attestation_JS_1-25-2023-FINAL-Signed-for_upload.pdf
Addendum_Principal_Attestation_Joshua_Seymour_revised_2023.pdf

Attachment ID: CRPSTRCT: You must provide the following 
documentation:Description of the structure of the business 
organization;If the business entity is a corporation, a copy of its 
articles of incorporation or articles of organization;If the business 
entity is a limited liability company, a copy of its articles of 
organization and its operating agreement;If the business entity is a 
general partnership, limited partnership, limited liability partnership 
or limited liability limited partnership, a copy of the partnership 
agreement.
Cert_of_Formation_GTF_Kittery_8_LLC.pdf

Attachment ID: AUTHINFO: The Office of Cannabis Policy will confirm all 
responses in the Character and Fitness portion of the application. If 
the applicant is a business entity, the Office of Cannabis Policy will 
confirm all responses in the Character and Fitness portion for every 
officer, director, manager and general partner of the business entity. 
The applicant must provide a signed and dated Authorization to 
Release Information in order to allow the exchange of information 
related to Character and Fitness responses. You may find this form on 
OCP's Adult Use Applications and Forms page.
SeymourJosh-authorization-and-release-Signed-for_upload.pdf

Page 2 of 2ONLINE CHECKLIST UPDATE[2/13/2023]

3/22/2023about:blank



Online Licensing Request

Request ID: 2977614
Request Type: CHKAUX
Date: 02/14/2023
Regulator: MAINE ADULT USE CANNABIS PROGRAM
TXN Type: CHKAUX
TXN Title: Upload Outstanding Documents for New Retail Store Conditional 

License (This option allows you to view or upload specific application 
requirements for the application initiated on 10/14/2022.) (Checklist ID: 
538375)

License Prefix: AMS
License Status: PC
License used for 
authentication:

AMS1358

License: GTF KITTERY 8, LLC (AMS1358) 

Questions:
Attestation forms from ALL Principals Done
Financial Instrument(s) N/A
Business organization documents for applicant and all business owners Done
Other Supporting Documentation (optional) N/A

Attachments:
Attachment ID: CRPSTRCT: You must provide the following 

documentation:Description of the structure of the business 
organization;If the business entity is a corporation, a copy of 
its articles of incorporation or articles of organization;If the 
business entity is a limited liability company, a copy of its 
articles of organization and its operating agreement;If the 
business entity is a general partnership, limited partnership, 
limited liability partnership or limited liability limited 
partnership, a copy of the partnership agreement.
GTF_Kittery_8_LLC_Agreement_for_OCP_UPLOAD.pdf

Page 1 of 1ONLINE CHECKLIST UPDATE[2/14/2023]

3/22/2023about:blank



- 1 - Mon Nov 07 2022 14:22:30



- 2 - Mon Nov 07 2022 14:22:30



- 3 - Mon Nov 07 2022 14:22:30



1 
 

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT 
OF 

GTF KITTERY 8, LLC 
(A Maine Limited Liability Company) 

 
THIS LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT OF GTF KITTERY 8, LLC (this 

“Agreement”), effective as of August 31, 2021 (“Effective Date”), is made by and among the persons 
identified as Members on Schedule A (each such person being individually referred to as a “Member” and 
all such persons being referred to collectively as the “Members”); and each of the persons identified as 
Manager(s) on Schedule A, hereto (each such person being individually referred to as a “Manager” and 
all such persons being referred to collectively as the “Manager(s)”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
WHEREAS, the Company was formed, by the filing of the Company’s Certificate of Formation 

(the “Certificate”) with the Secretary of State of the State of Maine on August 31, 2021; 
 
WHEREAS, the parties hereto now desire to set forth the terms upon which the Company will 

operate within the meaning of the Maine Limited Liability Company Act, as amended from time to time 
(the “Act”), and any successor to such Act. 
 

AGREEMENT 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements contained herein, and for other 
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties 
hereto hereby agree as follows. 

ARTICLE I 
 

            Definitions 

 The following capitalized terms used in this Agreement shall have the respective meanings 
ascribed to them below. 

 “Act” means the Maine Limited Liability Company Act, M.R.S. Title 31, Chapter 21, in effect at 
the time of the initial filing of the Certificate with the office of the Secretary of State of the State of Maine, 
and as thereafter amended from time to time. 

 “Affiliate” shall mean, with respect to any specified person or entity, (i) any person or entity that 
directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with such specified person or 
entity; (ii) any person or entity that directly or indirectly controls 10 percent or more of the outstanding 
equity securities of the specified entity or of which the specified person or entity is directly or indirectly 
the owner of 10 percent or more of any class of equity securities; (iii) any person or entity that is an officer 
of, director of, manager of, partner in, or trustee of, or serves in a similar capacity with respect to, the 
specified person or entity or of which the specified person or entity is an officer, director, partner, manager 
or trustee, or with respect to which the specified person or entity serves in a similar capacity; or (iv) any 
person that is a member of the Immediate Family of the specified person. 

 “Agreement” means this Limited Liability Company Agreement as it may be amended, 
supplemented or restated from time to time. 



2 
 

 “Bankruptcy” means the occurrence of any of the following events: 
  (i)  a Member makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors; 
  (ii)  a Member files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy; 

 (iii)  a Member is adjudged a bankrupt or insolvent, or has entered against it an order for 
relief, in any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding; 

 (iv)  a Member files a petition or answer seeking for itself any reorganization, 
arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under any 
statute, law or regulation; 

 (v)  a Member files an answer or other pleading admitting or failing to contest the 
material allegations of a petition filed against it in any proceeding of this nature; 

 (vi)  a Member seeks, consents to or acquiesces in the appointment of a trustee, receiver 
or liquidator of the Member or of all or any substantial part of his or her properties; or 

 (vii)  120 days after the commencement of any proceeding against a Member seeking 
reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar 
relief under any statute, law or regulation, if the proceeding has not been dismissed, or if, 
within 90 days after the appointment without its consent or acquiescence of a trustee, 
receiver or liquidator of the Member or of all or any substantial part of its properties, the 
appointment is not vacated or stayed, or within 90 days after the expiration of any such 
stay, the appointment is not vacated. 

 “Board of Manager(s)” or “Board” means the Board of Manager(s) described in Article VI of 
this Agreement. 

 “Capital Account” means a separate account maintained for each Member.  

 “Capital Transaction” means a sale or other disposition of all or a portion of the LLC’s property 
in a single transaction or in a series of related transactions, other than such a sale or disposition in the 
ordinary course of the LLC’s business and any refinancing. 

 “Certificate” means the Certificate of Formation creating the LLC, as it may, from time to time, 
be amended in accordance with the Act. 

 “Clerk” means the persons occupying the office of Clerk (as provided in Section 6.04) at any time, 
or from time to time. 

 “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time. 

 “Consent” means the written consent of a majority Interest (more than 50 percent in Interest), 
based on Percentage Interests, of those Members entitled to participate in giving such Consent, and if 
more than one class or group of Members is so entitled, then more than 50 percent shall be so required 
with respect to each such class or group. 

 “Distributable Cash” means, with respect to any fiscal period, the excess of all cash receipts of 
the LLC from any source whatsoever, including normal operations, sales of assets, proceeds of 
borrowings, capital contributions of the Members, proceeds from a Capital Transaction, and any and all 
other sources over the sum of the following amounts: 

  (i)  cash disbursements for advertising and promotion expenses, 
salaries, employee benefits (including profit-sharing, bonus and similar plans), 
fringe benefits, accounting and bookkeeping services and equipment, costs of sales 
of assets, utilities, rental payments with respect to equipment or real property, 
management fees and expenses, insurance, real estate taxes, legal expenses, costs 



3 
 

of repairs and maintenance, and any and all other items which are customarily 
considered to be “operating expenses”; 

  (ii)  payments of interest, principal and premium and points and other 
costs of borrowing under any indebtedness of the LLC, including, without 
limitation, (A) any mortgages or deeds of trust encumbering the real property or 
other assets owned or leased by the LLC and (B) any Voluntary Loans; 

  (iii)  payments made to purchase inventory or capital assets and for 
capital construction, rehabilitation, acquisitions, alterations and improvements; and 

  (iv)  amounts set aside as reserves for working capital, contingent 
liabilities, replacements or for any of the expenditures described in clauses (i), (ii) 
and (iii), above, which are deemed by the Manager(s) to be necessary to meet the 
current and anticipated future needs of the LLC. 

 “Gross Income” means, for each fiscal year or other period, an amount equal to the LLC’s gross 
income as determined for federal income tax purposes for such fiscal year or period but computed with 
the adjustments as specified in the definition of “Net Profits” and “Net Losses.” 

 “Immediate Family” (i) with respect to any individual, means his or her ancestors, spouse, issue, 
spouses of issue, any trustee or trustees, including successor and additional trustees, principally for the 
benefit of any one or more of such individuals, and any entity or entities all of the beneficial owners of 
which are such trusts and/or such individuals, but (ii) with respect to a legal representative, means the 
Immediate Family of the individual for whom such legal representative was appointed and (iii) with 
respect to a trustee, means the Immediate Family of the individuals who are the principal beneficiaries of 
the trust. 

 “Legal Representative” means, with respect to any individual, a duly appointed executor, 
administrator, guardian, conservator, personal representative or other legal representative appointed as a 
result of the death or incompetency of such an individual. 

 “LLC” or “Company” means the limited liability company formed pursuant to the Certificate and 
this Agreement, as it may from time to time be constituted and amended. 

 “Manager(s)” refers to any person(s) named as a Manager in this Agreement and any person(s) 
who becomes an additional, substitute or replacement Manager as permitted by this Agreement, in each 
such person’s capacity as (and for the period during which such person serves as) a Manager of the LLC. 
“Manager(s)” or “Board of Manager(s)” shall refer collectively to all of such persons in their capacities 
as (and for the period during which such persons serve as) Manager(s) of the LLC. 

 “Member” refers severally to any person named as a Member in this Agreement and any person 
who becomes an additional, substitute or replacement Member as permitted by this Agreement, in such 
person’s capacity as a Member of the LLC. “Members” shall refer collectively to all such persons in their 
capacities as Members. 

 “Member-Manager” means any Member who is also a Manager. 

 “Net Profits” and “Net Losses” mean the taxable income or loss, as the case may be, computed 
with equitable appropriate adjustments, under the direction of the Manager(s). 

 “Percentage Interest” shall be the percentage interest of a Member set forth in Schedule A, as 
amended from time to time, and subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 3.02, if any. 



4 
 

 “President” means the person occupying the office of President (as provided in Section 6.04) of 
the LLC at any time, or from time to time. 

“Retirement Event” means, with respect to any Member, (i) the bankruptcy (within the meaning of 
the Act) of such Member, (ii) the Transfer by such Member of any interest in the Company, whether 
voluntarily or by operation of law, other than a transfer in compliance with this Agreement, (iii) if such 
Member is an entity, a Change in Control with respect to such Member, (iv) the death or Disability of 
such Member, (v) if such Member is an service provider to the Company, the termination of such 
Member’s service to the Company, or (vi) as defined in Schedule C, attached hereto. 

 “Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

 “Transfer” and any grammatical variation thereof shall refer to any sale, exchange, issuance, 
redemption, assignment, distribution, encumbrance, hypothecation, gift, pledge, retirement, resignation, 
transfer or other withdrawal, disposition or alienation in any way (whether voluntarily, involuntarily or by 
operation of law) as to any interest as a Member. Transfer shall specifically, without limitation of the 
above, include assignments and distributions resulting from death, incompetency, Bankruptcy, 
liquidation, dissolution and Retirement Event(s) as defined in Schedule C. 

 “Treasurer” shall mean the person occupying the office of Treasurer (as provided in Section 6.04) 
of the LLC at any time, or from time to time. 

 “Unanimous Consent” shall mean consent of all Members with voting rights, excluding Members 
without voting rights. 

 “Voluntary Loan” shall mean a loan made pursuant to Section 3.05 of this Agreement. 

      ARTICLE II 
 
 General 

2.01  Continuation.  The Company shall be continued as a Maine limited liability company as 
provided herein, under the name GTF KITTERY 8, LLC. 

2.02 Filings.  The Members ratify and confirm the authority (i) of Mr. Seymour, as an 
“authorized person” within the meaning of the Act, to file the Company’s Certificate and (ii) of each 
member of the Management Board and any individual authorized by the Management Board, acting singly 
in any case, to execute, acknowledge, deliver, file and record in the appropriate offices, as applicable, (a) 
any amendments to the Certificate, (b) such other instruments, certificates, documents and other writings 
which the Management Board determines to be necessary or appropriate to secure or preserve the 
Company’s status as a Maine limited liability company or to qualify the Company to do business in states 
other than Maine, and (c) any recordable instrument on behalf of the Company purporting to affect an 
interest in real property, whether to be recorded with a registry of deeds, a court or office thereof, or 
otherwise. 

 2.03 Office of the Limited Liability Company; Agent for Service of Process. The address of the 
registered office of the LLC shall initially be, 254 Commercial St., Suite 245, Portland, Maine 04101. The 
name and address of the resident agent for service of process for the LLC is Michelle DelMar, Esq., 254 
Commercial St., Suite 245, Portland, Maine 04101. The Board of Manager(s) may establish places of 
business of the LLC, as and when required by the LLC’s business and in furtherance of its purposes set 
forth in Section 2.05 hereof, and may appoint agents for service of process in all jurisdictions in which the 
LLC shall conduct business. The Board of Manager(s) may cause the LLC to change, from time to time, 
its resident agent for service of process, or the location of its registered office; provided, however, that the 
Board of Manager(s) shall promptly notify all Members in writing of any such change. 



5 
 

 2.04  Organization. The Manager(s) shall cause to be filed such certificates and documents as 
may be necessary or appropriate to comply with the Act and the laws of any other jurisdictions in which 
the LLC shall conduct business, and shall continue to do so for so long as the LLC conducts business 
therein. 

 2.05  Purposes and Powers. The general character of the business of the LLC, as set forth in the 
Certificate, is to engage in the business of the following: 
 
 (a) To engage in all aspects of marijuana cultivation, products manufacturing, retail 

store and/or related activities, including buying, selling, leasing, contracting, agency, and 
consulting, as incidental to the business and to do any and all things of like or similar nature 
of every description without exception; 

 
 (b) To purchase or otherwise acquire, to hold, to own, to manage, to lease, to sell, or to 

convey or otherwise dispose of real or personal property of every class and description in 
any state in the union, incidental to the business and to do any and all things of like or 
similar nature of every description without exception; 

 
 (c) To enter into transactions and incur such indebtedness as may be necessary or 

incidental to the business of the LLC; 
 
 (d) To carry on any business or other activity which may be lawfully carried on by a 

limited liability company under the Limited Liability Company Act of the State of Maine, 
whether or not related to those referred to in the foregoing; and 

 
 (e)  to engage in any activities directly or indirectly related or incidental thereto. 
 

 Subject to all other provisions of this Agreement, in furtherance of the conduct of its business, the 
LLC is hereby authorized to do as follows: 

 (1)  to enter into, execute, modify, amend, supplement, acknowledge, deliver, perform 
and carry out contracts of any kind, including Limited Liability Company Agreements of 
limited liability companies (whether as a member or manager), joint venture agreements, 
limited partnership and general partnership agreements, contracts with Affiliates, and 
including other contracts establishing business arrangements or organizations, necessary 
to, in connection with, or incidental to the accomplishment of the purposes of the LLC; 

 (2)  to borrow money and issue evidences of indebtedness or guarantees in furtherance 
of any or all of the purposes of the LLC, and to secure the same by mortgages, pledges or 
other liens on the property of the LLC; 

 (3)  to the extent that funds of the LLC are available therefor, to pay all expenses, debts 
and obligations of the LLC; 

 (4)  to enter into or engage in any kind of activity necessary to, in connection with, or 
incidental to, the accomplishment of the purposes of the LLC, so long as said activities 
may be lawfully carried on or performed by a limited liability company under the laws of 
the State of Maine; and 

 (e)  to take any other action not prohibited under the Act or other applicable law. 

 2.06  Members. The Members of the LLC are identified on Schedule A hereto. Additional 
Members may be admitted to the LLC (i) pursuant to and in accordance with Section 3.02(c) and Article 



6 
 

VIII hereof or (ii) with the Consent of Members, which Consent shall specify the capital contribution, 
Percentage Interest, economic interest and any other rights and obligations of such additional Member. 
Such Consent shall bind all Members. In connection with any such admission, this Agreement (including 
Schedule A) shall be amended to reflect the additional Member, its capital contribution, if any, its 
Percentage Interest, and any other rights and obligations of the additional Member. 

 2.07  Designation of Manager(s). The persons identified on Schedule A hereto as “Manager(s)” 
are currently serving as the Manager(s) of the LLC. Manager(s) shall be elected by the Members in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 6.02, below. Any Manager may withdraw or be removed as a 
manager of the LLC and other persons may be added or substituted as Manager(s), only in the manner 
specified in Section 6.02, below. 

 2.08  Manager(s) as Members. Any Manager may hold an interest in the LLC as a Member, and 
such person’s rights and interest as a Manager shall be distinct and separate from such person’s rights and 
interest as a Member. 

 2.09  Liability of Members. The liability of the Members for the losses, debts and obligations of 
the LLC shall be limited to the Members’ capital contributions. Without limiting the foregoing, the failure 
of the LLC to observe any formalities or requirements relating to exercise of the LLC’s powers or 
management of its business or affairs under this Agreement or the Act shall not be grounds for imposing 
personal liability on the Members or Manager(s) for liabilities of the LLC. 

 2.10  Investment Representations. Each Member, by execution of this Agreement or an 
amendment hereto reflecting such Member’s admission to the LLC, hereby represents and warrants to the 
LLC the following. 

 (a)  He is acquiring an interest in the LLC for his own account, and not with a view to, 
or for sale in connection with, any distribution thereof in violation of the Securities Act, or 
any rule or regulation thereunder. 

(b)  He understands that (i) the interest in the LLC he is acquiring has not been 
registered under the Securities Act or applicable state securities laws and cannot be resold 
unless subsequently registered under the Securities Act and such laws, or unless an 
exemption from such registration is available; (ii) such registration under the Securities 
Act and such laws is unlikely at any time in the future and neither the LLC nor the Members 
or Manager(s) are obligated to file a registration statement under the Securities Act or such 
laws; and (iii) the assignment, sale, transfer, exchange or other disposition of the interests 
in the LLC is restricted in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

 (c)  He has had such opportunity as he has deemed adequate to ask questions of and 
receive answers from representatives of the LLC concerning the LLC, and to obtain from 
representatives of the LLC such information that the LLC possesses or can acquire without 
unreasonable effort or expense, as is necessary to evaluate the merits and risks of his 
commitments to the LLC. 

 (d)  He has, either alone or with his professional advisers, sufficient experience in 
business, financial and investment matters to be able to evaluate the merits and risks 
involved in his commitments to the LLC and to make an informed decision with respect to 
such commitments. 

 (e)  He can afford a complete loss of the value of his capital contribution in the LLC 
and is able to bear the economic risk of holding such for an indefinite period. 



7 
 

 (f)  If the Member is an entity, (i) it is duly organized, validly existing and in good 
standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization; (ii) it has full organizational 
power to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder; (iii) 
its execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement have been authorized by all 
requisite action on behalf of the entity; and (iv) it has duly executed and delivered this 
Agreement. 

ARTICLE III 
 
 Capital Contributions; Additional Financing 

 3.01  Capital Accounts. For each Member (and each permitted assignee), the LLC shall establish 
and maintain a separate Capital Account. 

 3.02  Capital Contributions.  
 

(a)  Each Member has contributed to the capital of the LLC the amount set forth 
opposite his/her/its name on Schedule A, attached hereto. 

 (b)  If the Manager(s) determine at any time, or from time to time, that the LLC requires 
funds to carry out its purposes, conduct its business, meet its obligations or make any 
expenditure authorized by this Agreement, in excess of the amounts generated from the 
LLC’s operations and the amounts specified on Schedule A hereto, and such funds are not 
available from third-party lenders on terms acceptable to the Manager(s) in their sole 
discretion, the Members may, but shall not be required to, contribute any such additional 
capital. Members electing to contribute such additional capital shall contribute such 
portions thereof as they may agree upon, or, if they are unable to agree, each such Member 
shall contribute a portion of the total amount required based on its Percentage Interest and 
the Percentage Interests of all other contributing Members. Written Notice shall be given 
to each Member, on not less than ten (10) business days, unless waived by all Members, 
which notice shall specify (1) the time, date and place of the meeting, unless waived by all 
Members, (2) the amounts of capital required for the LLC, (3) the amount of contribution 
sought from each Member, (4) the necessary operational and financial information required 
to provide an adequate basis for the capital contribution, and any other information 
reasonably necessary for the Members to make an appropriately informed decision at such 
meeting. 

In connection with any such contribution of additional capital by the Members, the LLC 
may, in the sole discretion of the Manager(s): 

 
 (i)  repay voluntary capital contributions, so long as the same shall not violate 

the LLC’s other loan or contractual arrangements; shall bear interest, compounded 
monthly, at a rate of interest equal to the prime rate of interest charged by Bank of 
America; shall be repaid out of the first funds available therefor such dates and times 
as the Manager(s) may determine; and/or 
 

 (ii)  adjust the Member’s percentage interest, with the appropriate dilutions, if 
any,  as determined by Unanimous Consent of Members, at the meeting, by proxy or 
otherwise. 

This Agreement, including Schedule A, hereto, shall be amended to reflect any such 
adjustment of the Members’ Percentage Interests; and each Member, and each person who 
is hereinafter admitted to the LLC as a Member, hereby consents to any such amendment 
and the modification of his, her or its Percentage Interest in the manner provided herein, 



8 
 

and acknowledges that, in connection with any such amendment, such Member’s 
Percentage Interest may be diluted.   

 
 (c)  If the Members elect not to contribute additional capital pursuant to Section 3.02(b), 

the Manager(s) shall be permitted to obtain additional equity financing in the amount 
required, on such terms and conditions as they in their sole discretion deem appropriate, 
from third parties unaffiliated with any Member. In connection with any such admission of 
additional Members, the Percentage Interests of the Members shall be diluted 
proportionately, based on their respective Percentage Interests immediately prior to any 
such dilution. Without in any way limiting the foregoing, the interest of any third party 
admitted to the LLC pursuant to this Section 3.02(c) in the Gross Income, Net Profits, Net 
Losses, other appropriate deductions and distributions of cash or property of any nature 
may have such priority or priorities in relationship to the interests therein of the other 
Members as the Manager(s) may in their sole discretion determine, provided that the 
relative priorities of the other Members in the Net Profits, Net Losses and cash distributions 
of any nature of the LLC shall not be altered as a result of the admission of any such 
investor. 

 
Each Member, and each person who is hereinafter admitted to the LLC as a Member, 
hereby (i) consents to the admission of any such third party on such terms as the Manager(s) 
may determine (subject to the provisions of this Section 3.02(c)), and to any amendment 
to this Agreement that may be necessary or appropriate to reflect the admission of any such 
third party and the terms on which the third party invests in the LLC; and (ii) acknowledges 
that, in connection with any admission of any such person, such Member’s interest in 
allocations of Gross Income, Net Profits, Net Losses and other appropriate deductions and 
distributions of cash and property of the LLC, and net proceeds upon liquidation of the 
LLC, may be diluted or otherwise altered (subject to the provisions of this Section 3.02(c)). 

  

 3.03  No Withdrawal of or Interest on Capital. Except as otherwise provided in this Article III, 
no Member shall be obligated or permitted to contribute any additional capital to the LLC. No interest 
shall accrue on any contributions to the capital of the LLC, and no Member shall have the right to withdraw 
or to be repaid any capital contributed by it or to receive any other payment in respect of its interest in the 
LLC, including, without limitation, as a result of the withdrawal or resignation of such Member from the 
LLC, except as specifically provided in this Agreement. 

 3.04  Third-Party Loans. In the event that the LLC requires additional funds to carry out its 
purposes, conduct its business, meet its obligations, or make any expenditure authorized by this 
Agreement, the LLC may borrow funds from such third-party lender(s) on such terms and conditions as 
may be acceptable to the Manager(s). 

 3.05  Voluntary Loans. In the event the LLC requires additional funds to carry out its purposes, 
conduct its business, meet its obligations or make any expenditure authorized by this Agreement, and 
additional funds are not available from third parties pursuant to Section 3.04 on terms acceptable to the 
Manager(s) in their sole discretion or from the Members or a third party pursuant to Section 3.02, any 
Member may, but shall not be obligated to, loan such funds to the LLC. Any loan made pursuant to this 
Section 3.05 (a “Voluntary Loan”) shall be nonrecourse to the Members, shall be evidenced by a 
promissory note; shall be either unsecured, or collateralized by such assets of the LLC as the lending 
Member and the Manager(s) shall determine, shall not violate the LLC’s other loan or contractual 
arrangements; shall bear interest, compounded monthly, at a rate of interest equal to the prime rate of 
interest charged by Bank of America; shall be repaid out of the first funds available therefor and in any 



9 
 

event prior to any distribution to any Member of Distributable Cash; and shall be due and payable in full 
on the fifth anniversary of the date on which any such loan is made. 

ARTICLE IV 
 
           Cash Distributions 

 4.01  Distribution of Distributable Cash and Net Proceeds upon Liquidation. Distributable Cash 
and net proceeds upon liquidation of the LLC shall be appropriately distributed to the Members, at such 
appropriate times and in such appropriate amounts, consistent with Section 4.02 herein and as the 
Manager(s) may approve and under the direction of the Manager(s); provided that outstanding loans from 
Members to the Company, if any, and shall be paid in full prior to general distribution to Members. 
 
 4.02  Distributions Among Members. Subject to Section 4.01 herein, Distributable Cash and net 
proceeds upon liquidation of the LLC distributable hereunder to the Members (or to any group of 
Members) as a group, shall be distributed among them based on their respective Percentage Interests in 
the LLC, as set forth on Schedule A.  

 4.03  Distributions upon Transfer or Admission. In the event that a Member acquires an interest 
in the LLC, either by transfer from another Member or by acquisition from the LLC, an equal portion of 
the Distributable Cash (other than Distributable Cash from a Capital Transaction) of the LLC for the year 
in which such acquisition occurs shall be allocated to each day of such year. Such Distributable Cash so 
allocated to the portion of the year prior to the date of the acquisition of the interest in the LLC by the 
Member shall be distributed among the Members without giving effect to such acquisition, and such 
Distributable Cash so allocated to the portion of the year from and after the date of the acquisition of such 
interest shall be distributed among the Members by giving effect to such acquisition. Distributable Cash 
from a Capital Transaction or upon the liquidation of the LLC shall be distributed to the Members based 
on the actual ownership of interests in the LLC on the date of the event giving rise to such Distributable 
Cash. 

 4.04  Certain Payments to the Internal Revenue Service Treated as Distributions. 

 (a)  For purposes of this Section 4.04, the Board of Manager(s) may assume that any 
Member who fails to provide to the Board of Manager(s) or the Treasurer satisfactory 
evidence of the Member’s tax status for U.S. federal income tax purposes is a foreign 
person taxable as a corporation. 

 (b)  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, to the extent that the LLC is 
required, or elects, pursuant to applicable law, either (i) to pay tax (including estimated tax) 
on a Member’s allocable share of LLC items of income or gain, whether or not distributed; 
or (ii) to withhold and pay over to the tax authorities any portion of a distribution otherwise 
distributable to a Member, the Manager(s) or Treasurer may pay over such tax or such 
withheld amount to the tax authorities, and such amount shall be treated as a distribution 
to such Member at the time it is paid to the tax authorities. 

 4.05  Distribution of Assets in Kind. No Member shall have the right to require the LLC to 
distribute any of its assets in kind. If any assets of the LLC are distributed in kind, such assets shall be 
distributed on the basis of their fair market value as determined by the Manager(s). Any Member entitled 
to any interest in such assets shall, unless otherwise determined by the Manager(s), receive separate assets 
of the LLC, and not an interest as a tenant in common with other Members entitled to any such asset being 
distributed. 

ARTICLE V 
 



10 
 

 Allocation of Net Profits and Net Losses 

 5.01  Basic Allocations. 

 (a) Except as provided in Section 5.02, below (which shall be applied first), the Net Profits 
and Net Losses of the LLC from operations for any year (or other fiscal period) shall be 
allocated among the Members in accordance with their Percentage Interests. 

 (b)  Except as provided in Section 5.02, below (which shall be applied first), any Net 
Profits arising from a Capital Transaction or upon liquidation of the LLC shall be allocated 
appropriately under the direction of the Manager(s). 

 5.02  Allocations of Nonrecourse Deductions and Minimum Gain.  Notwithstanding the 
provisions of Section 5.01, above, the allocations of Gross Income and Nonrecourse Deductions shall be 
made in an appropriately in order of priority under the direction of the Manager(s). 

 5.03  Allocations upon Transfer or Admission. In the event that a Member acquires an interest in 
the LLC either by transfer from another Member or by acquisition from the LLC, an equal portion of the 
Gross Income, Net Profits, Net Losses and other appropriate deductions from operations of the LLC for 
the year in which such acquisition occurs shall be appropriately allocated under the direction of the 
Manager(s).  

 
ARTICLE VI 

 
             Management 

 6.01  Management of the LLC. The business and affairs of the LLC shall be managed by or under 
the direction of a Board of Manager(s), who may exercise all of the powers of the LLC except as otherwise 
provided by law or this Agreement (including, without limitation, Section 6.07, below). In the event of a 
vacancy in the Board of Manager(s), the remaining Manager(s) (except as otherwise provided by law) 
may exercise the powers of the full Board until the vacancy is filled. 

 Mr. Seymour shall be the sole Manager and the sole member of the Board of Managers, except in 
the event of his death or resignation or in the event Mr. Seymour, as Manager appoints/elects a 
replacement Manager or additional Manager.  

 All management and other responsibilities not specifically reserved to the Members in this 
Agreement shall be vested in the Board of Manager(s), and the Members shall have no voting rights except 
as specifically provided in this Agreement. 

 Each Manager shall devote such time to the affairs of the LLC as may be reasonably necessary for 
performance by the Manager of his, her or its duties hereunder, provided that such persons shall not be 
required to devote full time to such affairs. 

 Specifically, but not by way of limitation, and subject to the provisions of Section 6.07 and 
Schedule C, the Manager(s) shall be authorized in the name and on behalf of the LLC, to cause the LLC 
to do all things necessary or appropriate to carry on the business and purposes of the LLC, including, 
without limitation, the following: 

 (i)  to acquire by purchase, lease, exchange or otherwise; and to sell, finance, refinance, 
encumber and otherwise deal with, any real, personal and/or intellectual property; 

 (ii)  to borrow money and issue evidences of indebtedness; or to guarantee loans and to 
secure the same by mortgage, deed of trust, pledge or other lien on any assets or property 



11 
 

of the LLC; and to pay, prepay, extend, amend or otherwise modify the terms of any such 
borrowings; 

 (iii)  to employ executive, administrative and support personnel in connection with the 
business of the LLC; and to pay salaries, expense reimbursement, employee benefits, fringe 
benefits, bonuses and any other form of compensation or employee benefit to such persons 
and entities, at such times and in such amounts as may be determined by the Manager(s) in 
his/her/their sole discretion, to provide executive, administrative and support services in 
connection with the business of the LLC; 

 (iv)  to hire or employ such agents, employees, managers, accountants, attorneys, 
consultants and other persons necessary or appropriate to carry out the business and 
operations of the LLC, and to pay fees, expenses, salaries, wages and other compensation 
to such persons; 

 (v)  to pay, extend, renew, modify, adjust, submit to arbitration, prosecute, defend or 
compromise, on such terms as it may determine and on such evidence as it may deem 
sufficient, any obligation, suit, liability, cause of action or claim, including taxes, either in 
favor of or against the LLC; 

 (vi)  to determine the appropriate accounting method or methods to be used by the LLC; 

 (vii)  to make or revoke elections for tax treatment as partnership, s-corp and/or other tax 
treatment election and/or other tax elections; 

 (viii)  to establish and maintain reserves for such purposes and in such amounts as it 
deems appropriate from time to time; 

 (ix)  to pay all organizational expenses, and general and administrative expenses of the 
LLC; 

 (x)  to deal with, or otherwise engage in business with, or provide services to and 
receive compensation therefor from, any person who has provided or may in the future 
provide any services to, lend money to, sell property to, or purchase property from the 
LLC, including, without limitation, any Member or Manager; 

 (xi)  to engage in any kind of activity, and to perform and carry out contracts of any kind 
necessary to, in connection with or incidental to the accomplishment of the purposes of the 
LLC; 

 (xii)  to pay any and all fees and to make any and all expenditures that the Manager, in 
its sole discretion, deems necessary or appropriate in connection with the organization of 
the LLC, the offering and sale of Membership interests in the LLC, the management of the 
affairs of the LLC, and the carrying out of its obligations and responsibilities under this 
Agreement, including, without limitation, fees, reimbursements and expenditures payable 
to a Member or Manager; 

 (xiii)  to exercise all powers and authority granted by the Act to managers, except as 
otherwise provided in this Agreement; 

 (xiv)  to cause the LLC and its properties and assets to be maintained and operated in such 
a manner as the Manager(s) may determine, subject, however, to obligations imposed by 
applicable laws or by any mortgage or security interest encumbering the LLC and such 
properties and assets from time to time, and by any lease, rental agreement or other 
agreement pertaining thereto; 



12 
 

 (xv)  to cause to be obtained and continued in force all policies of insurance required by 
any mortgage, lease or other agreement relating to the LLC’s business or any part thereof, 
or determined by the Manager(s) to be in the best interests of the LLC; 

 (xvi)  to contest and/or cause to be paid any and all taxes, charges and assessments that 
may be levied, assessed or imposed on any of the assets of the LLC unless the same are 
contested by the LLC; and 

 (xvii)  to perform any other act that the Manager(s) may deem necessary, convenient or 
desirable for the LLC or its business. 

 The Manager(s) hereby have the authority to execute any of the foregoing, non-exhaustive powers 
enumerated in Section 6.01(i) through Section 6.01(xvii).  Such authority shall be reviewable by the Board 
of Manager(s). 

 6.02  Manager(s).  (a) Number, Election and Qualification.  Initially, Mr. Seymour shall be the 
sole Manager and sole member of the Board of Managers.  The number of members of the Board of 
Manager(s) is hereby initially fixed at one (1), and the persons identified as “Manager(s)” on Schedule A, 
hereto, are currently serving as the Manager(s). With the Consent of the Board of Managers, the number 
of Managers may be increased or decreased but decreased to no less than one Manager. 

 Upon the death or resignation of a Manager (a “Terminated Manager”), (i) such Terminated 
Manager shall have no further authority under this Agreement; (ii) such Terminated Manager shall have 
no further obligations or rights as Manager under this Agreement (except for liabilities and rights accruing 
prior to the date of death, resignation of his or her term, such as, for example, rights to indemnification 
under Section 6.10 that relate to actions or omissions occurring during such person’s service as a 
Manager), and (iii) no writing or instrument shall be required to be executed by the LLC or the Terminated 
Manager to reflect such cessation of service, except that the Terminated Manager (or his or her legal 
representative or attorney in fact, as provided in the following paragraph) shall execute and deliver any 
agreement, instrument, certificate or document, including an amendment to the Certificate that may be 
reasonably required to reflect that the Terminated Manager is no longer a Manager of the LLC. 

 Each person now or hereafter serving as a Manager of the LLC, by execution of this Agreement, 
an amendment hereto or an instrument acknowledging that such person is bound hereby, hereby 
constitutes and appoints each other person who may, from time to time, be serving as a Manager, and each 
of them acting singly, such Manager’s agent and attorney in fact for the purpose of executing and 
delivering any and all agreements, instruments and other documents (including, without limitation, an 
amendment to the Certificate) as are necessary or appropriate to reflect that he, she or it is no longer a 
Manager of the LLC following the death or resignation of such Manager, which power of attorney is 
hereby agreed and acknowledged to be irrevocable, and shall survive the death or resignation of any 
Manager until such time as the withdrawal of such Manager from the LLC has been reflected by all 
necessary or appropriate agreements, instruments and other documents. 

 (b)  Enlargement of the Board. Subject to Section 6.02(a), above, the number of Manager(s) 
may be increased at any time, and from time to time, by a majority of the Manager(s) then in office. 

 (c)  Tenure. Each Manager shall hold office until next annual meeting or his or her successor 
is duly elected and qualified, or until his or her earlier death or resignation. 

 (d)  Vacancies. Any vacancy in the Board of Manager(s), however occurring, including a 
vacancy resulting from an enlargement of the Board, may be filled by vote of a majority of the Manager(s) 
then in office, although less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining Manager. A Manager elected to fill a 
vacancy shall be elected for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor in office, and a Manager, chosen 
to fill a position resulting from an increase in the number of Manager(s), shall hold office until the next 



13 
 

annual meeting of Members and until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified, or until his or her 
earlier death, resignation or removal. In the event a Retirement Event results in no Managers, the Members 
by Unanimous Consent, shall elect one or more Managers to fill such vacancy. 

 (e)  Resignation. Any Manager may resign by delivering his or her written resignation to the 
LLC at its principal office or to the President or Clerk. Such resignation shall be effective upon receipt 
unless it is specified to be effective at some other time or upon the occurrence of some other event. 

 (f)  Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Manager(s) may be held without 
notice at such time and place, as shall be determined from time to time by the Board of Manager(s); 
provided that any Manager who is absent when such a determination is made shall be given notice of the 
determination. A regular meeting of the Board of Manager(s) may be held without notice, immediately 
after and at the same place as the annual meeting of Members. 

 (g)  Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Manager(s) may be held at any time 
and place, designated in a call by the President, two or more Manager(s), or by one Manager in the event 
that there is only a single Manager in office. 

 (h)  Notice of Special Meetings. Notice of any special meeting of Manager(s) shall be given to 
each Manager by the Clerk or by the officer or one of the Manager(s) calling the meeting. Notice shall be 
duly given to each Manager (i) by giving notice to such Manager in person or by telephone at least one 
(1) business day in advance of the meeting; (ii) by delivering written notice by hand, to the Manager’s last 
known business or home address at least one (1) business day in advance of the meeting; or (iii) by mailing 
written notice to the Manager’s last known business or home address at least three (3) business days in 
advance of the meeting. A notice or waiver of notice of a meeting of the Board of Manager(s) need not 
specify the purpose of the meeting. 

 (i)  Meetings by Telephone Conference Calls. Manager(s), or any members of any committee 
designated by the Manager(s), may participate in a meeting of the Board of Manager(s) or such committee 
by means of conference telephone or similar communications equipment, by means of which all persons 
participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation by such means shall constitute presence 
in person at such meeting. 

 (j)  Quorum. A majority of the total number of the whole Board of Manager(s) shall constitute 
a quorum at all meetings of the Board of Manager(s). In the event that one or more of the Manager(s) shall 
be disqualified to vote at any meeting, then the required quorum shall be reduced by one for each such 
Manager so disqualified; provided, however, that in no case shall less than one-third of the number so 
fixed constitute a quorum. In the absence of a quorum at any such meeting, a majority of the Manager(s) 
present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice, other than announcement at the 
meeting, until a quorum shall be present. 

 (k)  Action at Meeting. At any meeting of the Board of Manager(s) at which a quorum is 
present, the vote of a majority of those present shall be sufficient to take any action unless a different vote 
is specified by law, the Certificate or this Agreement. 

 (l)  Action by Consent. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the 
Board of Manager(s), or of any committee of the Board of Manager(s), may be taken without a meeting, 
if all members of the Board or committee, as the case may be, consent to the action in writing, and the 
written consents are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board or committee. 

 (m)  Removal. Mr. Seymour may not be involuntarily removed as Manager, and except as 
otherwise provided by the Act; and, any one or more or all of the other Manager(s), if any, may be 
removed, with or without cause, by Mr. Seymour.  



14 
 

 (n)  Committees. Intentionally omitted.  

 (o)  Compensation of Manager(s). Manager(s) may be paid such compensation for their 
services and such reimbursement for expenses of attendance at meetings as the LLC may from time to 
time determine. No such payment shall preclude any Manager from serving the LLC or any of its parent 
or subsidiary entities in any other capacity and receiving compensation for such service. 

6.03  Members.   
 
 (a)  Place of Meetings. All meetings of Members shall be held at such place as may be 
designated from time to time by the Board of Manager(s) or the President or, if not so designated, at the 
principal place business of the LLC. 

 (b)  Annual Meeting. There shall be held an annual meeting of Members for the transaction of 
such business as may properly be brought before the meeting. Such annual meeting shall be held on a date 
to be fixed by the Board of Manager(s) (which date shall not be a legal holiday in the place where the 
meeting is to be held) at the time and place to be fixed by the Board of Manager(s), and stated in the notice 
of the meeting. If no annual meeting is held in accordance with the foregoing provisions, a special meeting 
may be held in lieu of the annual meeting, and any action taken at that special meeting shall have the same 
effect as if it had been taken at the annual meeting, and, in such case, all references in this Agreement to 
the annual meeting of the Members shall be deemed to refer to such special meeting. 
 
 (c)  Right to Elect to be Member-Managed. Intentionally omitted. 

 (d)  Special Meetings. Special meetings of Members may be called at any time by the Board of 
Manager(s). Business transacted at any special meeting of Members shall be limited to matters relating to 
the purpose or purposes stated in the notice of meeting. 

 (e)  Notice of Meetings. Except as otherwise provided by law, written notice of each meeting, 
whether annual or special, of Members, shall be given not less than 10 nor more than 60 days before the 
date of the meeting to each Member entitled to vote at such meeting. The notices of all meetings shall 
state the place, date and hour of the meeting. The notice of a special meeting shall state, in addition, the 
purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. If mailed, notice is deemed given when deposited in 
the U.S. mail, postage prepaid, directed to the Member at his or her address as it appears on the records 
of the LLC. 

 (f)  Voting List. Intentionally omitted. 

 (g)  Quorum. Except as otherwise provided by law, the Certificate or this Agreement, the 
holders of a majority of the Percentage Interests of the LLC who are entitled to vote at the meeting, present 
in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. 

 (h)  Adjournments. Any meeting of Members may be adjourned to any other time and to any 
other place at which a meeting of Members may be held under this Agreement by the Members present or 
represented at the meeting and entitled to vote, although less than a quorum; or, if no Member is present, 
by any officer entitled to preside at or to act as Clerk of such meeting. It shall not be necessary to notify 
any Member of any adjournment of less than 30 days if the time and place of the adjourned meeting are 
announced at the meeting at which adjournment is taken unless, after the adjournment, a new record date 
is fixed for the adjourned meeting. At the adjourned meeting, the LLC may transact any business that 
might have been transacted at the original meeting. 

 (i)  Voting and Proxies. Each Member of record shall be entitled to vote at a meeting of 
Members, or to express consent or dissent to LLC action in writing without a meeting. A Member may 
vote or express such consent or dissent in person or may authorize another person or persons to vote or 



15 
 

act for him or her by written proxy executed by the Member or his or her authorized agent and delivered 
to any officer of the LLC. No such proxy shall be voted or acted on after three years from the date of its 
execution unless the proxy expressly provides for a longer period. 

 (j)  Action at Meeting. When a quorum is present at any meeting, the Members representing a 
majority of the total Percentage Interests of all Members entitled to vote (or, if there are two or more 
classes of Members entitled to vote as separate classes, then in the case of each such class, the holders of 
a majority of the total Percentage Interests of that class entitled to vote on such matter) shall decide any 
matter to be voted on by the Members at such meeting, except when a different vote is required by express 
provision of law, the Certificate or this Agreement. 

 (k)  Action Without Meeting. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any annual or 
special meeting of Members of the LLC may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without 
a vote, if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, is signed by the Members having not less 
than the minimum aggregate Percentage Interests that would be necessary to authorize or take such action 
at a meeting at which all Members to vote on such action were present and voted. Prompt notice of taking 
an action without a meeting by less than Unanimous Consent shall be given to those Members who have 
not consented in writing. 

 (l)  Record Date. The Board of Manager(s) may fix in advance a date as a record date for the 
determination of the Members entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of Members or to express 
consent (or dissent) to LLC action in writing without a meeting, or entitled to receive payment of any 
distribution or allotment of any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of interests, or for 
the purpose of any other lawful action. Such record date shall not be more than 60 nor less than 10 days 
before the date of such meeting, nor more than 10 days after the date of adoption of a record date for a 
written consent without a meeting, nor more than 60 days prior to any other action to which such record 
date relates. 

 If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining Members entitled to notice of or to vote 
at a meeting of Members shall be at the close of business on the day before the day on which notice is 
given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day before the day on which the meeting is 
held. The record date for determining Members entitled to express consent to LLC action in writing 
without a meeting, when no prior action by the Board of Manager(s) is necessary, shall be the day on 
which the first written consent is properly delivered to the LLC. The record date for determining Members 
for any other purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board of Manager(s) adopts 
the resolution relating to such purpose. 

 A determination of Members of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of Members 
shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Manager(s) may fix 
a new record date for the adjourned meeting. 

 6.04  Officers.   
 
 (a)  Enumeration. The officers of the LLC shall consist of a President, a Treasurer, a Clerk, and 
such other officers with such other titles as the Board of Manager(s) shall determine, including a Chief 
Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chairman of the Board, a Vice-Chairman of the Board, and 
one or more Vice Presidents, Assistant Treasurers, and Assistant Clerks. The Board of Manager(s) may 
appoint such other officers as it may deem appropriate. 

 (b)  Election. The President, Treasurer and Clerk shall be elected annually by the Board of 
Manager(s) at its first meeting following the annual meeting of Members. Other officers may be appointed 
by the Board of Manager(s) at such meeting or at any other meeting. 



16 
 

 (c)  Qualification. No officer need be a Member or a Manager. Any two or more offices may 
be held by the same person. 

 (d)  Tenure. Except as otherwise provided by law, by the Certificate or by this Agreement, each 
officer shall hold office until his or her successor is elected and qualified, unless a different term is 
specified in the vote choosing or appointing him or her, or until his or her earlier death, resignation or 
removal. 

 (e)  Resignation and Removal. Any officer may resign by delivering his or her written 
resignation to the LLC at the LLC’s principal office or to the President or any Manager. Such resignation 
shall be effective upon receipt unless it is specified to be effective at some other time or upon the 
happening of some other event.  

 Any officer, except Mr. Seymour, may be removed at any time, with or without cause, by vote of 
majority of the entire number of Manager(s) then in office (which entire number shall be determined 
exclusive of any officer who is the subject of the proposed removal). 

 Except as the Board of Manager(s) may otherwise determine, no officer who resigns or is removed 
shall have any right to any compensation as an officer for any period following his or her resignation or 
removal, or any right to damages on account of such removal, whether his or her compensation be by the 
month or by the year or otherwise, unless such compensation is expressly provided in a duly authorized 
written agreement with the LLC. 

 (f)  Vacancies. The Board of Manager(s) may fill any vacancy occurring in any office for any 
reason and may, in its discretion, leave unfilled for such period as it may determine any office. Each such 
successor shall hold office for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor and until his or her successor 
is elected and qualified, or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal. 

 (g)  Chairman of the Board and Vice-Chairman of the Board. The Board of Manager(s) may 
appoint a Chairman of the Board and may designate the Chairman of the Board as Chief Executive Officer. 
If the Board of Manager(s) appoints a Chairman of the Board, he or she shall perform such duties and 
possess such powers as are assigned to him or her by the Board of Manager(s). If the Board of Manager(s) 
appoints a Vice-Chairman of the Board, he or she shall, in the absence or disability of the Chairman of 
the Board, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Chairman of the Board and shall perform 
such other duties and possess such other powers as may, from time to time, be vested in him or her by the 
Board of Manager(s). 

 (h)  President. Initially, Mr. Seymour shall be the President.  The President shall, subject to the 
direction of the Board of Manager(s), have general charge and supervision of the business of the LLC. 
Unless otherwise provided by the Board of Manager(s), he or she shall preside at all meetings of the 
Members, and, if he or she is a Manager, at all meetings of the Board of Manager(s). Unless the Board of 
Manager(s) has designated the Chairman of the Board or another officer as Chief Executive Officer, the 
President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the LLC. The President shall perform such other duties 
and shall have such other powers as the Board of Manager(s) may, from time to time, prescribe. 

 (i)  Vice Presidents. Any Vice President shall perform such duties and possess such powers as 
the Board of Manager(s) or the President may, from time to time, prescribe. In the event of the absence, 
inability to act of the President, upon direction of the Board of Managers only, the Vice President (or if 
there shall be more than one, the Vice Presidents in the order determined by the Board of Manager(s)) 
shall perform the duties of the President and when so performing shall have all the powers of and be 
subject to all the restrictions upon the President. The Board of Manager(s) may assign to any Vice 
President the title of Executive Vice President, Senior Vice President or any other title selected by the 
Board of Manager(s). 



17 
 

 (j)  Clerk and Assistant Clerks. Initially, Mr. Seymour shall be the Clerk.  The Clerk shall 
perform such duties and shall have such powers as the Board of Manager(s) or the President may, from 
time to time, prescribe.  

 Any Assistant Clerk shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board of 
Manager(s), the President or the Clerk may, from time to time, prescribe. In the event of the absence, 
inability or refusal to act of the Clerk, the Assistant Clerk (or if there shall be more than one, the Assistant 
Clerks in the order determined by the Board of Manager(s)) shall perform the duties and exercise the 
powers of the Clerk. 

 In the absence of the Clerk or any Assistant Clerk at any meeting of Members or Manager(s), the 
person presiding at the meeting shall designate a temporary secretary to keep a record of the meeting. 

 (k)  Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers. Initially, Mr. Seymour shall be the Treasurer. The 
Treasurer shall perform such duties and shall have such powers as may, from time to time, be assigned to 
him or her by the Board of Manager(s) or the President. In addition, the Treasurer shall perform such 
duties and have such powers as are incident to the office of the treasurer of a corporation, including, 
without limitation, the duty and power to keep and be responsible for all funds and securities of the LLC, 
to deposit funds of the LLC in depositories selected in accordance with this Agreement, as amended, and 
such other rules and regulations as promulgated by the LLC, to disburse such funds as ordered by the 
Board of Manager(s), to make proper accounts of such funds, and to render as required by the Board of 
Manager(s) statements of all such transactions and of the financial condition of the LLC. 

 The Assistant Treasurers shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board of 
Manager(s), the President or the Treasurer may, from time to time, prescribe. In the event of the absence, 
inability or refusal to act of the Treasurer, the Assistant Treasurer (or if there shall be more than one, the 
Assistant Treasurers in the order determined by the Board of Manager(s)) shall perform the duties and 
exercise the powers of the Treasurer. 

 (l)  Salaries. Officers of the LLC shall be entitled to such salaries, compensation or 
reimbursement as shall be fixed or allowed, from time to time, by the Manager(s). 

 6.05  Interpretation of Rights and Duties of Manager(s) and Members. To the fullest extent 
permitted by the Act and other applicable law, and to the extent not inconsistent with the specific 
provisions of this Agreement or the Certificate, it is the intention of the parties as follows: 

 (a)  the Board of Manager(s) shall have the power to do any and all acts, statutory and 
otherwise, with respect to the LLC that the board of directors of a Maine corporation would have with 
respect to such Maine corporation; and 

 (b)  the Members shall have no power or authority whatsoever with respect to the management 
of the business and affairs of the LLC, except as set forth by the Certificate, this Agreement, or by the 
Board of Manager(s), 

 6.06  Certain Permitted Transactions. Without limitation of any of its powers set forth in Section 
6.01, above, the Board of Manager(s) is expressly authorized, for, in the name of, and on behalf of, the 
LLC, to cause the LLC to enter into such agreements with one or more Manager(s) to provide certain 
management services to the LLC, and will receive expense reimbursement and a monthly fee as agreed 
by the Board of Manager(s). 

 6.07  Member Approval Requirements. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 6.01 or any 
other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, without the prior written notice to the voting Members, 
the Board of Manager(s) shall not cause the LLC to sell all or substantially all of the assets of the LLC. 



18 
 

 6.08  Binding the LLC. Except as the Board of Manager(s) may generally or in any particular 
case or cases otherwise authorize, and subject to the other provisions of this Agreement and the Certificate, 
all deeds, leases, contracts, bonds, notes, checks, drafts or other obligations made, accepted or endorsed 
by the LLC shall be signed by Mr. Seymour. 

 6.09  Contracts with Members; Services. With the Consent of a majority in number of 
Manager(s) in each case, the LLC may engage in business with, or enter into one or more agreements, 
leases, contracts or other arrangements for the furnishing to or by the LLC of goods, services or space 
with any Member or Affiliate of a Member, and may pay compensation in connection with such business, 
goods, services or space, provided in each case that the amounts payable thereunder are reasonably 
comparable to those that would be payable to unaffiliated persons under similar agreements; and, if the 
Board of Manager(s) determines in good faith that such amounts are so comparable, such determination 
shall be conclusive absent manifest error.  Members contributing services in exchange (in part or in whole) 
for their Member Interest shall use best efforts to perform such services, at least to the highest industry 
standards, at the direction of the Manager(s) and Officers of the LLC.   Each Member shall use all their 
efforts and time as set forth in Schedule C, attached hereto.   

 6.10 Indemnification and Exculpation.  (a) No Manager or its Affiliates shall have any liability to 
the LLC or to any Member for any loss suffered by the LLC that arises out of any action or inaction of 
any Manager, if such Manager, as the case may be, in good faith, determined that such course of conduct 
was in the best interests of the LLC and such course of conduct did not constitute gross negligence or 
willful misconduct of such Manager. 

 (b)  The Members’ respective obligations to each other are limited to the express obligations 
described in this Agreement, which obligations the Members shall carry out with ordinary prudence and 
in a manner characteristic of businesspersons in similar circumstances. Except as may be provided in a 
separate agreement between the LLC and the respective Member, no Member shall be a fiduciary of or 
have any fiduciary obligations to the other Members in connection with the LLC or this Agreement or 
such Member’s performance of its obligations under this Agreement, and each Member hereby waives to 
the fullest extent permitted by applicable law any rights it may have to claim any breach of fiduciary 
obligation under this Agreement or in connection with the LLC. 

 (c)  Each Manager shall be indemnified by the LLC against any losses, judgments, liabilities, 
expenses and amounts paid in settlement of any claims sustained by it with respect to actions taken by 
such Manager on behalf of the LLC, provided that no indemnification shall be provided for any person 
with respect to any matter as to which he or she shall have been adjudicated in any proceeding not to have 
acted in good faith in the reasonable belief that his or her action was in the best interest of the LLC. 
Without limiting the foregoing, the Board of Manager(s) may elect (on a case-by-case basis) to permit 
such indemnification to include payment by the LLC of expenses incurred in defending a civil or criminal 
action or proceeding in advance of the final disposition of such action or proceeding, upon receipt of an 
undertaking by the person indemnified to repay such payment if he or she shall be adjudicated not to be 
entitled to indemnification under this Section 6.10, which undertaking may be accepted without reference 
to the financial ability of such person to make repayment. Any indemnification to be provided hereunder 
may be provided even if the person to be indemnified is no longer a Manager. 

 (d)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Manager, nor its respective Affiliates, nor any person 
acting as a broker-dealer, shall be indemnified for any losses, liabilities or expenses arising from or out of 
a violation of federal or state securities laws or any other intentional or criminal wrongdoing. Any 
indemnity under this Section 6.10 shall be paid from, and only to the extent of, LLC assets, and no Member 
shall have any personal liability on account thereof. The LLC shall not incur the cost of that portion of 
any insurance, other than public liability insurance, which insures any party against any liability as to 
which such party is herein prohibited from being indemnified. 



19 
 

 6.11  Other Activities.  (a) Except as provided in Schedules B and C hereof, any separate 
agreement between the LLC and the Member or Manager and in Section 6.11(b), below, the Members and 
Manager(s), may engage in and possess interests in other business ventures and/or investment 
opportunities of every kind and description, independently or with others, including serving as directors, 
officers, stockholders, managers, members and general or limited partners of corporations, partnerships 
or other limited liability companies with purposes similar to those of the LLC. Neither the LLC nor any 
other Member or Manager shall have any rights in or to such ventures or opportunities or the income or 
profits therefrom, accept by express written agreement of the particular parties seeking to grant and receive 
such rights. 

 (b) The Members have entered the LLC’s Confidentiality Non-Disclosure Agreement of same or 
near date as the Effective Date hereof and the provisions of such are incorporated herein and made a part 
hereof by reference. See Schedule B of this Agreement. 

ARTICLE VII 

Fiscal Matters 

7.01  Books and Records.  The Board of Manager(s) shall keep or cause the Treasurer to keep 
complete and accurate books and records of the LLC on the income tax method of reporting and otherwise 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied, which shall be 
maintained and be available, in addition to any documents and information required to be furnished to the 
Members under the Act, at the office of the LLC or other location designated by the Managers with notice 
to the Members, for examination and copying by any Member or Manager, or his, her or its duly authorized 
representative, at its reasonable request and at its expense during ordinary business hours. A current list 
of the full name and last known address of each officer, Member and Manager; a copy of this Agreement 
and any amendments thereto; the Certificate, including all certificates of amendment thereto; executed 
copies of all powers of attorney, if any, pursuant to which this Agreement, any amendment, the Certificate 
or any certificate of amendment has been executed; and copies of the LLC’s financial statements and 
federal, state and local income tax returns and reports, if any, for the three most recent fiscal years, shall 
be maintained at the registered office of the LLC and as required by the Act. 

 The LLC shall have no obligation to deliver or mail a copy of the Certificate or any amendment 
thereto to the Members. 

 7.02  Reports. Following the end of each fiscal year, the Board of Manager(s) shall cause to be 
prepared and sent to all Members a financial report of the LLC, including a balance sheet and a profit and 
loss statement, and, if such profit and loss statement is not prepared on a cash basis, a statement of changes 
in financial position, which may be certified by an independent certified public accountant, as deemed 
necessary by the Board of Manager(s). Following the end of each fiscal year, the Board of Manager(s) 
shall furnish (or cause to be furnished) to all Members with such information as may be needed to enable 
the Members to file their federal income tax returns and any required state income tax return. The cost of 
all such reporting shall be paid by the LLC as an LLC expense. Any Member may, at any time, at its own 
expense, cause an audit of the LLC books to be made by a certified public accountant of its own selection. 
All expenses incurred by such accountant shall be borne by such Member. 

 7.03  Bank Accounts. The Treasurer shall be responsible for causing one or more accounts to be 
maintained in a bank (or banks), which accounts shall be used for the payment of the expenditures incurred 
by the Manager(s) and the officers in connection with the business of the LLC, and in which shall be 
deposited any and all cash receipts of the LLC. All deposits and funds not needed for the operations of the 
LLC may be invested in short-term investments, including securities issued or fully guaranteed by United 
States government agencies; certificates of deposit of banks; bank repurchase agreements covering the 
securities of the United States government; commercial paper rated A or better by Moody’s Investors 
Services, Inc.; money market funds; interest-bearing time deposits in banks and thrift institutions; and 



20 
 

such other similar investments as the Manager(s) may approve. All such amounts shall be and remain the 
property of the LLC, and shall be received, held and disbursed by the Treasurer (or the Manager(s) or such 
other officers of the LLC, as authorized by the Manager(s)) for the purposes specified in this Agreement. 
Withdrawals from any LLC bank or similar account shall be made and other activity conducted on such 
signature or signatures as shall be approved by the Manager(s). 

 7.04  Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the LLC shall end on December 31 of each year. 

 7.05  Tax Matters Partner. The Manager(s) shall designate a Member to serve as the “tax matters 
partner” of the LLC. 

 If, at any time, such person is not eligible under the Code to serve, or refuses to serve, as the tax 
matters partner, another Member shall be designated by the Manager(s) to serve as the tax matters partner. 
The tax matters partner is hereby authorized to and shall perform all duties of a tax matters partner under 
the Code and shall serve as tax matters partner until his, her or its resignation or until the designation of 
his, her or its successor, whichever occurs sooner. 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

   Transfers of Interests 

 8.01  General Restrictions on Transfer of Interests by Members.  (a) No Member may Transfer 
his, her or its interest in the LLC unless the Manager(s) shall have previously approved such Transfer in 
writing, the granting or denying of which consent shall be in the Manager(s)’ absolute discretion; provided 
that if such Transfer is to a person that is not already a Member, the Transferring Member must obtain 
Unanimous Consent from Members prior to such Transfer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this 8.01 shall 
not limit Mr. Seymour’s right and authority to sell the Company and/or all or substantially all of the 
Company’s assets.   

 No assignment of the interest of a Member shall be made if, in the opinion of counsel to the LLC, 
such assignment (i) may not be effected without registration under the Securities Act; (ii) would result in 
the violation of any applicable state securities laws; (iii) unless approved by the Board of Manager(s), 
would result in a termination of the LLC under the appropriate Internal Revenue Code; or (iv) unless 
approved by the Board of Manager(s), would result in the treatment of the LLC as a “publicly traded 
limited partnership” for tax purposes. The LLC shall not be required to recognize any such assignment 
until the instrument conveying such interest has been delivered to the Board of Manager(s) for recordation 
on the books of the LLC. Unless an assignee becomes a substituted Member in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 8.01(b), the assignee shall not be entitled to any of the rights granted to a Member 
hereunder, other than the right to receive all or part of the share of the Gross Income, Net Profits, Net 
Losses, appropriate deductions, cash distributions or returns of capital to which his or her assignor would 
otherwise be entitled. 

 (b)  An assignee of the interest of a Member, or any portion thereof, shall become a substituted 
Member entitled to all the rights of a Member if, and only if: 

 (i)  the assignor gives the assignee such right; 

(ii)  the following persons, as applicable, shall have consented to such substitution in 
writing, the granting or denying of which consent shall be in their absolute 
discretion:  Mr. Seymour. 

(iii)  the assignee pays to the LLC all costs and expenses incurred in connection with 
such substitution, including specifically, without limitation, costs incurred in the 



21 
 

review and processing of the assignment and in amending the LLC’s then current 
Certificate and/or Limited Liability Company Agreement, if required; and 

(iv)  the assignee executes and delivers an Amendment to this Agreement (and to the 
Certificate, if required), which Amendment shall be executed by Mr. Seymour or 
other person authorized by the Board of Manager(s) and by such assignee, and such 
other instruments, in form and substance satisfactory to the Board of Manager(s), 
as may be necessary, appropriate or desirable to effect such substitution and to 
confirm the agreement of the assignee to be bound by the terms and provisions of 
this Agreement. 

 (c)  The LLC, the Board of Manager(s) and the officers of the LLC shall be entitled to treat the 
record owner of any LLC interest as the absolute owner thereof in all respects, and shall incur no liability 
for distributions of cash or other property made in good faith to such owner until such time as a written 
assignment of such interest has been received and accepted by the Board of Manager(s) and recorded on 
the books of the LLC. The Board of Manager(s) may refuse to accept an assignment until the end of the 
next successive quarterly accounting period. In no event shall any Membership interest, or any portion 
thereof, be sold, transferred or assigned to a minor or incompetent, and any such attempted sale, transfer 
or assignment shall be void and ineffectual and shall not bind the LLC or the Board of Manager(s). 

 8.02  Transfers of Interests by Members Who Serve as Manager(s). (a) A Transfer or assignment 
of an interest by a Member-Manager shall transfer only the economic interest, rights, duties and 
obligations of the transferor in its capacity as a Member, and no transferee shall obtain, as a result of such 
Transfer or assignment, any rights as a Manager. 

 (b)  A Member-Manager who assigns or Transfers all (but not less than all) of his, her or its 
interest as a Member shall be deemed to have tendered his, her or its resignation as a Manager to the Board 
of Manager(s) effective as of the date of such transfer or assignment. A majority of the Board of 
Manager(s), exclusive of the resigning Member, may accept or reject such resignation. In the event there 
are no remaining Managers, the Members, by Unanimous Consent, may accept or reject such resignation. 
If accepted, the acceptance date shall be the effective date of the resignation. Failure to reject such 
resignation within 30 days after the tender thereof shall be deemed to constitute acceptance of such 
resignation. 

 8.03  Restrictions as to Certain Matters. Every Transfer of an interest of a Member of the LLC 
permitted by this Article VIII shall be subject to the following restrictions. 

 (a)  No Transfer of any interest in the LLC may be made if such Transfer would cause or result 
in a breach of any agreement binding upon the LLC or violation of non-compliance with the then 
applicable laws, rules and regulations of any governmental authority having jurisdiction over such 
Transfer. The Board of Manager(s) may require as a condition of any Transfer that the transferor furnish 
an opinion of counsel, satisfactory to the LLC (both as to counsel and as to the substance of the opinion), 
that the proposed Transfer complies with applicable law, including the laws, rules or regulations 
applicable to the LLC’s industry, federal and state securities laws, and does not cause the LLC to be an 
investment company as such term is defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended; or if 
such transfer would cause the LLC to lose a license, permit or other business authorization. 

 (b)  The Board of Manager(s) may require, as a condition to the admission to the LLC as a 
Member of any transferee who is not a Member, that such transferee demonstrate to the reasonable 
satisfaction of the Board of Manager(s) that he, she or it is either a financially responsible person or has 
one or more financially responsible persons who have affirmatively assumed the financial obligations of 
the transferee under this Agreement, if any, on his, her or its behalf. 



22 
 

 (c)  Unless the Board of Manager(s) has specifically approved otherwise in writing, a transferor 
of an interest as a Member of the LLC, if the transferee is a Member hereunder or if the transferee becomes 
a Member pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, shall not be relieved of liability under this 
Agreement with respect to the transferred interest arising or accruing on or after the effective date of the 
Transfer, except to the extent of the payments made in the transferor’s place by any transferee of its 
interest, and the LLC may proceed to collect any amount due from the transferor as and when due, together 
with interest thereon from the date for payment stated herein at the rate of 18 percent per annum, 
compounded monthly, but not exceeding the maximum rate permitted by law, and all costs and expenses 
of collection incurred by the LLC (including reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel). 

 (d)  Any person who acquires in any manner whatsoever an interest (or any part thereof) in the 
LLC, whether or not such person has accepted and assumed in writing the terms and provisions of this 
Agreement or been admitted into the LLC as a Member as provided in Section 8.01(b), shall be deemed, 
by acceptance of the acquisition thereof, to have agreed to be subject to and bound by all of the obligations 
of this Agreement with respect to such interest and shall be subject to the provisions of this Agreement 
with respect to any subsequent Transfer of such interest. 

 (e)  Any Transfer in contravention of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be null and 
void and ineffective to transfer any interest in the LLC, and shall not bind, or be recognized by, or on the 
books of, the LLC, and any transferee or assignee in such transaction shall not be or be treated as or 
deemed to be a Member for any purpose. In the event any Member shall at any time Transfer an interest 
in the LLC in contravention of any of the provisions of this Agreement, then each other Member shall, in 
addition to all rights and remedies at law and equity, be entitled to a decree or order restraining and 
enjoining such transaction, and the offending Member shall not plead in defense thereto that there would 
be an adequate remedy at law; it being expressly hereby acknowledged and agreed that damages at law 
would be an inadequate remedy for a breach or threatened breach of the provisions of this Agreement 
concerning such transactions. 

 8.04  Permitted Transfers. Intentionally omitted. 
 
 8.05  Conditions of Certain Member Interest.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, 
the conditions of certain Member Interest are set forth in Schedule C, attached hereto and incorporated 
herein.   
 

 ARTICLE IX 
 

 Dissolution 

 9.01  Events Causing Dissolution. The LLC shall be dissolved and its affairs wound up upon the 
following events: 

 (a)     in the event no tenant of the LLC wins the Town of Kittery Adult Use Marijuana 
Store License Lottery for an invitation to apply for a Marijuana Retail Store License 
(“License”) and no Potential Tenant otherwise receives an invitation to submit an 
Application for Marijuana Business License to operate an Adult-Use Marijuana Retail 
Store, the LLC may be dissolved and its affairs wound up, at the sole discretion of the 
Board of Manager(s).  

(b)      the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the LLC, unless 
the disposition is a transfer of assets of the LLC in return for consideration other than cash 
and the Board of Manager(s) determines not to distribute all or substantially all of such 
non-cash items to the Members; 



23 
 

 (c)   the election to dissolve the LLC made in writing by the Board of Manager(s) with 
the Consent of the Members; 

 (d)  any consolidation or merger of the LLC with or into any entity following which the 
LLC is not the resulting or surviving entity; or 

 (e)  upon the occurrence of an event specified under the laws of the State of Maine as 
one effecting dissolution, except that where, under the terms of this Agreement or the Act, 
the LLC is not to terminate, then the LLC shall immediately be reconstituted and reformed 
on all the applicable terms, conditions and provisions of this Agreement. 

 9.02  Continuation of the LLC. Notwithstanding the occurrence of death, insanity, expulsion or 
dissolution of a Member, the LLC shall not be dissolved and its business and affairs shall not be 
discontinued, and the LLC shall remain in existence as a limited liability company under the laws of the 
State of Maine, if the remaining Members acting by Consent, elect within 90 days after such occurrence 
to continue the LLC and the LLC’s business.  

 9.03  Procedures on Dissolution. Dissolution of the LLC shall be effective on the day on which 
occurs the event giving rise to the dissolution, but the LLC shall not terminate until the Certificate shall 
have been canceled and the assets of the LLC shall have been distributed as provided herein. 
Notwithstanding the dissolution of the LLC, prior to the termination of the LLC, as aforesaid, the business 
of the LLC and the affairs of the Members, as such, shall continue to be governed by this Agreement. The 
Board of Manager(s) or a liquidator appointed by the Board of Manager(s), shall liquidate the assets of 
the LLC, apply and distribute the proceeds thereof as contemplated by this Agreement and cause the 
cancellation of the Certificate. 

 9.04  Distributions upon Liquidation.  (a) After payment of liabilities owing to creditors, the 
Board of Manager(s) or such liquidator shall set up such reserves as it deems reasonably necessary for any 
contingent or unforeseen liabilities or obligations of the LLC. Said reserves may be paid over by the Board 
of Manager(s) or such liquidator to a bank, to be held in escrow for the purpose of paying any such 
contingent or unforeseen liabilities or obligations, and, at the expiration of such period as the Board of 
Manager(s) or such liquidator may deem advisable, such reserves shall be distributed to the Members or 
their assigns in the manner set forth in paragraph (b), below. 

 (b)  After paying such liabilities and providing for such reserves, the Board of Manager(s) or 
liquidator shall cause the remaining net assets of the LLC to be distributed to and among the Members in 
the order of priority set forth in Article IV hereof. In the event that any part of such net assets consists of 
notes or accounts receivable or other non-cash assets, the Board of Manager(s) or liquidator may take 
whatever steps it deems appropriate to convert such assets into cash or into any other form which would 
facilitate the distribution thereof. If any assets of the LLC are to be distributed in kind, such assets shall 
be distributed on the basis of their fair market value net of any liabilities. 

ARTICLE X 
 

Miscellaneous 

 10.01  Notices. Except for notices of meetings of Manager(s) and Members, notice of which shall 
be given in the manner provided in Sections 6.02(h) and 6.03(e), respectively, any and all notices under 
this Agreement shall be effective (a) on the fourth business day after being sent by registered or certified 
mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid; (b) on the first business day after being sent by express 
mail, receipt confirmed facsimile, or commercial overnight delivery service providing a receipt for 
delivery; ( c) on the date of hand delivery; or (d) on the date actually received or rejected, if sent by any 
other method. To be effective, all such notices shall be addressed, if to the LLC, at its registered office 
under the Act, and if to a Member or Manager, at the last address of record on the LLC books, and copies 



24 
 

of such notices shall also be sent to the last address that is known to the sender for the recipient, if different 
from the address so specified. 

 10.02  Word Meanings. Words such as “herein,” “hereinafter,” “hereof” and “hereunder” refer to 
this Agreement as a whole, and not merely to a subdivision in which such words appear unless the context 
otherwise requires. The singular shall include the plural, and the masculine gender shall include the 
feminine and neuter, and vice versa, unless the context otherwise requires. 

 10.03  Binding Provisions. Subject to the restrictions on transfers set forth herein, the covenants 
and agreements contained herein shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto, their 
heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns. 
 10.04  Applicable Law; Arbitration.  

 (a) This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Maine, including the Act, as interpreted by the courts of the State of Maine, notwithstanding any rules 
regarding choice of law to the contrary (provided that, to the extent not inconsistent with the specific 
provisions of this Agreement, the Act or the Certificate, the authority of the Board of Manager(s) shall be 
determined by reference to the Maine Business Corporation Act).  

 (b) The Parties hereto waive their rights to seek remedies in court, including any right to a jury 
trial. The Parties agree that in the event of any dispute between or among them or any of their affiliates, 
such dispute shall be resolved exclusively by arbitration to be conducted in accordance with the rules of 
the American Arbitration Association ("AAA") applying the laws of the State of Maine as to any claim  
arising from or related to the terms of this Agreement, any Party’s ownership/membership, manager, 
director or officer position with the Company, or otherwise. Any arbitration proceeding shall be brought 
before arbitrators sitting in Portland, Maine. The Parties agree that such arbitration shall be conducted 
by  a three (3) member panel ("Arbitration Panel"). Each Party shall select one (1) arbitrator from a list 
provided by the AAA, which arbitrators shall select a third arbitrator. By mutual agreement, the Parties 
may jointly waive the right to a three (3) member panel and have any arbitration proceeding conducted 
by a single arbitrator, per the AAA rules. Discovery shall be permitted as required by the rules of the 
AAA, and that the arbitration award shall include factual findings, conclusions of law and findings and 
award pursuant to 10.04(c) below. Any award rendered by the arbitrator shall be final and binding and 
judgment may be entered on it, as provided by law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an action for 
injunction or specific performance, may be brought by either Party in any court having jurisdiction for 
the protection of the business and goodwill of either Party pending the decision of an arbitrator regarding 
the same, without posting bond. Any appeal, petition to vacate or confirm, or any proceedings to enforce 
("Further Proceedings") shall be brought in the state or federal court in Portland, Maine and the Parties 
expressly submit to the jurisdiction of such courts for any Further Proceedings by process served by 
certified mail, return receipt requested, on such Party as set forth below.   

 (c) In the event a party initiates arbitration and after the arbitration proceeding, the Arbitration 
Panel (or single arbitrator, if applicable) finds that the claim(s) in its/their entirety, brought before such 
Arbitration Panel by the initiating Party, is/are frivolous, the other Party(ies) shall be entitled to seek an 
award for reasonable attorney’s fees and costs for such arbitration proceeding. 

 10.05  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts and as so executed 
shall constitute one agreement binding on all parties hereto, notwithstanding that all of the parties have 
not signed the same counterpart. 



25 
 

 10.06  Separability of Provisions. Each provision of this Agreement shall be considered separable. 
To the extent that any provision of this Agreement is prohibited or ineffective under the Act, this 
Agreement shall be considered amended to the smallest degree possible in order to make the Agreement 
effective under the Act (and, if the Act is subsequently amended or interpreted in such manner as to make 
effective any provision of this Agreement that was formerly rendered invalid, such provision shall 
automatically be considered to be valid from the effective date of such amendment or interpretation). 

 10.07  Section Titles. Section titles are for descriptive purposes only and shall not control or alter 
the meaning of this Agreement as set forth in the text. 

 10.08  Amendments. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, including, 
without limitation, in Sections 2.06, 3.02 and Article VIII, this Agreement may be amended or modified 
only by Unanimous Consent of the Members, and any such amendment may include, without limitation, 
an amendment providing for capital contributions from, distributions to, and allocations of Net Profits and 
Net Losses (and items thereof) to one or more additional classes of Members; provided that: 

 (a)  no such amendment shall increase the liability of, increase the obligations of or adversely 
affect the interest of, any Member without the specific consent of such Member (except that an 
amendment adopted pursuant to Section 2.06 or Section 3.02 may reduce a Member’s interest in 
the LLC without such Member’s specific consent); 

 (b)  no such amendment shall increase the liability of or increase the obligations of the Board 
of Manager(s) without the prior Consent of the Board of Manager(s); and 

 (c)  subject to clauses (a) and (b), above, any amendment to this Section 10.08 shall require the 
Unanimous Consent of Members. 

 (d)   nothing in this Section 10.08 shall limit Mr. Seymour’s right to sell the Company or all or 
substantially all of the Company’s assets in accordance herewith. 

 10.09  Third-Party Beneficiaries. The provisions of this Agreement, including Article III, are not 
intended to be for the benefit of any creditor (other than a Member or Manager who is a creditor) or other 
person (other than a Member or Manager in his, her or its capacity as such) to whom any debts, liabilities 
or obligations are owed by (or who otherwise has any claim against) the LLC or any of the Members or 
Manager(s). Moreover, notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement, including, without 
limitation, Article III, no such creditor or other person shall obtain any rights under this Agreement or 
shall, by reason of this Agreement, make any claim in respect of any debt, liability or obligation (or 
otherwise) against the LLC or any Member or Manager. 

 10.10  Entire Agreement. This Agreement including each of the Schedules attached hereto, 
embodies the entire agreement and understanding between the parties hereto with respect to the subject 
matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings relating to such subject matter. The 
Members and Manager(s) hereby agree that each Member and each Manager shall be entitled to rely on 
the provisions of this Agreement, and no Member or Manager shall be liable to the LLC or any other 
Member or Manager for any action or refusal to act taken in good faith reliance on the terms of this 
Agreement. 

 10.11 Waiver of Partition. Each Member agrees that irreparable damage would be done to the LLC 
if any Member brought an action in court to dissolve the LLC. Accordingly, each Member agrees that he, 
she or it shall not, either directly or indirectly, take any action to require partition or appraisal of the LLC 
or of any of the assets or properties of the LLC, and, notwithstanding any provisions of this Agreement to 
the contrary, each Member (and his, her or its successors and assigns) accepts the provisions of the 
Agreement as his, her or its sole entitlement on termination, dissolution and/or liquidation of the LLC and 
hereby irrevocably waives any and all right to maintain any action for partition or to compel any sale or 



26 
 

other liquidation with respect to his, her or its interest, in or with respect to, any assets or properties of the 
LLC. Each Member agrees that he, she or it will not petition a court for the dissolution, termination or 
liquidation of the LLC. 

 10.12  Conflict.  In the event any provision(s) of Article I – Article X of this Agreement, conflicts 
with any provision(s) of Schedule C, the conflicting provision(s) in Schedule C shall control.  

[Signatures on next page.] 
  





28

SCHEDULE A
TO

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT
OF

GTF KITTERY 8, LLC

MEMBERS

Names and Addresses Percentage
of Members Interest Units Voting/Non-Voting

Capital
Contribution

Joshua Seymour         85%                 850         Voting   
8 Deer Ridge Lane
Kittery, Maine 03904

Davis Drolet        10%       100    Voting
184 Pine Hill Road
Berwick, Maine 03901

Andrew Beasley           5%          50            NON-Voting
50 Long Swamp Road
Berwick, Maine 03901

Know-how and certain services.

Certain services, as described herein 
and know-how.

Certain services, as described herein 
and know-how.

Manager(s)

Sole Manager:
Joshua Seymour
8 Deer Ridge Lane
Kittery, Maine 03904

Officers

Initially, none.



29

SCHEDULE B
TO

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT
OF

GTF KITTERY 8, LLC

NONDISCLOSURE AND CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT 

WITH NON-COMPETE AND NO SOLICITATION PROVISIONS 

This Nondisclosure and Confidentiality Agreement (this “NDA”) is made by and between GTF KITTERY 8, LLC, a Maine 
limited liability company (referred to herein as the “Discloser”) and the undersigned individuals and companies (separately 
and collectively referred to herein as the “Recipient”), each referred to herein as a “Party” and collectively referred to
herein, as the “Parties.” 

Recitals
WHEREAS, reference is made to the Limited Liability Company Agreement of same or near date hereof (the “LLC 
Agreement”), of which this NDA is a part;

WHEREAS, and the Discloser has invested and intends to continue to invest considerable time, money other resources, 
in business development, business concepts, contacts, relationships, systems, services, products, proprietary data, 
methodologies, processes, techniques and formula and branding and marketing studies, analyses and strategies, all of 
which are deemed to be confidential and proprietary information developed by Discloser and/or Recipient, related to the 
Business and are deemed to embody trade secrets in whole or in part, which have commercial value and are not generally 
or publicly known (referred to herein as the “Intellectual Property”).

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the Discloser entering the LLC Agreement and/or disclosing the Confidential 
Information to Recipient, and other valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is acknowledged by the 
Recipient, the Recipient agrees as follows: 

1. The Recitals set forth above shall be incorporated herein by reference.

2. Definitions:

2.1. For purposes of this NDA, “Confidential Information” shall include confidential information and proprietary information 
and all knowledge, information, documents and materials owned, developed or possessed by the Discloser or on behalf of 
the Discloser, by the Recipient or on behalf of the Recipient and including, but not limited to, Intellectual Property, as 
defined above,  business development plans, prices, costs, sales, content and/or processes and forecasts, inventions, 
registration information, certification information, licensing information, leasing information, legal information, 
operational procedures, knowledge of the organization, services, formulas, recipes, techniques, contracts, financial 
information, business methods, business plans, details of consultant contracts, new personnel acquisition plans, business 
acquisition plans, customer lists, customer payment information, business relationships of the Business and other 
information owned, developed, possessed, sold or licensed, to or by the Discloser, and all notes, analyses, compilations, 
forecasts, studies, interpretations and other documents and materials prepared by or for the Transactions, the Business or 
the Discloser.

2.2. For purposes of this NDA “Unauthorized" shall mean, without express written authorization from an officer or manager 
of the Discloser. 

2.3. The term “person” as used in this NDA will be interpreted to include, without limitation, any corporation, company, 
partnership, limited liability company, joint venture or individual. 



30 
 

 

2.4. The capitalized term “Business” shall mean the business of the Discloser. “Transactions” shall mean the underlying 
transactions of the LLC Agreement. 
 

3. Confidentiality:   
3.1 Recipient agrees to the following, irrespective of the manner in which the Confidential Information is provided,  

(a) Recipient shall forever keep secret and retain in strictest confidence and not divulge, disclose, discuss, distribute, 
disseminate, copy or otherwise use or suffer to be used in any manner, except in furtherance of the Business, any 
Confidential Information, or any portion thereof; and, no divulgence, disclosure, discussion, distribution, dissemination, 
copy or other use shall be made in any Unauthorized manner or for any Unauthorized purpose;  

(b) Recipient shall not, without the prior written consent of the Discloser, use or permit to be used, any Confidential 
Information for any purpose whatsoever, other than the Business; and 

(c) Recipient shall make no disclosures of any type regarding said Confidential Information or any portion thereof, including 
without limitation, verbal, written and electronically-transmitted disclosures, for any purpose, to any person, without the 
prior written consent of the Discloser. 
 

4. The obligations of Section 3 of this NDA shall not apply to any Confidential Information which, the Recipient can 
demonstrate: (a) is now or becomes hereafter available to the public through no fault of Recipient or Recipient’s 
Representative; (b) becomes known to the Recipient from a third party not in violation of any contractual, legal or fiduciary 
obligation of such third party, as substantiated by clear and unequivocal written evidence to this effect; (c) is independently 
developed by the Recipient without the use of or reference to the Confidential Information of the Discloser; (d) is approved 
for release by written authorization of the Discloser, but only to the extent of and subject to such conditions as may be 
imposed in such written authorization; (e) is required by law or regulation to be disclosed, but only to the extent and for 
the purposes of such required disclosure, provided however, that the Recipient shall first notify the Discloser of the law or 
regulation and permit the Discloser to seek an appropriate protective order, if applicable; or (f) is disclosed in response to 
a valid order of a court or other governmental body of the United States or any political subdivision thereof, but only to 
the extent of and for the purposes of such order, provided however, that the Recipient shall first notify the Discloser of the 
order and permit the Discloser to seek an appropriate protective order; (g) is not Discloser’s financial information and is 
disclosed and/or used for business purposes not otherwise prohibited by the LLC Agreement. 
 

5. Recipient acknowledges that any breach of this NDA could cause irreparable harm to the Discloser, for which damages 
would not be an adequate remedy. Therefore, the Recipient agrees that the Discloser shall be entitled to equitable relief, 
including injunctive relief, to prevent or cure any breach of the obligations set forth in this NDA, without posting bond or 
other security, in addition to all other remedies available at law or equity that the Discloser may have now or in the future. 
Recipient agrees that the Discloser shall be entitled to recovery of its attorneys’ fees and other associated costs incurred as 
a result of any attempt to redress any breach by Recipient or Recipient Representative(s) to enforce its rights and protect 
its interests under the Agreement.  
 

6. Recipient shall not have the right to assign or transfer any obligations under this NDA, without obtaining the prior written 
consent of the Discloser. Any attempted assignment or transfer that does not comply with this Section 6, shall be null and 
void.   
 

7. Recipient shall immediately give the Discloser notice of any information that comes to Recipient’s attention, that leads 
Recipient to suspect that any person other than the Discloser is using or disclosing any portion of the Confidential 
Information, without the Discloser’s authorization, including but not limited to, any unauthorized release of the 
Confidential Information. Such notice shall be provided to the Discloser first by telephone or e-mail and then by certified 
mail pursuant to Section 16.  
 



31

8. All waivers of any rights or obligations set forth in this NDA must be in writing.  The failure by the Discloser at any time
to require Recipient’s performance of any obligation under this NDA shall not affect the right to later require performance
of that obligation. Any waiver of any breach of any provision of this NDA shall not be construed as a waiver of any prior,
continuing or later breach of such provision or a waiver or modification of that provision. No rights or licenses, expressed
or implied, are hereby granted to Recipient as a result of this NDA.

9. No Competition.
(a) Recipient and undersigned Principals, each further agree that he/she/it will engage in no activities that compete with the

Discloser, involving the use or disclosure of said Confidential Information or any part thereof, whether before the closing
of the Transactions or thereafter;

(b) Recipient and undersigned Principals, shall not Compete with the Business, within State of Maine and within 60 miles
from any Discloser or affiliates’ location (“Restricted Territory”) during their Membership with the Discloser and for 2
years following the end of the later of either their Membership or employment with the Discloser (“Restricted Period”);
provided however, that a Member may compete with the Company within the Restricted Territory during the Restricted
Period, if the Member provides the other Members with reasonable notice of the business opportunity, with the ability to
join the Member in the competing activity, under equitable terms.

(c) “Compete” means, activities involving the solicitation of customers of the Business; engaging in or become interested as
a proprietor, partner, employee, consultant, promoter, director or stockholder, owner, principal, joint venturer, member,
officer, contractor, lender, consultant, manager or otherwise, of any person, firm, corporation or association engaged in
the business of cannabis cultivation, production, manufacturing or sales;  or take any action that is designed or intended or
may be reasonably expected to have the effect of discouraging any current or prior customer, clients, patients, suppliers,
retailer, vendor or other third party from initiating a business relationship or maintaining its business relationship with the
Business; or participate in any engagement or association with or for a business that directly competes with the Business,
and engages in the  retail sale or hardware, lumber or building supplies business.

(d) Exceptions. The following are exceptions to Section 9 (a)-(c).  The Recipients and their Principals shall not be prohibited
from engaging any cannabis business that is not otherwise prohibited by the LLC Agreement.

10. This NDA constitutes the entire agreement between Recipient and the Discloser with respect to this matter and shall in all
respects supersede and prevail over all prior oral or written agreements or understandings between them, with regard to its
subject matter and supplements but does not replace the LLC Agreement. In the event of conflict between the LLC
Agreement and this NDA, this NDA shall control. No amendment, alteration, or modification of this NDA shall be valid
unless, in each instance such amendment, alteration or modification is set forth in a writing signed by all Parties.

11. If any section, sentence, clause, word or combination thereof in this NDA is judicially or administratively interpreted or
construed as being in violation of any law of any jurisdiction, such section, sentence, clause, word or combination shall be
deemed automatically modified in that jurisdiction to conform to the requirements for validity as so interpreted. If such
section, sentence, clause, word or combination cannot be so modified, it shall be inoperative in such jurisdiction and the
remainder of this NDA shall remain binding upon Recipient in such jurisdiction and the enforceability of this NDA, as a
whole, shall be unaffected elsewhere. Unless the context otherwise requires, words set forth herein, denoting the singular,
shall include the plural and vice versa.

12. This NDA shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Maine, excluding those laws
that direct the application of the laws of another jurisdiction. The Recipient hereby consents to the jurisdiction of any State
or Federal court of competent jurisdiction located in Cumberland County, Maine.

13. The Recipient acknowledges that he/she/it has read and understands this NDA, that he/she/it is fully aware of its legal
effect, and that he/she/it has entered into it freely based on his/her/its own judgment and not on any representations or
promises other than those contained in this NDA.

14. The provisions contained herein shall not be construed in favor of or against any Party because that Party, his/her/its
counsel, or a third party on his/her/its behalf drafted this NDA, but shall be construed as if all Parties prepared this NDA,
and any rules of construction to the contrary are hereby specifically waived.  The terms of this NDA were negotiated at
arm's length by the Parties hereto.





33

SCHEDULE C
TO

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT
OF

GTF KITTERY 8, LLC

Conditions of Certain Member Interest

1. Initial Annual Salaries: Intentionally omitted.

2. In the event of Davis Drolet’s Retirement Event at Green Truck Farms I, LLC, Green Truck
Farms II, LLC and/or Green Truck Farms III, LLC, or any affiliate of the Company for any
reason prior to the Tenth (10th) anniversary of the date of this Agreement, except in the event it is
due to a Capital Transaction, such shall be deemed a Retirement Event hereunder and the
following shall apply:

a. Davis Drolet forfeits 10% of Member Units for each full year then remaining until
the Tenth (10th) anniversary of the date of this Agreement.

b. Subject to Paragraph 4 below, the Company may buyout remaining Units of
Davis Drolet’s Membership, based on greater of (a) ongoing concern value or (b)
book value, via a lump sum payment or payment via a promissory note, with 6%
APR, with equal consecutive monthly payments, and provided that such
promissory note be paid in full no later than the twentieth (20th) Anniversary of
such Retirement Event, and in the event of a Capital Transaction, the promissory
note shall be paid in full prior to disbursements of proceeds of the Capital
Transaction to Members.

c. If the Company doesn’t buyout as set forth in Section 2 b above, then Joshua
Seymour may buyout the Member Units.

d. If neither of the above buys such Member Units, then Davis Drolet may remain as
an unadmitted member with economic interest only (no other Member rights).

3. In the event of Andrew Beasley’s Retirement Event at Green Truck Farms I, LLC, Green Truck
Farms II, LLC and/or Green Truck Farms III, LLC, or any affiliate of the Company for any
reason prior to Ten (10) years, except in the event it is due to a Capital Transaction, such shall be
deemed a Retirement Event hereunder and the following shall apply:

a. Andrew Beasley forfeits 10% of Member Units for each full year then remaining
until the Tenth (10th) anniversary of the date of this Agreement.

b. Subject to Paragraph 4 below, the Company may elect to buyout remaining
Member Units of  Andrew Beasley’s Membership, based on greater of (a)
ongoing concern value or (b) book value, via a lump sum payment or payment via
a promissory note, with equal consecutive monthly payments, and provided that
the maturity date of such promissory note shall be no later than the twentieth
(20th) Anniversary of such Retirement Event, and in the event of a Capital
Transaction, the promissory note shall be paid in full prior to disbursements of
proceeds of the Capital Transaction to Members.



34 
 

c. If the Company doesn’t buyout pursuant to Section 3 b. above, then Joshua 
Seymour and/or Davis Drolet may buyout Andrew Beasley’s Member Units. 

d. If neither of the above buys his Member Units, then Andrew Beasley may remain 
as an unadmitted member with economic interest only (no other Member rights).  
 

4.   In the event a Member’s ownership of Units in the Company jeopardizes the Company’s ability 
to obtain or maintain cannabis related licensing, permits or other authorizations, such shall 
amount to a Retirement Event and such Member hereby agrees to assign, transfer and surrender 
all of his shares to the Company and the Company agrees to pay such Member consideration in 
accordance with applicable paragraph(s), 2(a-c) or 3(a-c) or 14 and if such Retirement Event 
arises out of an Acute Cause, applicable paragraph 5 or 6 below shall apply.   

 
5. If the Retirement Event is by reason of misconduct of Davis Drolet or Andrew Beasley, e.g., for 

Acute Cause, then the buyout price for departing Member’s Units shall be reduced (or further 
reduced) by 50%; except in event the Acute Cause is a crime against the Company, Green Truck 
Farms I, LLC, Green Truck Farms II, LLC and/or  Green Truck Farms III, LLC, or any affiliate 
of the Company, all his Member Units must be surrendered for nominal consideration only. 
“Acute Cause” shall mean  

 
(i) the commission by him of any felony against the Company, Green Truck Farms I, LLC, 
Green Truck Farms II, LLC and/or  Green Truck Farms III, LLC, or any affiliate of the 
Company,; (ii) any felony involving an act of dishonesty, moral turpitude, deceit, fraud or drugs 
or other crime that compromises the Company’s, Green Truck Farms I, LLC’s, Green Truck 
Farms II, LLC’s and/or  Green Truck Farms III, LLC’s, or any Company affiliate’s,  ability to 
obtain or maintain licenses, permits, registrations or other authorizations; or (iii) dishonesty or 
willful misconduct in connection with his employment or Membership, that causes damage to 
the Company, Green Truck Farms I, LLC, Green Truck Farms II, LLC and/or Green Truck 
Farms III, LLC, or any affiliate of the Company, as established through arbitration (costs of 
such arbitration shall be borne by the offending/retiring Member) or (iv) substantial interference 
with marital or domestic partnership relationship of another Member. 
 

6. In the event of a Retirement Event of Mr. Seymour is by reason of Acute Cause based on 
commission by him of a felony against the Company, Green Truck Farms I, LLC, Green Truck 
Farms II, LLC and/or Green Truck Farms III, LLC, or any affiliate of the Company, all his 
Member Units must be surrendered for nominal consideration only. 

 
7.  In the event Davis Drolet’s and/or Andrew Beasley’s actions or inactions amount to “Cause,” 

such shall be deemed a Retirement Event, and the applicable paragraph(s), 2(a-c) or, 3(a-c). For 
purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean,  
 

a. a material breach by him (other than a breach resulting from incapacity due to a 
Disability) of his duties and responsibilities to the Company which breach is 
willful and deliberate on his part, is committed in bad faith or without reasonable 
belief that such breach is in the best interests of the Company or its Members and 
is not remedied in a reasonable period of time after receipt of written notice from 
the Company specifying such breach; and/or 



35 
 

b. any act of dishonesty or misconduct, whether in connection with his 
responsibilities to the Company or otherwise, that either materially impairs the 
Company's business, goodwill or reputation or materially compromises his ability 
to represent the Company with the public. 

 
8.  Employment. Intentionally omitted.   

 
9. If a Retirement Event is caused by disability, the applicable paragraph 2(a-c), 3(a-c)or 14 herein, 

shall apply. “Disability” means  
 

a. if the Member provides service to the Company, the inability of a Member to 
perform services for the Company as customarily required by the Company for a 
consecutive period of more than ninety (90) days or for an aggregate of more than 
one hundred twenty (120) days in any twelve month period, or  
 

b. if the Member does not provide service to the Company, the physical or mental 
incapacity of a Member to vote his or her Units (without the assistance of a 
trustee, attorney-in-fact or other fiduciary) as may be necessary for the proper 
administration of the Company for a consecutive period of more than ninety (90) 
days or for an aggregate of more than one hundred twenty (120) days in any 
twelve month period. 

 
10. If the Retirement Event is caused by death of Davis Drolet or Andrew Beasley: 

a. The Company may take out keyman life insurance on the life of Davis Drolet 
and/or on the life of Andrew Beasley in an amount at the Manager’s discretion, 
the proceeds of which will be applied toward buyout the deceased Member’s 
Units, in accordance with this Schedule C. 

b. If the Company does not take out keyman life insurance for Davis Drolet and/or 
Andrew Beasley, the applicable paragraph 2(a-c) or 3(a-c) above shall apply, 
except that if neither Mr. Seymour, nor the Company buys the Member Units, 
then the estate of the deceased may remain as an unadmitted Member with 
economic right only (no other Member rights) and if death is after the Tenth (10th) 
anniversary from the date of this Agreement, forfeiture shall not apply. 

 
11. Divorce. To the extent allowed by law, the Membership is non-transferable to a Member’s 

spouse or ex-spouse, in the event of divorce; in the event a divorce judgment and/or order calls 
for the transfer of Membership to the spouse or ex-spouse of a Member, the applicable paragraph 
2(a-c), 3(a-c) or 14 herein, shall apply.   

 
12. Confidentiality; Non-Compete. 

a. The Members agree that a Confidentiality Agreement and Non-Compete 
Agreement is appropriate.   

b. Non-Compete shall cover cannabis businesses within State of Maine and within 
60 miles from the Company or affiliates’ location (“Restricted Territory”) during 
their employment and/or Membership with the Company and for 2 years 



36 
 

following the end of the later of either their Membership or employment with the 
Company (“Restricted Period”); provided however, that a Member may compete 
with the Company within the Restricted Territory during the Restricted Period, if 
the Member provides the other Members with reasonable notice of the business 
opportunity, with the ability to join the Member in the competing activity, under 
equitable terms. 

 
13. Sale of Company 

a. Mr. Seymour, as Manager, shall have sole discretion to sell the Company and/or 
substantially all of the assets of the Company and Davis Drolet and Andrew 
Beasley agree to such sale and to sell their Membership Units in relation to such 
sale; provided, however, that Unanimous Consent from all Members shall be 
required in the event that any such sale is closed within two (2) years from the 
Effective Date of this Agreement. This paragraph 13(a) is subject to the right of 
Davis Drolet to participate in discussions of any prospective Capital Transaction 
and Mr. Seymour’s obligation to do so in good faith. 
 

b. Mr. Seymour will represent and warrant that he is not dealing with any 
prospective buyer at the time of this Agreement. 
  

c. Mr. Seymour agrees to provide Davis Drolet with complete information about any 
such sale, including the identity of the buyers and terms of deal immediately upon 
such information becoming available.   

 
14. Retirement Event of Mr. Seymour.  Mr. Seymour may cause to have the Company purchase a 

Keyman Life Insurance policy on Mr. Seymour’s life in the amount of $1,000,000 or more, 
provided premium is reasonable, for the Company to assist funding the buyout of Mr. Seymour’s 
Member Units in the event of Mr. Seymour’s death. In the event of a Retirement Event of Mr. 
Seymour, in addition to providing Mr. Seymour or the representative of his successor in interest 
in the event of death (e.g. the Trustee of a Trust designated by Mr. Seymour or his Estate if no 
Trust is designated) (“Successor(s) in Interest”), with the proceeds of Keyman Life Insurance, if 
applicable, and at the discretion of either (a) Mr. Seymour or (b) the Trustee’s and back up 
Trustee of Trust designated by Mr. Seymour or (c) the Executor(rix) and back up Executor(rix) 
of Mr. Seymour’s Estate, the Company shall Buyout Mr. Seymour’s Member Units, by paying 
the Value of such Member Units, as determined  in accordance with this Section 14, in 
immediate cash funds or by a Promissory Note substantially in the form set forth in Schedule D, 
attached hereto and according to the following:  

a. until the buyout of all Member Units is paid in full, Mr. Seymour (except if 
Section 4 applies) or his Successor(s) in Interest shall have a right to hold the 
Member Units with full voting Membership rights.  

b. the Company shall immediately provide the Successors in Interest with the 
Keyman Life Insurance benefit/proceeds and  

c. the Company shall have 30 days to give written notice to Mr. Seymour or his 
Successor(s) in Interest, as to whether the Company opts: 



37 
 

i. to buyout Mr. Seymour’s Member Units for the Value thereof (determined in 
accordance with this Section 14) via a lump sum, within 90 days from the date 
of Retirement Event, OR 

ii. within 45 days from the date of such Retirement Event, make and maintain 
best efforts to sell the Company and provide Mr. Seymour or his Successor(s) 
in Interest with a 5 year Balloon Promissory Note (the “Note”) as Maker to 
Mr. Seymour or his Successor(s) in Interest, as Holder, for the Value, in the 
form set forth in Schedule D hereof, a summary of which is as follows: 

A. at 10%APR, in accordance herewith,  
B. via equal consecutive principal and interest payments,  
C. monthly payment amount calculated as though principal was 

amortized over 20 years;   
D. with a personal guaranty of such Note provided by Davis Drolet and 

Andrew Beasley joint and severally;  
E. the principal shall be the Value determined in accordance with this 

Section 14,  
F. such Promissory Note to be freely assignable by Mr. Seymour or his 

Successor(s) in Interest; and 
G. provided however, that in the event there is a Capital Transaction 

prior to Mr. Seymour or his Successor(s) in Interest receiving buyout 
payment in full, in accordance with this Section 14,  the principal of 
the Note shall be adjusted by increasing or decreasing by the 
difference between the original Value  and the purchase price of such 
Capital Transaction, to reflect the amount that would have been 
realized by Mr. Seymour, as a Member, at the time of the Capital 
Transaction, if there had been no Retirement Event; and the 
outstanding balance of such Note shall be paid in full at the time of 
such Capital Transaction prior to general disbursement(s) to 
Members. 

iii. The Company shall make best efforts to maintain the highest quality goods and 
services until Mr. Seymour or his Successor(s) in Interest are paid in full for all 
Member Units in accordance with this Section 14.  

iv.  Such Successor(s) in Interest are intended third party beneficiaries of this Agreement. 
 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in the event of Retirement Event of Mr. 
Seymour, for purposes of buyout via lump sum or promissory note, the “Value” of Mr. 
Seymour’s Member Units shall be determined as of the date of death, as follows:  

a. Mr. Seymour or his Successor in Interest (e.g. the Executor/rix of his Estate or 
Trustee(s) of an applicable Trust, heir, etc.) and either the Company or purchasing 
Member, each select a business appraiser,  

b. Those two business appraisers shall select a third appraiser; and  

c. The average of those three business appraisals shall be deemed the Value of Mr. 
Seymour’s Member Units.    



38 
 

 
15. New Members; Dilution.  In the event a Member desires to sell all or part of his own Units of 

Membership,  
 

a. the other Members shall be granted the right of first refusal to purchase those Units of 
Membership of the selling Member, on the same terms as offered by a prospective buyer;   

b. the buying Members shall have fifteen (15) days from receipt of such notice from selling 
Member, to provide selling Member with written letter of intent to purchase such Units 
on the same terms;  

c. in the event seller does not receive such letter of intent, such selling Member shall have 
the right to sell such shares, in accordance with this Agreement; and 

d. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, there shall be no dilution of any 
Member’s Percentage Interest in the Company without that Member’s consent.  

 
16. Cash on Hand. The Members agree that to the extent possible, during normal operations, the 

Company shall have and maintain a minimum of $100,000.00 available cash on hand and to be 
applied to normal operating costs, unless otherwise determined by Unanimous Consent of 
Members.  
 

17. Mr. Seymour agrees to cause Green Truck Farms Holdings, LLC to provide the Company with a 
license to use the Green Truck Farms trademarks, for so long as Davis Drolet is a Member of the 
Company and prior to a Capital Transaction; and to negotiate in good faith with a prospective 
purchaser in a Capital Transaction for a license to the Green Truck Farms trademarks.  
 

18. Major Business Judgment Commitment.   
 
A Major Business Judgement Commitment shall mean a new voluntary commitment by the 
Company that involves spending Company resources exceeding $300,000.00 for a new or 
expanded Company project, outside of the scope of the then normal business operations (and 
specifically excluding payments of accounts payable and existing liabilities).  Mr. Seymour, as 
Manager, agrees to provide Davis Drolet with notice of any Major Business Judgement 
commitment and be open to receive feedback from the Davis Drolet, for so long as the Davis 
Drolet holds Member Interest in the Company.  
 

19. Davis Drolet shall have right of first refusal to lend money to the Company, on the same terms as 
are offered to the Company by a banking institution.  
  

20. Determining Value of Units.   In the event the Company must or elects or another Member 
elects, to buyout a Retired/Retiring Member’s Units, the value of such Member Units shall be 
determined as of the time of Retirement Event, as follows:  
 

a. The purchaser and retiring Member (or his/her/its duly authorized representative), 
each select a business appraiser,  

b. Those two business appraisers select a third appraiser; and  
c. The average of the three business appraisals shall be deemed the value of such 

Member Units.    



39 
 

21. In the event of a Retirement Event of Mr. Seymour, a successor Manager shall be immediately 
elected by Unanimous Consent of the Members. 

  



40 
 

 
 

SCHEDULE D 
TO  

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT 
OF  

GTF KITTERY 8, LLC 
Form of Promissory Note with Guaranty 

 FORM OF BALLOON PROMISSORY NOTE 
For value received, the undersigned, GTF KITTERY 8, LLC, a Maine limited liability company, with an address 

of ________________________  (herein “Maker” or “Makers”), hereby promises to pay to the order 
of ____________________________, whose address ________________________________, (hereinafter referred to along 
with each subsequent holder or holders of this Promissory Note, as “Holder”), the principal sum 
of _____________________________________________DOLLARS ($_________________U.S.), with interest thereon 
from the date or dates of disbursement of the aforesaid principal sum, to be paid in lawful money of the United States of 
America, which shall be legal tender in payment of all debts and dues, public and private, at the time of payment. 

Interest shall accrue to the outstanding principal balance of this Promissory Note (“Note”) at a rate equal to TEN 
percent (10.0%) per annum. Interest shall be computed on the basis of actual number of days per year for the actual number 
of days outstanding. 

The Principal and accrued Interest shall be payable in equal consecutive monthly installments in the amount of 
$__________  beginning on _____________ and continuing until the Maturity Date.  

Principal and all remaining accrued interest shall be due and payable in full on the _ day of ____________, 20___[5TH 
Anniversary of Retirement Event by death of Mr. Seymour] (the “Maturity Date”). 

 
The payment of this Note is secured by Personal Guaranty of Davis Drolet and Andrew Beasley of , Individual having 

address at ____________ and Andrew Beasley, Individual having address at _______________________.   
Payments received under this Note shall be applied (a) first to late charges and sums due and payable under this Note; 

(b) second, to accrued and unpaid interest; and (c) third, to principal. 
Monthly payments shall be paid as follows: Payable to “_______” , whose address 

is _____________________. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the monthly payment shall be adjusted upon prepayments. 
Default. If (a) Maker fails to pay, in full, in good cleared funds, within ten (10) days of when due, any installments of 

principal, interest or any other sums payable under this Note; or (b) Maker fails to otherwise strictly perform, comply with 
and abide by all Maker’s other agreements and covenants in this Note, then the entire principal sum outstanding and all 
accrued interest shall at once become due and payable, without notice, at the option of the Holder of this note. Failure to 
exercise this option shall not constitute a waiver of the right to exercise the same at any other time. The principal of this Note, 
and any part thereof, and all accrued interest, if any, shall bear interest at the maximum legal rate of interest chargeable under 
applicable law after maturity or default until paid. In the event there is no maximum rate applicable or in the event such 
maximum rate is otherwise indeterminable, it is agreed that such rate shall be eighteen percent (18%) per annum. All parties 
liable for the payment of this Note agree to pay Holders hereof reasonable attorneys’ fees (including appeals) for the services 
of counsel employed after maturity or default to collect this Note, whether or not suit is brought. 

If Maker fails to pay any installment of principal or interest or any other sum payable under this Note within ten 
(10) days of when the same is due, then the Holder shall be entitled to collect a “Late Charge” in the amount of $500.00 to 
cover the reasonably anticipated additional costs of handling late payments. Acceptance of any Late Charge shall not 
constitute a waiver of any default and shall not prevent Holder from exercising any other rights of Holder under this Note or 
the Security Documents. 
  



41 
 

The Maker has the right to make payments of principal at any time before they are due. A payment of principal only is 
known as a “prepayment.” When the Maker makes a prepayment, the Maker will tell the Note Holders in writing that Maker 
is doing so. The Maker may make a full prepayment or partial prepayments without paying any prepayment charge. The Note 
Holder will use all of the Maker’s prepayments to reduce the amount of principal that the Maker owes under this Note. If the 
Maker makes a partial prepayment, there will be no changes in the due date or in the amount of my monthly interest payment 
unless the Note Holder agrees in writing to those changes. 

Nothing herein contained, nor any transaction related hereto, shall be construed or so operate to require Makers or any 
other person liable, to pay interest at a greater rate than is lawful in such case to contract for, or to make any payment, or to 
do any act contrary to law. Should any interest or other charges paid in connection with the loan evidenced by this Note by 
Maker or any parties liable for the payment of this Note result in the computation or earning of interest in excess of the 
maximum rate of interest which is legally permitted under the laws of the State of Maine, then any and all excess shall be and 
the same is hereby waived as interest by Holder hereof, and any and all such excess paid shall be automatically credited first 
against and in reduction of the principal balance due under this Note or, at the option of Maker, paid by Holder to the Maker 
or any parties liable for the payment of this Note. 

If any clause or provision herein contained shall be unenforceable under applicable law, in whole or in part, then such 
clause or provision or part thereof shall only be inoperative as though not contained herein and the remainder of this Note 
shall remain operative and in full force and effect. 

The remedies of Holder, as provided herein, shall be cumulative and concurrent and may be pursued singularly, 
successively, or together at the sole discretion of Holders and may be exercised as often as occasion therefore shall arise.  

Makers and all guarantors of this Note hereby (a) waive demand, presentment for payment, notice of nonpayment, 
protest, notice of protest, and all other notices, filing of suit, and diligence in collecting this Note; (b) agree that Holder shall 
not be required first to institute any suit or to exhaust his, their or its remedies against Maker or any other person or party to 
become liable hereunder in order to endorse payment of this Note; (c) consent to any extension, rearrangement, renewal, or 
postponement of time of payment of this Note and to any other indulgence with respect thereto without notice, consent or 
consideration to any of them; and (d) agree that, notwithstanding the occurrence of any of the foregoing (except the express 
written release by Holder of any such person), they shall be and remain jointly and severally and primarily liable for all sums 
due under this Note. 

Whenever used in this Note, the singular number shall include the plural, the plural, the singular, and the masculine 
shall include the feminine and the neuter, and the words “Maker” and “Holder” shall be deemed to include Maker and Holder 
named in the opening paragraph of this Note and their respective successors and assigns, if any. It is expressly understood 
and agreed that Holder shall never be construed for any purpose as a partner, joint venturer, co-principal, or associate of 
Maker or of any person or party claiming by, through, or under Maker in the conduct of their respective businesses. This 
Note may be assigned by the Holder. This Note shall not be assigned by the Maker without the express written consent of the 
Holder. 

This Note is executed and delivered in the State of Maine and shall be construed by and enforced in accordance with 
the laws of the State of Maine. 

MAKER AND HOLDER HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY WAIVE THE 
RIGHT EITHER MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT TO ANY LITIGATION BASED HEREON, 
OR ARISING OUT OF, UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS NOTE. THIS PROVISION IS A MATERIAL 
INDUCEMENTFOR THE HOLDER EXTENDING CREDIT TO MAKER. 

THIS IS A BALLOON NOTE AND THE FINAL PRINCIPAL PAYMENT OR THE PRINCIPAL BALANCE 
DUE UPON MATURITY IS $_______________ TOGETHER WITH ACCRUED INTEREST. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Guarantor executes this Balloon Note, under seal effective this ____ day of ___________ 
20___. 

[signatures] 



42 
 

FORM OF PERSONAL GUARANTY 
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, and in consideration for, and as an inducement to ______________, hereinafter called 
"Holder", (which terms herein used shall include any successor or assignee of Holder’s interest, including and any 
security holder thereof) the Holder of that certain Balloon Note made by ________________, the “Maker”, and 
dated _________________ (the “Note”), to extend credit to the Maker of the Balloon Note, dated _____________, 
in pursuit of buyout of certain Member Units, the undersigned _______________, of______________, 
____________ of ____________, and __________ of _____________ each a "Guarantor" (singly and collectively 
referred to as “Guarantor”)  each hereby WARRANT AND REPRESENT to the Holder that (a)  the undersigned 
had/has a substantial financial interest in the success of the Maker; and (b) the execution and delivery of said Note 
was duly authorized, and GUARANTEES to Holder, Holder’s  successors and assigns, for the remaining term of 
the Note, and for all extension periods, the full and timely performance and observance of all of the covenants, 
conditions and agreements provided in the Note, to be performed and observed by the Maker.  The undersigned 
expressly agrees that the validity of the Note, and the obligation of the Guarantor hereunder shall in no event be 
terminated, affected, impaired, or limited by reason of (a) the assertion by Holder against Maker of any of the rights 
or remedies reserved to Holder pursuant to the Note, or by reason of the waiver by, or the failure of, Holder to 
enforce any of the terms, covenants or conditions of said Note or the granting of any indulgence or extensions of 
time to Maker, all of which may be given or done without notice to Guarantor, or (b) by reason of an amendment 
of said Note.  Notices to the undersigned shall be considered delivered, upon receipt or refusal, if mailed to the 
undersigned by registered or certified mail return receipt requested and addressed to the undersigned at the address 
stated above or to such other address as the undersigned may designate from time to time by written notice to 
Holder.  The undersigned further agrees that his/her liability under this Guaranty shall be primary and that in any 
right of action which shall accrue to the Holder under the Note, Holder may, at its option, proceed against the 
undersigned and the Maker, jointly and severally, or may proceed against the undersigned without having 
commenced any action against or having obtained any judgment against the Maker.   Holder may take any action 
against Maker or the undersigned at law or in equity without joining the other, and thereafter pursue the other until 
this Guaranty shall have been satisfied.   
 
     IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Guarantor executes this Personal Guaranty under seal effective this ____ day of 
___________ 20 . 
 
 
___________________________________                          ______________________________ 
Witness:                                                                   Guarantor 
___________________________________                          By: Davis Drolet 
Print Name:   ________________________ 
 
___________________________________                          ______________________________ 
Witness:                                         
                                                  Guarantor 
___________________________________                          By: Andrew Beasley 
Print Name:   ________________________ 
  
[Notary Clause] 
 
 

 

















Principal Attestation 

Addendum 

Principal:  Joshua Seymour     

 
Companies with OCP Cannabis Establishment Applications Pending or Conditional Licenses: 
 
Note:  These are not operating and do not have operating addresses.  
 
Entity        Principal’s Financial Interest 
Green Truck Farms II, LLC      Owner 
Green Truck Farms III, LLC      Owner     
Green Truck Farms 5, LLC      Owner     
Green Truck Farms 6, LLC      Owner   
Green Truck Farms 7, LLC      Owner     
GTF Kittery 7 LLC       Owner     
GTF Kittery 8 LLC       Owner    
GTF Kittery 9 LLC       Owner 
GTF Kittery 25 LLC       Owner 
 
 
Company operating under Medical Marijuana Caregiver’s license: 
 
Green Truck Farms I, LLC      Owner 
19 Buffum Road, Unit 6 
North Berwick, Maine 03906 
      





3/8/2023





















Required Approvals and Licenses

89 Route 236

Kittery, Maine 03904

This business will conduct Adult-use retail sales only and will not perform any production,

cultivation, manufacturing or packaging related activities in any portion of the building at any

time. The following list includes all additional approvals or licenses that will be required to

operate the business in compliance with all local and state regulations:

Maine State Retailer and Resale Certificates — These certificates are obtained through the

Maine Revenue Service and permit the sale of goods through a retail outlet as well as the

purchase of goods for resale.

Maine State Food Establishment License — This license is obtained through the Department of

Agriculture, Conservation and Forestry and permits the sale of food and beverages.

Maine State Tobacco Retail License/Distributor — The Tobacco Retail license is obtained through

the Department of Health and Human Services, and the Tobacco Distributor license from the

State Tax Assessor.  These allow us to conduct the sale of cannabis pre-rolls, vape cartridges,

rolling papers.

Maine State Adult-Use Cannabis Retail License — This license is obtained through the Office of

Cannabis Policy once local municipality authorization has been approved. This license allows us

to operate as an Adult-use Retail Establishment for the sale of cannabis and cannabis products.











Building & Product Security Plan
89 Route 236

Kittery, Maine 03904

Security Company:

American Security Alarms, Inc.

1051 Main Street Sanford, ME 04073

Corey Farwell - (207) 324-3353

Lighting:

There will be exterior security lighting that meets all Office of Cannabis Policy lighting standards,

which will provide lighting sufficient enough for observers to see, and camera to record, any

activity within 20 feet of all entry points. Walkways and parking lot areas will also be well-lit and

a motion detection system will be employed to light required areas in low-light conditions. All

exterior lighting will meet any additional code enforcement standards and will not impede on

any neighboring properties.

Doors and Windows:

This business will have two (2) points of entry. The front entry doors will be two (2) steel

commercial-grade doors providing a double passage entry door with shatterproof protective

film applied to the glass and commercial-grade deadbolt lock and alarm sensors installed. The

rear entry door will be one (1) commercial-grade steel entry door with shatterproof protective

film applied to the glass and a commercial-grade deadbolt lock and alarm sensors installed. All

perimeter windows will remain locked at all times and will have shatterproof protective film and

alarm sensors installed. There will be a new knox box installed at the front entry way for the Fire

Department and emergency access.

The rear entry door of the building and one interior door on the first floor, indicated on the floor

plan, will be considered a limited access entry point for staff, vendors, contractors, or

municipality only and leads to the limited access area within the building. Therefore, anyone

with access will only be authorized persons displaying individual identification cards or

authorized contractors who are aged 21 and older and displaying a valid visitor identification

badge. Both limited access area doors will be controlled electronically with key-code or card

access only.

Alarm System:

The building will have an industry leading security system that consists of a remotely monitored

siren speaker, alarm sensors on all perimeter entry points and perimeter windows , passive

1



infrared body heat detectors, and high-definition cameras. The system will be remotely

monitored by a licensed security company which will immediately notify local authorities and

business owners in the event of an alarm signal. There will also be an audible alarm that is

capable of being remotely disarmed by the security company or business owners.

In the event of an alarm, ownership and local law enforcement will be immediately notified.

Ownership, Office of Cannabis Policy and local law enforcement will have complete access to all

camera recordings and all security records will be provided upon request.

Equipment List:

1 —  Xr150 Alarm Control Panel. This industry leading system has transitioned to a true

network, cellular and wi-fi communications approach by providing stronger, multi-layered panel

communications that ensure a constant link between the panel and monitoring center. The

unique DMP serial 3 format supports 32-character user, zone and area names to decrease the

time and limit dependence on automation literal tables for message interpretation. Contact ID

numbers are also supported on this system.

1 —  Lit Keypad for arming & disarming the system with English language display with 24 hour

emergency police, medical, and fire panic switches

1 —  Siren Speaker: Inside

2 —  Door Contacts: (1) Double entry door and (1) Single entry door

4 —  Passive Infrared Body Heat Detectors
1 —  Cellular Communicator with an automatic weekly or daily test which transmits all alarms
by zone on monitored systems
1 —  32 Channel 12TB NVR
4 —  Monitors
1 —  UPS
26 — IP/IR Megapixel Cameras

Video Surveillance:

The building will have a complete video surveillance system with camera coverage throughout

the entire interior of the building and surrounding all sides of the exterior of the building. We

will comply with all Office of Cannabis Policy and municipality regulations for video surveillance.

(1) Placement and coverage of cameras will be sufficient:

(a) Cameras will be permanently fixed inside each entry/exit point (perimeter and
limited access area) to allow identification of persons entering the premises and limited
access areas.

2



(b) Cameras will be permanently fixed outside each entry/exit point (perimeter and
limited access area) to allow identification of persons exiting the premises and limited
access areas.

(c) A sufficient number of cameras will be permanently fixed to allow the viewing, in its
entirety, of any area where marijuana, marijuana concentrate or marijuana products are
stored or prepared for transfer or sale.

(d) A sufficient number of cameras will be permanently fixed to allow the viewing, in its
entirety, of any area where marijuana waste is stored before being made unusable, or
where marijuana waste is made unusable.

(e) A camera will be permanently fixed at each point of sale to monitor the identity of
the purchaser and ensure facial identity.

(f) A sufficient number of cameras will be permanently fixed to allow recording of all
areas outside of the premises within 20 feet of the exterior

(2) Video surveillance will meet the following minimum requirements:

(a) Minimum camera resolution will be 720 pixels.

(b) System storage and cameras will be internet protocol (IP) compatible.

(c) All cameras will record continuously twenty-four hours per day and at a minimum of
15 frames per second.

(d) All recorded images will clearly and accurately display the time and date. Time is to
be measured in accordance with the U.S. National Institute Standards and Technology
standards.

(e) The surveillance system storage device will be secured on the premises in a lockbox,
cabinet or closet, or may also be on a third-party server or secured in another manner to
protect from employee tampering or criminal theft.

(3) All surveillance recordings will be kept for a minimum of 45 days on our recording device.

(4) All videos will be subject to inspection by the Office of Cannabis Policy employees or local
law enforcement and will be copied and provided to the Department or local law enforcement
upon request.

(5) We will maintain a list of all persons with access to video surveillance recording and
procedures for controlling access to recordings.

3



In the event of an incident of non-compliance with any security policies, employees and

management are required to immediately report directly to ownership who will, in turn, notify

the Office of Cannabis Policy in writing within 24 hours or as required by law.

Product Storage:

All marijuana or marijuana products will only be received at this building with all required
documentation and fully sealed in compliant, child-resistant and tamper-evident packaging. All
backstock inventory of marijuana or marijuana products will be stored in locked rooms treated
as limited access areas.

Products will be displayed in glass cases or wall mounted cabinets which will be securely
fastened to the wall or floor. All cases or cabinets that contain marijuana or marijuana products
will be lockable to help prevent theft or access by customers. Customers will be restricted from
handling marijuana products without direct supervision of a licensee or employee.

On-Premises Use and Loitering:
On-premises use is strictly prohibited at all times for all staff and customers. We will have a
receptionist who will have a dedicated security monitoring screen for video surveillance of our
parking lot. We train our employees to take notice of any on-premises use and immediately
notify a Manager. Customers will be permanently banned if found in violation of this policy.
Employees will be terminated if found in violation of this policy.

No loitering and No Smoking signs will be posted on the exterior of the building in clear view
from all parking areas. Customers are expected to leave the premises in a timely manner after
visiting the store. Staff will monitor the video surveillance for customers who are loitering and
they will be asked to leave the premises. Staff is expected to leave the premises in a timely
manner at the end of their shift.

Additional Office of Cannabis Policy Requirements:
Before selling, storing or transporting marijuana or marijuana products, we are required to
obtain Office of Cannabis Policy approval of a written security plan, demonstrating compliance
with all requirements of their Department. At a minimum, the security plan shall provide
sufficient detail so that the Department may confirm that all security requirements are met.

We are required to adhere to the security plan and submit in writing to the Department a
revised security plan within 14 days any time a material change is made to security measures.
The Department may, but is not required, to approve revised security plans. The Department
may determine at any time that the revised security plan does not meet minimum
requirements.

Material changes include, but are not limited to, the addition or removal of sensors or cameras,
changing of monitoring companies, additions of points of entry and changes to lighting.

4























GREEN TRUCK FARMS
19 BUFFUM RD UNIT 6
NORTH BERWICK ME  03906

JOSHUA SEYMOUR
GREEN TRUCK FARMS LLC
GREEN TRUCK FARMS
19 BUFFUM RD UNIT 6
NORTH BERWICK ME  03906

EXPIRES:03/31/2023

Commissioner

EST ID: 30037

JOSHUA SEYMOUR
GREEN TRUCK FARMS LLC
GREEN TRUCK FARMS
19 BUFFUM RD UNIT 6
NORTH BERWICK ME  03906

Owner: GREEN TRUCK FARMS LLC
GREEN TRUCK FARMS
19 BUFFUM RD UNIT 6
NORTH BERWICK

Location:

Mail:

Lic Type: TOBACCO - RETAIL I Est ID:

ISSUED:
EXPIRES:

FEE:

30037

4/1/2022
3/31/2023
$100.00
207-432-6000TEL:

TOBACCO - RETAIL I 

$100.00FEE:

JOSHUA SEYMOUR
19 BUFFUM RD UNIT 6

NORTH BERWICK ME  03906

Licensee:

Employers must establish a written smoking policy that prohibits smoking in any business facility, including in
vehicles used for work, and in outdoor areas where employees perform services under the control of the
employer. Smoking in workplaces shall only be permitted outdoors. Employers shall only permit employer and
employees to smoke outside within a Designated Smoking Area that is at least 20 feet away from the business
facility and designed in a way to prevent smoke from escaping back into a workplace, public place or other areas
where smoking is prohibited.

Eating Establishments shall prohibit smoking in outdoor eating areas and all enclosed areas of public places.
Smoking includes the use of electronic smoking devices, whether or not they contain nicotine.

Tobacco Retailers are required to card all persons 30 years of age or younger by photographic identification that
contains the persons date of birth. Tobacco products may not be sold to any person under 21 years of age unless
the person obtained 18 years of age on or before July 1, 2018. Tobacco products include, but not limited to, a
cigarette, a cigar, a hookah, pipe tobacco, chewing tobacco, snuff or snus, electronic smoking devices, and any
component or accessory used in the consumption of a tobacco product, such as filters, rolling papers, pipes and
liquids used in electronic smoking devices, whether or not they contain nicotine.

For free guidance regarding Maine’s retail tobacco and workplace smoking laws, please contact the Maine CDC
Tobacco and Substance Use Prevention and Control program at tsup.dhhs@maine.gov or call 207-287-4627.



DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE AND FINANCIAL SERVICES

OFFICE OF CANNABIS POLICY

MAINE ADULT USE CANNABIS PROGRAM

This certifies that

GREEN TRUCK FARMS 5, LLC 
License Number  AMF1306

has been issued a CONDITIONAL license as an 

ADULT USE CANNABIS PRODUCTS MANUFACTURING FACILITY

 under 28-B MRS. This does NOT permit the licensee to engage in any activity.

NOTE: THIS IS NOT AN ACTIVE LICENSE

To make a complaint about this licensed Adult Use Cannabis Establishment:

Email: Licensing.OCP@maine.gov

Issued on:

January 24, 2023

Expires on:

January 23, 2024

John Hudak,Director

OFFICE OF CANNABIS POLICY

MAINE ADULT USE CANNABIS 

PROGRAM

Page 1 of 2 for AMF1306 



The Conditional License for AMF1306 has been issued based on the

following organizational structure:

Principals:
JOSHUA J. SEYMOUR, MANAGER

Owners:
81.17% - JOSHUA SEYMOUR
17.65% - DAVIS DROLET
1.18% - ANDREW BEASLEY

NOTICE: This conditional license was issued based upon the information indicated above and 

submitted on application forms provided by the conditional licensee.  The conditional 

licensee acknowledged and affirmed that the foregoing information was truthful and 

complete in the presence of a notary.  Any changes to the information indicated above must 

be timely reported to the Office of Cannabis Policy and may affect the conditional licensee’s 

licensure status.  A conditional licensee will be required, at a minimum, to obtain a new local 

authorization based upon any changes to the entity ownership structure listed above. 

Page 2 of 2 for AMF1306 



DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE AND FINANCIAL SERVICES

OFFICE OF CANNABIS POLICY

MAINE ADULT USE CANNABIS PROGRAM

This certifies that

GREEN TRUCK FARMS 6, LLC 
License Number  AMS1313

has been issued a CONDITIONAL license as an 

ADULT USE CANNABIS STORE

 under 28-B MRS. This does NOT permit the licensee to engage in any activity.

NOTE: THIS IS NOT AN ACTIVE LICENSE

To make a complaint about this licensed Adult Use Cannabis Establishment:

Email: Licensing.OCP@maine.gov

Issued on:

January 24, 2023

Expires on:

January 23, 2024

John Hudak,Director

OFFICE OF CANNABIS POLICY

MAINE ADULT USE CANNABIS 

PROGRAM

Page 1 of 2 for AMS1313 



The Conditional License for AMS1313 has been issued based on the

following organizational structure:

Principals:
JOSHUA J. SEYMOUR, MANAGER

Owners:
81.17% - JOSHUA SEYMOUR
17.65% - DAVIS DROLET
1.18% - ANDREW BEASLEY

NOTICE: This conditional license was issued based upon the information indicated above and 

submitted on application forms provided by the conditional licensee.  The conditional 

licensee acknowledged and affirmed that the foregoing information was truthful and 

complete in the presence of a notary.  Any changes to the information indicated above must 

be timely reported to the Office of Cannabis Policy and may affect the conditional licensee’s 

licensure status.  A conditional licensee will be required, at a minimum, to obtain a new local 

authorization based upon any changes to the entity ownership structure listed above. 

Page 2 of 2 for AMS1313 



DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE AND FINANCIAL SERVICES

OFFICE OF CANNABIS POLICY

MAINE ADULT USE CANNABIS PROGRAM

This certifies that

GREEN TRUCK FARMS 7, LLC 
License Number  AMS1272

has been issued a CONDITIONAL license as an 

ADULT USE CANNABIS STORE

 under 28-B MRS. This does NOT permit the licensee to engage in any activity.

NOTE: THIS IS NOT AN ACTIVE LICENSE

To make a complaint about this licensed Adult Use Cannabis Establishment:

Email: Licensing.OCP@maine.gov

Issued on:

June 14, 2022

Expires on:

June 13, 2023

Erik Gundersen,Director

OFFICE OF CANNABIS POLICY

MAINE ADULT USE CANNABIS 

PROGRAM

Page 1 of 2 for AMS1272 



The Conditional License for AMS1272 has been issued based on the

following organizational structure:

Principals:
JOSHUA J. SEYMOUR, MANAGER

Owners:
81.17% - JOSHUA SEYMOUR
17.65% - DAVIS DROLET
1.18% - ANDREW BEASLEY

NOTICE: This conditional license was issued based upon the information indicated above 

and submitted on application forms provided by the conditional licensee.  The conditional 

licensee acknowledged and affirmed that the foregoing information was truthful and 

complete in the presence of a notary.  Any changes to the information indicated above must 

be timely reported to the Office of Cannabis Policy and may affect the conditional licensee’s 

licensure status.  A conditional licensee will be required, at a minimum, to obtain a new local 

authorization based upon any changes to the entity ownership structure listed above. 

Page 2 of 2 for AMS1272 





Waste Management Plan
89 Route 236

Kittery, Maine 03904

This business will conduct Adult-use retail sales only and there will not be any marijuana waste

produced from any production, cultivation, manufacturing or packaging related activities in any

portion of the building at this time. All waste cannabis products or customer product returns

which need to be disposed of must be done in accordance with the State of Maine Office of

Cannabis Policy, Section 691-1-8 Waste Management.

“A cannabis plant, cannabis, trim and other plant material in itself is not considered hazardous

waste unless it is toxic, flammable or a listed waste subject to regulation under Department of

Environmental Protection rule Chapter 850.B. Non-hazardous cannabis waste that is to be

disposed of must be rendered unusable prior to leaving a cannabis establishment by one of the

following methods:

(1) Grinding and incorporating the cannabis waste with other ground materials so the resulting

mixture is at least fifty percent non-cannabis waste by volume, including: (a) Food waste; (b)

Yard waste; or (c) Other wastes approved by the Department.

(2) Using another method approved by the Department and recorded in the licensee's facility

plan of record before implementation.”

All employees will be required to record any non-hazardous waste cannabis products or

customer product returns on a disposal log with their name, date, product and weight and have

the disposal approved by a Manager.

A dumpster coral will be located in the rear parking area within a secured fence. Our staff will
ensure that there is no overfilling of the waste containers and all surrounding areas are kept
free and clear of litter and trash. The dumpster will have a secure cover which will remain
locked at all times and will not be able to be accessed by anyone except staff, management,
ownership or authority with jurisdiction. Security cameras will be installed to record any
activities around the area of waste containers in accordance with the State of Maine Office of
Cannabis Policy, Section 691-1-3-3 Security.



Hiring and Training
89 Route 236

Kittery, Maine 03904

Hiring:

A structured and thorough onboarding program is crucial to developing and retaining long-term

employees The primary goals of our onboarding process are to acclimate, engage, retain the

new employee. It’s important that everyone throughout the company, not only Management,

understands that they have some responsibility for helping to acclimate and engage new hires.

We begin the onboarding process prior to the start date by providing access to all onboarding

documents, company handbook, health and safety handbook, and other company documents

to allow the new hire to familiarize themselves at home and at their convenience. This allows us

to expedite the onboarding paperwork process and provides the new hire with more time to get

acclimated and meet the team on their first day.

We immediately assign an experienced mentor for each new employee to help guide them

through the training process and familiarize them with the company. The mentor is responsible

for introducing the new hire to the other team members and getting them up to speed on the

minucias of the business such as information about operating hours; lunch break schedules;

clocking-in/out; attendance notification; how customer inquiries are handled;  how to contact

team members and managers; how sales are tracked; how the inventory is controlled; and the

company culture, goals and values that we promote throughout our organization.

A formal training program is followed regardless of the new hire’s prior experience in the

industry. The training takes place with a designated Manager who is responsible for providing

clear and consistent information and ensuring successful completion of all steps of the training

program. The training program includes policies and procedures for all aspects of the retail

operations, safety plans, compliance requirements, product knowledge, customer interaction,

POS software, Metrc training if applicable, and more.

A formal review process is conducted with all new hires at 30 and 60 days after hire date to

assess their progress. These meetings provide Management an opportunity to clarify job roles

and performance expectations. The goal of these reviews is to foster continued improved

performance and ensure that the new hire is always experiencing success.

1



Track-and-Trace Training:

The Maine Office of Cannabis Policy has contracted with Metrc LLC to provide Track-and-Trace

services to the State of Maine. The Metrc system will serve as the State’s Inventory Tracking

System, which all adult-use marijuana establishments will be required to use as outlined in

18-691 C.M.R. ch. 1 – Adult Use Marijuana Program. All inventory tracking activities at a

marijuana establishment licensee must be tracked through use of the inventory tracking system.

We are required to have a Track-and-Trace administrator in the Metrc system, who will be

identified during the licensing process in order to complete Metrc credentialing. The

Track-and-Trace administrator will be required to take the new business training course and pass

a comprehension test following its completion.

The new business training course is provided in a webinar-based format to individual licensees

or a small group of licensees. The classes are instructor led and provide a thorough overview of

the core functionality of the Metrc system. These classes are available to any individual with a

valid OCP-issued Individual Identification Card (IIC) and association with a conditional license.

Company policy will require all employees who will be operating in the Metrc system to take the

new business training course to ensure they know how to accurately utilize the system.

2



Odor Control Plan
89 Route 236

Kittery, Maine 03904

This business will conduct Adult-use marijuana retail sales only and will not perform any

marijuana production, cultivation, manufacturing or packaging related activities in any portion

of the building. All marijuana products will enter the building in fully compliant, child-resistant,

and tamper evident packaging.

Our business is customer-facing, so it is crucially important to have a clean, sanitary retail

experience for our customers during every visit and odor is of utmost priority. We intend to run

air purification systems and commercial air fresheners throughout the leased premises. We do

not anticipate any issues with odor remediation due to our cleaning and maintenance practices,

in addition to the sealed packaging of all products in the building.

However, if odor becomes noticeable from the exterior of the building at the premises or at any

adjoining use of the property, we will immediately address it using several methods throughout

the interior of the facility as well as the exterior of the facility, as necessary. We will adopt best

management practices with regards to implementing state-of-the-art technologies in mitigating

marijuana odors such as installing carbon air scrubbers and deodorizers throughout the

building. If necessary, we will also engage an odor remediation company such as Aroma360 ,

which is a company that provides equipment which connects to any existing HVAC system to

resourcefully scent-cover every square inch of a building without the use of residue-creating,

unnatural substances and sprays.

It remains a top priority of ours to ensure that odor is always undetectable from all of our

business operations and we are committed to maintaining that standard.























































 
TOWN OF KITTERY, MAINE 
               SEWER DEPARTMENT 
             200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 
Telephone: (207) 439-4646    Fax: (207) 439-2799    

 
 
 
Green Truck Farm 
89 Route 236 June 20, 2023 
Kittery, ME 03904 
 
RE:Sewer Availability  
 
 
 
 
 
This letter is to confirm that the sewer system and the wastewater treatment facility have the 
capacity and ability to handle the increased flow from the project located at 89 Route 236.  
 
This letter only confirms the sewer department capacity, Impact and Entrance Fees will be 
calculated should the project receive all required approvals. 
 
If you have further questions or concerns, please contact me. 
 
 
Sincerely Yours 
 
Timothy Babkirk 
 
Timothy Babkirk 
Superintendent of Sewer Services 
Town of Kittery 
200 Rogers Rd 
Kittery ME 03904 
1-207-439-4646 
tbabkirk@kitteryme.org 
 

 

 

 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    SEPTEMBER 14, 2023  
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Present: Ethan Bensley, Member, Robert Doyle, Member, Russell White, Member, 
Earldean Wells, Member, Karen Kalmar, Vice Chair, and Dutch Dunkelberger, Chair 
 
Absent: Steve Bellantone, Member 
 
Staff: Max Zakian, Town Planner and Jason Garnham, Director of Planning and 
Development 
 
Advisory:  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
The public may attend the meeting in person or remotely via Zoom. Attendees via Zoom 
will be recognized during the public hearings and public comment portion of the 
meeting. Please note: every effort will be made to make this run smoothly; however, 
some technical difficulties may occur. To register via Zoom visit 
https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_qycXEoK5SLm6FOA1FJDjYg or 
https://www.kitteryme.gov/planning-board. 
Public comment and opinion are welcome during this meeting. However, comments and 
opinions related to development projects currently being reviewed by the Planning 
Board will be heard only during a scheduled public hearing when all interested parties 
have the opportunity to participate. Those providing comment must state clearly their 
name and address, and record it in writing at the podium. Further, the public may submit 
written public comments via email, US Mail, or by hand delivery to Town Hall. Emailed 
comments should be sent to mzakian@kitteryme.org. Comments received by noon on 
the day of the meeting will become part of the public record and may be read in whole 
or in summary by the Planning Board or Town Staff. 
 
There being no public comments, the Chair closed the public comments. 
 
OLD BUSINESS – 

https://www.kitteryme.gov/planning-board
mailto:mzakian@kitteryme.org


TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    SEPTEMBER 14, 2023  
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

 
3:36 
ITEM 1 – 89 Route 236 – Site Plan Modification and Marijuana Business – Final 
Review 
Action: Approve final plan or continue review. Joshua Seymour of JD Investments, LLC, 
represented by Mike Sudak of Attar Engineering, proposes to change use of portion of 
existing commercial building to adult-use marijuana retail and extend sewer main to 
serve the subject property. Applicant also proposes to construct parking improvements 
that were approved by the Planning Board in 2021. Property address 89 Route 236; 
identified as Tax Map 28, Lot 14-2, located in C-2 Commercial zoning district. 
 
Ken Wood, Attar Engineering, presented the plan.  
Discussion ensued briefly on sewer line and wetland impact statements. 
 
Vice Chair Kalmar moved to approve the plan. Seconded by Mr. White.  
Mr. Bensley asked the applicant about the turn lane. 
The motion passed 5-0-1, with Ms. Wells abstaining. 
Mr. Bensley read the findings of fact into record. The Board moved to approve 
each finding, 6-0-0. The Board moved to approve, 5-0-1 with Ms. Wells abstaining. 
 
16:35 
ITEM 2 – 120 US Route 1—Site Plan — Preliminary Review 
Action: Hold Public Hearing. Approve preliminary plan or continue review Nicole 
Duquette, on behalf of owner/applicant Kittery Circle LLC, is proposing to re-develop the 
site of a former gas station into a hotel with 102 rooms and associated parking and 
utilities. The proposed hotel is located on the properties of 112 & 120 US Route 1 
Bypass and 139 Old Post Road, Map 14 Lots 10, 12, & 12A, in the C-3 (Bypass/Old 
Post Road Commercial) Zone. 
 
Nicole Duquette, GPI, presented the project and informed the Board of changes to the 
plan.  
Jeffrey Dirk, Vanasse & Associates, Inc., discussed the traffic study comments.  
The Board discussed impervious surface and parking. 
Chair Dunkelberger opened the public hearing. 
Public comment was heard from: Sandy Winter, 128 Old Post Rd.; Rosemary 
Charlesworth; Debbie Driscoll; and Bob Gray, Manson Rd. 
Chair Dunkelberger closed the public hearing.  
Ms. Duquette responded to the public comments.  
Discussion ensued on zoning, The Comprehensive Plan, and traffic. 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    SEPTEMBER 14, 2023  
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

Mr. White moved to continue the plan. Seconded by Vice Chair Kalmar. The 
motion passed 6-0-0. 
 
The Board took a five-minute recess.  
 
1:33:35 
ITEM 3 – 27 & 29 Wentworth—Site Plan — Preliminary Review 
Action: accept site plan as complete. Schedule site walk/public hearing. Eric Weinrieb, 
on behalf of applicant Madbury Real Estate Ventures, is proposing to convert an 
existing bed and breakfast into two independent inns with a total of 12 rental units each 
and a single innkeeper’s suite. The proposed development is located on the properties 
of 27 & 29 Wentworth Street, Map 9 Lots 37, 38, in the Kittery Foreside (MU-KF) Zone. 
 
Eric Weinrieb, Altus Engineering, presented the project to the Board. 
Vicky Martel, Woodburn & Company, reviewed the landscaping plan. 
Brandon Holben, Winter Holben, reviewed the architecture.  
Discussion ensued on the landscaping, proposed existing remaining infrastructure, 
open space waiver, and innkeeper legal opinion. 
 
Mr. White moved to accept the application as complete. Seconded by Mr. 
Bensley. The motion passed 6-0-0. 
 
Mr. White moved to schedule a site walk on September 19, 2023 at 4:30 PM. 
Seconded by Vice Chair Kalmar. The motion passed 6-0-0. 
 
Mr. White moved to schedule a public hearing on September 28, 2023 at 6 PM. 
Seconded by Ms. Wells. The motion passed 6-0-0. 
 
2:10:50 
ITEM 4 – 163-165 Rogers Road – Conventional Subdivision Plan – Preliminary 
Review  
Action: accept plan as complete or continue review. Schedule site walk/public hearing. 
Rick Chellman, on behalf of applicant Ledge Development LLC, is proposing to merge 
two existing parcels into a single 2.84-acre lot subdivided by unit into five single-family 
residential dwellings, along a shared driveway. The proposed subdivision is located on 
the properties of 163 and 165 Rogers Road, Map 14 Lots 53 & 53-1, in the Residential-
Urban (R-U) Zone. 

 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    SEPTEMBER 14, 2023  
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

Chair Dunkelberger recused himself from the item as he is an abutter to the project. 

Rick Chellman, TND Engineering, presented the project to the Board.  

Discussion on the driveway standards, and septic systems ensued. 

Mr. White moved to accept the application as complete. Seconded by Mr. 
Bensley. The motion passed 5-0-0. 

Mr. White moved to schedule a site walk on October 5, 2023 at 4:30 PM. Seconded 
by Ms. Wells. The motion passed 5-0-0. 

Mr. White moved to schedule a public hearing on October 26, 2023 at 6 PM. 
Seconded by Mr. Bensley. The motion passed 5-0-0. 

 

NEW BUSINESS – 
 
2:28:20 
ITEM 5 – 9 Village Green Drive –Site Plan– Sketch Review 
Action: Accept concept design or continue review:  Erik Saari, on behalf of 
owner/applicant MWC Holdings LLC, is proposing to develop a 5-unit housing complex, 
4 of which will be mixed-use, on the property of 9 Village Green Drive, Map 8 Lot 41 A-
1, in the Business Local (B-L) Zone. 
 
Erik Saari, Altus Engineering, presented the project to the Board.  
Discussion ensued briefly on the mixed-use buildings, heated driveway, garages, 
abutter, height allowances, grade and ledge, emergency power system, stormwater 
management, and sidewalk modification. 
 
Mr. White moved to accept the plan as complete. Seconded by Vice Chair Kalmar. 
The motion passed 6-0-0. 
 
2:43:45 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
ITEM 6 – August 24, 2023 Meeting Minutes 
Line 68: change “to” to “before the” 
Line 104: replace “needs to be replaced in perpetuity” with “should state that all 
plantings will be replaced into perpetuity”. 
Mr. White moved to approve the minutes as amended. Seconded by Vice Chair 
Kalmar. The motion passed 6-0-0. 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    SEPTEMBER 14, 2023  
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

5 | P a g e  
 

 
2:45:50 
BOARD MEMBER ITEMS-  
 
Subcommittee reports  
Chair Dunkelberger gave an update from the Climate Adaptation Committee.  
Mr. White gave an update from the Diversity Committee.  
Vice Chair Kalmar gave an update from KLIC. 
 
2:47:33 
STAFF MEMBER ITEMS-  
 
ITEM 7 – Planning Academy Workshop 

Mr. Garnham informed the Board of an upcoming workshop. 
 
ITEM 8 – LD 2003 zoning amendments: committee draft version and pending workshop. 

Mr. Garnham gave an overview of the item.  
 
2:58:17 
Adjournment 
 
Vice Chair Kalmar moved to adjourn. Seconded by Mr. White. The motion passed 
6-0-0. 
 
The Kittery Planning Board meeting of September 14, 2023 adjourned at 8:58 p.m. 
 
Submitted by Carrie Varao, Development Staff Clerk on September 21, 2023.  
 
Disclaimer:  The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting.  
Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the 
minutes are not intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a 
summary of the discussion and actions that took place.  For complete details, please 
refer to the video of the meeting on the Town of Kittery website at 
http://www.townhallstreams.com/locations/kittery-maine.   

http://www.townhallstreams.com/locations/kittery-maine


TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    JUNE 8, 2023  
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Present: Steve Bellantone, Member, Earldean Wells, Member, Russell White, Member, 
Ethan Bensley, Member, Robert Doyle, Member, Karen Kalmar, Vice Chair, and Dutch 
Dunkelberger, Chair  
 
Absent:  
 
Staff: Max Zakian, Town Planner and Jason Garnham, Director of Planning 
 
Advisory:  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
The public may attend the meeting in person or remotely via Zoom. Attendees via Zoom 
will be recognized during the public hearings and public comment portion of the 
meeting. Please note: every effort will be made to make this run smoothly; however, 
some technical difficulties may occur. To register via Zoom visit 
https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_qycXEoK5SLm6FOA1FJDjYg or at 
https://www.kitteryme.gov/planning-board 
 
Public comment and opinion are welcome during this meeting. However, comments and 
opinions related to development projects currently being reviewed by the Planning 
Board will be heard only during a scheduled public hearing when all interested parties 
have the opportunity to participate. Those providing comment must state clearly their 
name and address, and record it in writing at the podium. Further, the public may submit 
written public comments via email, US Mail, or by hand delivery to Town Hall. Emailed 
comments should be sent to mzakian@kitteryme.org. Comments received by noon on 
the day of the meeting will become part of the public record and may be read in whole 
or in summary by the Planning Board or Town Staff. 
 
There being no public comments, the Chair closed the public comments. 
 

https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_qycXEoK5SLm6FOA1FJDjYg
https://www.kitteryme.gov/planning-board
mailto:mzakian@kitteryme.org


TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    JUNE 8, 2023  
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

OLD BUSINESS –  
3:33 
ITEM 1 – 89 Route 236 – Site Plan Modification and Marijuana Business Review 
Action: hold public hearing. Vote on preliminary decision or continue review. Joshua 
Seymour of JD Investments, LLC, represented by Mike Sudak of Attar Engineering, 
proposes to change use of portion of existing commercial building to adult-use 
marijuana retail and extend sewer main to serve the subject property. Applicant also 
proposes to construct parking improvements that were approved by the Planning Board 
in 2021. Property address 89 Route 236; identified as Tax Map 28, Lot 14-2, located in 
C-2 Commercial zoning district. 
 
Mike Sudak, Attar Engineering presented the project and gave an overview. 
 
Chair Dunkelberger opened the public hearing. 
Public comment was heard from James Folan, 25 Morgan Court.  
Mr. Zakian reviewed the issues presented in the written comments from Mr. Folan. 
Mr. Sudak responded to Mr. Folan’s comments. Mr. Garnham and Mr. Seymour 
responded to questions and comments. 
The traffic study was reviewed briefly. 
Mr. Zakian read the State statutes to the Board.  
Chair Dunkelberger closed the public hearing.  
Comments were heard from the Board, including discussion on stormwater, erosion 
control, landscaping, lighting, removal of existing septic or contaminated fill, and traffic. 
The Board requested a peer review of the traffic impact analysis study. 
 
Mr. White moved to approve the site plan. Seconded by Vice Chair Kalmar. The 
motion passed 7-0-0. 
 
NEW BUSINESS-  
 
1:06:42 
ITEM 2 – 120 Route 1 Bypass – Hotel Site Plan – Sketch Plan Review 
Action: accept sketch plan or continue review. Engineer Nicole Duquette, on behalf of 
owner/applicant Kittery Circle LLC, is proposing to re-develop the site of a former gas 
station into a hotel with 102 rooms and associated parking and utilities. The proposed 
hotel is located on the properties of 112 & 120 US Route 1 Bypass and 139 Old Post 
Road, Map 14 Lots 10, 12, & 12A, in the C-3 (Bypass/Old Post Road Commercial) 
Zone. 
 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    JUNE 8, 2023  
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

Ms. Duquette presented the project to the Board and reviewed the plans.  
The Board asked various questions. Discussion ensued on curb cuts, extended stay 
definition, landscaping, headlight glare, DOT pavement, maximum setbacks, traffic 
impacts, and sidewalks. 
 
Mr. White moved to accept the sketch plan. Seconded by Vice Chair Kalmar. The 
motion passed 7-0-0. 
 
1:26:27 
ITEM 3 – 85 Route 1 Bypass – Hotel Site Plan – Sketch Plan Review 
Action: accept sketch plan or continue review. Engineer Ian MacKinnon, on behalf of 
owner/applicant Kamlesh Patel, is proposing to demolish the site of a previously existing 
hotel and redevelop the parcel with a new 107 room, 4-story hotel. The proposed hotel 
is located on the property of 85 US Route 1 Bypass, Map 7 Lot 26, in the C-3 
(Bypass/Old Post Road Commercial) Zone. 
 
Mr. MacKinnon, Jones & Beach Engineers Inc., presented the project to the Board. He 
corrected the owner name, to read “Rohit Patel”. Mr. MacKinnon reviewed the plans 
with the Board.  
The Board asked various questions and discussion ensued regarding: state and local 
laws, swimming pool removal, stormwater mitigation, sewer pump station and lines, 
water supply, hotel branding, outstanding issues from the fire, and acreage 
inconsistencies. 
Mr. Patel spoke to the Board regarding the state laws and the fire.  
 
Mr. White moved to accept the sketch plan. Seconded by Mr. Bensley. The motion 
passed 7-0-0. 
 
2:13:15 
ITEM 4 – 23 Bond Road – Shoreland Development Plan Review 
Action: Accept or deny application. Approve or deny plan: Pursuant to §16.9.3 
Shoreland Development Review of the Town of Kittery Land Use and Development 
Code, Ryan McCarthy of Tidewater Civil Engineering & Surveying Inc, on behalf of 
Touchdown Capital LLC, requests approval for the demolition and reconstruction of a 
house and garage/guest house, new septic system, and associated 
walkways/driveways on the property of 23 Bond Road, Tax Map 25, Lot 9, in the 
Residential-Kittery Point Village (R-KPV), Shoreland Overlay Zone (OZ-SL-250’), and 
Resource Protection Zone (OZ-RP). 
 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    JUNE 8, 2023  
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

Mr. McCarthy presented the project to the Board. He reviewed the plans and the details 
of the project.   
Discussion with the Board continued on building heights, the cabin, and tree removal. 
 
Mr. White moved to accept the application. Seconded by Vice Chair Kalmar. The 
motion passed 7-0-0. 
Vice Chair Kalmar moved to schedule a site walk on Monday, June 19th at 9 AM. 
Seconded by Mr. White. The motion passed 7-0-0. 
Vice Chair Kalmar moved to schedule the public hearing on Thursday, June 22nd 
at 6 PM. Seconded by Mr. White. The motion passed 7-0-0. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
2:31:33 
ITEM 5 – May 25, 2023 Meeting Minutes 
 
Vice Chair Kalmar moved to approve the minutes as written. Seconded by Mr. 
Bellantone. The motion passed 6-0-1, with Mr. White abstaining. 
 
BOARD MEMBER ITEMS-  
2:32:22 
Subcommittee reports  
 
2:33:19 
Adjournment 
 
Vice Chair Kalmar moved to adjourn. Seconded by Mr. White. The motion passed 
7-0-0. 
 
The Kittery Planning Board meeting of June 8, 2023 adjourned at 8:33 p.m. 
 
Submitted by Carrie Varao, Development Staff Clerk on June 13, 2023.  
 
Disclaimer:  The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting.  
Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the 
minutes are not intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a 
summary of the discussion and actions that took place.  For complete details, please 
refer to the video of the meeting on the Town of Kittery website at 
http://www.townhallstreams.com/locations/kittery-maine.   

http://www.townhallstreams.com/locations/kittery-maine


TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    MAY 11, 2023  
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

CALL TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Present: Steve Bellantone, Member, Earldean Wells, Member, Russell White, Member, 
Karen Kalmar, Vice Chair, Robert Doyle, Member, and Dutch Dunkelberger, Chair  
 
Absent: Ethan Bensley, Member 
 
Staff: Jason Garnham, Director of Planning and Max Zakian, Town Planner 
 
Advisory:  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
The public may attend the meeting in person or remotely via Zoom. Attendees via Zoom 
will be recognized during the public hearings and public comment portion of the 
meeting. Please note: every effort will be made to make this run smoothly; however, 
some technical difficulties may occur. To register via Zoom visit 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88326455329?pwd=MklnVnF2TitkR1FIb0tnN1JGUXFrQT09 
or at https://www.kitteryme.gov/planning-board 
 
Public comment and opinion are welcome during this meeting. However, comments and 
opinions related to development projects currently being reviewed by the Planning 
Board will be heard only during a scheduled public hearing when all interested parties 
have the opportunity to participate. Those providing comment must state clearly their 
name and address, and record it in writing at the podium. Further, the public may submit 
written public comments via email, US Mail, or by hand delivery to Town Hall. Emailed 
comments should be sent to jgarnham@kitteryme.org. Comments received by noon on 
the day of the meeting will become part of the public record and may be read in whole 
or in summary by the Planning Board or Town Staff. 
 
There being no public comments, the Chair closed the public comments. 
 
NEW BUSINESS-  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88326455329?pwd=MklnVnF2TitkR1FIb0tnN1JGUXFrQT09
https://www.kitteryme.gov/planning-board
mailto:jgarnham@kitteryme.org


TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    MAY 11, 2023  
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

 
3:20 
ITEM 1 – 6 Goodwin Rd– Shoreland Development Plan Review 
Action: approve plan and Findings of Fact or continue review. Pursuant to §16.9.3 
Shoreland Development Review of the Town of Kittery Land Use and Development 
Code, Engineer Ryan McCarthy, on behalf of owner/applicants John and Laurel 
Gourville, request approval for the replacement of an existing non-conforming septic 
system and wastewater disposal field and replacement of a granite stairway leading to a 
pier. The project would include removing and rebuilding a pre-existing 12’ x 20’ deck, on 
top of a new retaining wall, within the base zone setback of the Shoreland Overlay Zone 
located on the property of 6 Goodwin Road, Tax Map 58. Lot 11, in the Residential-
Rural Conservation (R-RC) and Shoreland Overlay Zone (OZ-SL-250’). 
 
Ryan McCarthy, Tidewater Engineering presented to plan to the Board.  
The Board asked various questions. Discussion ensued briefly on the retaining wall, 
foundations, vegetation removal, and de-vegetation area.  
 
Mr. White moved to accept the plan. Seconded by Vice Chair Kalmar. The motion 
passed 6-0-0. 
 
Vice Chair Kalmar read the findings of fact into record. The Board moved to 
approve each finding, 6-0-0. The Board moved to approve the plan by roll call 
vote, 6-0-0. 
 
26:45 
ITEM 2 – 89 Route 236 – Site Plan Modification and Marijuana Business Review 
Action: review submission for completeness, schedule public hearing, or continue 
review. Joshua Seymour of JD Investments, LLC, represented by Mike Sudak (Ken 
Wood) of Attar Engineering, proposes to change use of portion of existing commercial 
building to adult-use marijuana retail and extend sewer main to serve the subject 
property. Applicant also proposes to construct parking improvements that were 
approved by the Planning Board in 2021. Property address 89 Route 236; identified as 
Tax Map 28, Lot 14-2, located in C-2 Commercial zoning district. 
 
Ken Wood, Attar Engineering, introduced the applicant, Joshua Seymour. Mr. Seymour 
presented his business to the Board.  
Mr. Wood presented the plans to the Board. Discussion ensued briefly on parking, 
crosswalks, sewer and gas lines. 
The Board discussed dates for a site walk and public hearing. 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    MAY 11, 2023  
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

Mr. White moved to accept the plan. Seconded by Mr. Bellantone. The motion 
passed 6-0-0. 
 
Mr. White moved to schedule a site walk on May 22, 2023 at 5 PM. Seconded by 
Seconded by Mr. Bellantone. The motion passed 6-0-0. 
 
Mr. White moved to schedule a public hearing on June 8, 2023 at 6 PM. Seconded 
by Mr. Bellantone. The motion passed 6-0-0.  
 
41:35 
ITEM 3 – 77 Bartlett Rd, Subdivision Sketch Plan Review 
Action: accept sketch plan or continue review. Engineer Michael Tadema-Wielandt, on 
behalf of owner/applicant Geoff Bowley, is proposing to divide a 19.11-acre parcel into a 
conservation subdivision of 9 single-family residential building lots, a private street 
system, and an open space plot around identified wetlands, vernal pools, and a pre-
existing cemetery. Proposed subdivision is located on the property of 77 Bartlett Road, 
Map 62 Lot 26, in the Residential-Rural (R-RL) and Resource Protection Overlay (OZ-
RP) Zones. 
 
Mr. Tadema-Wielandt presented the project to the Board. He reviewed the plans and 
the two types of subdivision.  
Discussion ensued briefly on the road, sidewalks, snow storage, vernal pools, 
stonewalls, building envelopes, septic, no-cut buffers, and utilities. 
 
Mr. White moved to accept the sketch plan as complete. Seconded by Vice Chair 
Kalmar. The motion passed 6-0-0. 
 
1:00:20 
ITEM 4 – Business Park Zoning Amendments 
Action: schedule public hearing: Moratorium on permit applications in former 
Neighborhood Mixed Use zoning district expires August 8. Draft revisions to 
Neighborhood Mixed Use zoning standards are under development, pending 
implementation of a public engagement plan. Formal adoption of Business Park zoning 
standards and Zoning Map is recommended during the interim to ensure consistency, 
predictability, and fairness for property owners and residents. 
 
The Board and Mr. Garnham discussed the zoning map and amendment briefly.  
 



TOWN OF KITTERY, Maine    APPROVED  
PLANNING BOARD MEETING    MAY 11, 2023  
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

Mr. White moved the schedule a public hearing on May 25, 2023 at 6 PM. 
Seconded by Vice Chair Kalmar. The motion passed 6-0-0. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
1:07:50 
ITEM 5 – April 27, 2023 Meeting Minutes 
 
Vice Chair Kalmar moved to approve the minutes as written. Seconded by Mr. 
White. The motion passed 6-0-0. 
 
1:08:16 
BOARD MEMBER ITEMS-  
 
Subcommittee reports  
Mr. White updated the Board on the Housing Committee.  
 
Planning Board 2023 Goals discussion, continued 
 
Mr. Garnham updated the Board on the septic system on Gooseberry Island in regards 
to a zoning amendment petition. 
 
1:14:20 
Adjournment 
 
Vice Chair Kalmar moved to adjourn. Seconded by Mr. White. The motion passed 
6-0-0. 
 
The Kittery Planning Board meeting of May 11, 2023 adjourned at 7:14 p.m. 
 
Submitted by Carrie Varao, Development Staff Clerk on May 18, 2023.  
 
Disclaimer:  The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting.  
Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the 
minutes are not intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a 
summary of the discussion and actions that took place.  For complete details, please 
refer to the video of the meeting on the Town of Kittery website at 
http://www.townhallstreams.com/locations/kittery-maine.   

http://www.townhallstreams.com/locations/kittery-maine










 
TOWN OF KITTERY, MAINE 
               SEWER DEPARTMENT 
             200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 
Telephone: (207) 439-4646    Fax: (207) 439-2799    

 
 
 
Green Truck Farm 
89 Route 236 June 20, 2023 
Kittery, ME 03904 
 
RE:Sewer Availability  
 
 
 
 
 
This letter is to confirm that the sewer system and the wastewater treatment facility have the 
capacity and ability to handle the increased flow from the project located at 89 Route 236.  
 
This letter only confirms the sewer department capacity, Impact and Entrance Fees will be 
calculated should the project receive all required approvals. 
 
If you have further questions or concerns, please contact me. 
 
 
Sincerely Yours 
 
Timothy Babkirk 
 
Timothy Babkirk 
Superintendent of Sewer Services 
Town of Kittery 
200 Rogers Rd 
Kittery ME 03904 
1-207-439-4646 
tbabkirk@kitteryme.org 
 

 

 

 





TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 
 
 

REPORT TO TOWN COUNCIL 
 

Date: June 27, 2022 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

Subject: Petition for Sewer Extension – 89 Route 236, Map 28 Lot 14-2 

Councilor Sponsor: N/A 
 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The owner of Aroma Joe’s Coffee, located at 89 Route 236, Map 28 Lot 14.2, is seeking approval to 
extend the sewer main approximately 456 feet north along Route 236 from its proposed terminus for the 
carwash, at Mackenzie Lane.  The extension is being pursued in accordance with Title 13.1.4. 
 
The Council approved a petition for a sewer extension, by owner, to Mackenzie Lane in April of 2021. 
 
Given certain conditions and considerations, this extension can be beneficial to the business and the 
Town.  The conditions and considerations would include that the applicant have approval from the 
property owner, JD Investments, LLC, that the applicant pay for the project directly, that the project meet 
all of the town’s design and performance standards for a public sewer main, and that the main be turned 
over to the Town upon completion, among other terms. 
 
PROPOSED EXTENSION 
The applicant is interested in abandoning their septic system in the near future and connecting to the 
sewer main.  There are currently no site plan applications before the Planning Board for this property. 
 
The Town has no plans to undertake a sewer expansion project at this time.  In accordance with Title 13, 
the applicant is exercising their right to seek an expansion at their own expense through a petition to the 
Council. 
 
The proposed extension would impact one additional parcel along the proposed extension.  The parcel is 
owned by Central Maine Power and is not presently subject to the connection requirement, due to a lack 
of buildings or septic on the parcel.  If the parcel is developed in the future, it may be required to connect 
to the sewer main. 
 
There is sufficient capacity in the collection and treatment infrastructure to accept the wastewater 
produced by the applicant (current and anticipated future uses).  The proposal does not negatively impact 
capacity of the sewer service.  The proposal does have the potential to add value to the property, enhance 
environmental protections, and increase development opportunities.  
 
If approved, the applicant has indicated they will work directly with the contractor extending the sewer 
main to Mackenzie Lane.  This will ensure the infrastructure is in place prior to Maine DOT’s anticipated 
repaving of Route 236 in the next few years. 
 



MEETING DATE: JUNE 27, 2022 
 

  2  

The proposed extension should be built in accordance with Sewer Department requirements, and sized 
accordingly to accept flow from potential future connections.  The extension will take up valuable real 
estate in the underground utility corridor along Rte. 236 and should therefore be built to a capacity that 
benefits the applicant’s current use and reasonably projected future development. 
 
The proposed extension should be turned over to the Town as a public asset.   The Town will assume all 
ongoing maintenance and replacement costs, and will collect all metered flows through the main in 
perpetuity.  
 
Per Town Attorney, the Town is not obligated to recoup the costs of the installation on behalf of the 
applicant, through a betterment assessment.  The Town is required to assess a betterment; however, this 
can be simply the corresponding change in value that access to a public sewer utility affords.  Typically, 
access to a public sewer utility increases the value of property on average 7% and 10%.   
 
Access to the sewer utility along 236 is generally desirable.  The Town of Eliot’s sewer expansion is not 
intended to connect down Rte. 236 to the Kittery line; therefore, any expansion on Rte. 236 will be solely 
on the Kittery side of the town line.   
 
Approval, if deemed appropriate by the Council, should be made with certain conditions.  Below is a 
proposed draft motion and conditions.   
 
The Council is not required to schedule a public hearing prior to deciding on the petition.  The Council 
may determine a public hearing is not necessary given the that there is only one abutting property owner, 
Central Maine Power, representing a parcel that is currently undeveloped. 

 
PROPOSED SOLUTION/RECOMMENDATION  
The Staff recommend approval of the application, with the following conditions: 

• Applicant must bear the full cost of the design, permitting, and installation of the extension (“the 
project”) and any and all applicable fees (permitting, entrance, impact).  Applicant will not be 
reimbursed for the cost of the extension by the Town or by any applicable benefiting property 
owners. 

• Applicant must build a sewer line to the Town’s existing sewer main, in accordance with design 
and performance standards set by the Sewer Department, and in a manner that supports current 
and potential future development of the benefiting properties. 

• Applicant must legally transfer the assets to the Town within 30 days of the completion of the 
project. 

• Applicable benefited property owners will receive a 90-day notice to connect upon transfer of the 
assets to the Town.  The Town will automatically grant deferrals for any applicable property where 
their septic system is less than 20-years old per Title 13; however, applicable abutting benefited 
properties must be permitted to connect to the project during construction, if they so desire.  
Those qualifying for an exemption will be notified accordingly. (Note: no applicable benefited 
properties associated with this expansion petition) 

• Applicable benefited property owners will be advised that they can file for an appeal with the 
Council to defer connection until failure of the septic system, if the property is unable to connect 
via gravity flow.  (Note: no applicable benefited properties associated with this expansion petition) 

• The property owner of record must agree, in writing, for the property to be connected to the sewer 
system, and must agree in writing to the abandonment of the on-site septic system upon 
connection.  

 



MEETING DATE: JUNE 27, 2022 
 

  3  

ATTACHMENTS 
• Petition for Sewer Extension 
• Capacity Confirmation from Sewer Department 
• Map of petitioned expansion 
• Title 13.4 – Main Extensions 



 
 
 
 

Letter to the Town Council of Kittery, ME 
06/15/2022 

 
 

From: 
Maryna Shuliakouskaya  
Business Address: 89 Rt. 236, Kittery, ME 03904 
Home Address: 16 Maple Ave., Eliot, ME, 03903 
Cell: 603-502-4407 
Email: Maryna@aromajoes.com 
 
 
To: 
Town Council of Kittery, ME 
200 Rogers Rd., Kittery, ME, 03904 
 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 
 

I’m writing to ask for your support and permission for Aroma Joe’s Coffee, located at 89 
Rt.236, Kittery, to add to the current sewer project, which the town has already approved. The 
city favored a sewer connection for a carwash on a 324,233-SF lot located at the corner of Route 
236 and MacKenzie Lane (Tax Map 28, Lot 25D) in the Commercial Zone (C-2).  

The approximate distance between the carwash and Aroma Joe’s is 400 LF. We don’t 
have any residential sites that might be impacted by this expansion, except for the CMP property.  

Your decision to approve this request will allow Aroma Joe’s to connect to the public 
sewer, as the equipment will already be very close to our site to do the work for the carwash. 
Furthermore, while the project will be expensive for us anyway, on-site equipment will 
substantially reduce the cost. Lastly, it might provide opportunities for other local business 
owners to expand that sewer line even further and benefit the local community. 

 
 
Thank you so much for your help and consideration, 
 
 



 

TOWN OF KITTERY, MAINE 
               SEWER DEPARTMENT 
             200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 
Telephone: (207) 439-4646    Fax: (207) 439-2799    

 
 
Maryna Shuliakouskaya 
Aroma Joe’s 
89 Route 236, June 15, 2022 
Kittery, ME 03904 
 
RE:Sewer Availability  
 
 
 
 
Maryna, 
This letter is to confirm that, if your proposed sewer line expansion for your project, located at 
89 Route 236, is approved the sewer system (piping and pumping stations) and the treatment 
facility has the capacity and ability to handle the increased flow.  
 
 
 
If you have further questions or concerns, please contact me. 
 
 
Sincerely Yours 
 

Timothy Babkirk 
 
Timothy Babkirk 
Superintendent of Sewer Services 
Town of Kittery 
200 Rogers Rd 
Kittery ME 03904 
1-207-439-4646 
tbabkirk@kitteryme.org 
 

 

 



Sewer Exp Petition
Kittery, ME

June 22, 2022
®

www.cai-tech.com0 137 274 411

Data shown on this map is provided for planning and informational purposes only. The municipality and CAI Technologies are not responsible for any use for other purposes or misuse or misrepresentation of this map.

1 inch = 137 Feet



ARTICLE IV
Main Extensions

§ 13.1.4.1. Council's authority to make changes, extensions.

The Town Council may make such changes and extensions as it deems necessary for the
best interests of the public.

§ 13.1.4.2. Extensions generally.

§ 13.1.4.3. Assessment.

A. Petitions for extensions. Any person and/or persons may petition to the Town
Council for extension or extensions they propose, which petition must be voted
upon by the Council.

B. Authority to make assessments for costs of extensions. The Town Council has the
power to make assessments for the costs of any extensions it approves. The council
may also establish such rates for entrance and other charges for the use of said
sewage system against the owners of the property served by said system or to which
such service is available as it may deem necessary to help defray cost of
maintaining and operating system.

C. Construction by property owner, builder or developer. If the Town does not elect to
construct a sewer extension under public contract, the property owner, builder or
developer may construct the necessary sewer extension if such extension is
approved by the Town Council. The person(s) must pay for the entire installation,
including all expenses incidental thereto. Each building sewer must be installed and
inspected as previously required in Article III of this chapter and the inspection fees
paid. The design and construction specifications must bear the signed approval of
the Superintendent prior to construction.

A. Determination of benefits. When the sewer line construction has been completed,
the municipal officers shall determine what lots or parcels of land, with or without
structures thereon, are benefited by said sewer line and estimate and assess upon
said lots or parcels of land, and against the record owner or owners thereof or
against a person against whom the taxes thereon are assessed, a sum not exceeding
the benefit the municipal officers deem fair and equitable towards defraying the
expenses of said sewer construction together with any sewage disposal units and
appurtenances that may be necessary for the proper operation of said sewer line.

B. Definitions. For the purposes of this article, the following definitions apply:

ASSESSED PARCEL — A benefited property included in an adopted assessment
plan obliging payment of an assessment fee.

BENEFITED PARCEL — A property which has gained direct access to a sewer
main extension via frontage or an existing public right-of-way less than 100 feet
distant, whether gravity flow is readily achievable or not.

§ 13.1.4.1 § 13.1.4.3

:1

kamaral
Highlight

kamaral
Highlight



DWELLING UNIT — A room or group of rooms forming a habitable unit for
one family with facilities used or intended to be used for living, sleeping, cooking,
eating, and sanitary facilities. It comprises at least 650 square feet of habitable floor
space and includes any subcategory definition of dwelling as found in Title 16,
§ 16.2.2 (e.g., inn, accessory dwelling unit).

PER DWELLING UNIT — The basis of calculation of the number of dwelling
units for residences assessed in an adopted sewer main extension assessment plan
or to be assessed for a sewer special entrance connection fee.

PER UNIT OF OCCUPANCY — The basis of calculation of the number of
occupied units for nonresidential structures assessed in an adopted sewer main
extension assessment plan or to be assessed for a sewer special entrance connection
fee.

UNASSESSED PARCEL — Those parcels of property that were not benefited or
assessed when sewer main extension assessments were made; and those parcels that
were thereafter found not benefited by such sewers and therefore not subject to such
assessments.

UNIT OF OCCUPANCY — The category of property use which carries the unit
charge as found in § 13.1.6.5, Sewer impact fee.

C. Limitation on assessment; formula for determining cost. The whole of the
assessments may not exceed 1/2 the cost of the entire project contract price of
constructing and completing the sewer line, including all necessary appurtenances
and sewage disposal units. The Town Council shall devise and utilize a formula for
determining the fair and equitable cost to the owner or owners of land so benefited.

D. Responsibility for sewer lines. The municipality is responsible for such sewer lines
after construction and shall thereafter maintain and keep the same in good repair.

E. Record of location of sewer line; notification of owner.

(1) The municipal officers shall file with the Clerk of the Town the location of the
sewer line and sewage disposal units and appurtenances, with a profile
description of the same and a statement of the amount assessed upon each lot
or parcel of land so assessed and the name of the owner of the lots or parcels
of land or person against whom the assessment is made.

(2) The Clerk of the Town is to record the assessment in a book kept for that
purpose, and within 10 days after filing notice, each person so assessed is to
be notified of the assessment by having an authentic copy of the assessment,
with an order of notice signed by the Clerk of the Town stating the time and
place for a hearing upon the subject matter of the assessments, given to each
person so assessed or left at their usual place of abode in the Town.

(3) If a person has no place of abode in the Town, then the notice may be given or
left at the abode of their tenant or lessee, if the person has one in the Town; if
the person has no tenant or lessee in the Town, then by posting the notice in
some conspicuous place in the vicinity of the lot or parcel of land so assessed

§ 13.1.4.3 § 13.1.4.3

:2



§ 13.1.4.4. Collection of assessments and charges.

at least 30 days before the hearing. The notice may be given by publishing it
three weeks successively in any newspaper published in the Town, the first
publication to be at least 30 days before the hearing.

(4) A return made upon a copy of the notice by any constable in the Town or the
production of the paper containing the notice is conclusive evidence that the
notice was given; and upon the hearing, the municipal officers have power to
revise, increase or diminish any of the assessments, and any revisions, increase
or diminution is to be in writing and recorded by the Clerk.

F. Farmland and open space land exempt from assessment.

(1) Land classified and restricted for use for agricultural, forest/woodland, open
space or wildlife habitat purposes, as defined by 36 M.R.S. § 1102, is exempt
from the assessment provided in §13.1.4.3 when no benefits are derived from
the common sewer or drain. Owners of such qualified land must notify the
municipal officers that their property may qualify for this exception. The
municipal officers are to revise the assessments against such land to exempt it
from assessment. Any revision of assessment provided by this subsection is to
be in writing and recorded by the Clerk.

(2) When the use of the land is changed from farmland, the owner must, within 60
days, notify the Town Council, in writing, of the change. The Town Council
shall assess this land in an amount equal to the assessment which would have
been due but for the provisions of this subsection. The municipality must
notify the owner of the assessment due, which the owner must pay within 60
days of notice or as provided by the Town Council under its authority in 30-A
M.R.S. § 4453.

A. All assessments and charges made pursuant to this article are to be certified by the
municipal officers and filed with the Tax Collector for collection. A facsimile of
the signatures of the municipal officers imprinted at their direction upon any
certification of an assessment or charge under this article has the same validity as
their signatures.

B. The Tax Collector may enter into a written mortgage agreement with the owner(s)
of land so assessed and provide the same with a promissory note and installment
payment plan for the amount of the assessment (“assessment payment plan”). This
assessment payment plan agreement is to provide for payment of said assessment
to the Town over a period not to exceed the shorter of 18 years, or two years shorter
than the Town's bond repayment period for the applicable project, at an interest rate
to be determined by the municipal officers. Such agreement is also to specify the
method of collection in the event that such payment is in default, and, further, the
mortgage agreement is to be recorded by the Town in the York County Registry of
Deeds.

C. Owners with household income less than or equal to 50% of the local area median

§ 13.1.4.3 § 13.1.4.4

:3



§ 13.1.4.5. Materials.

The size and kind of pipe is to be determined by the Department in accordance with
conditions surrounding the extension, including the possibility of future extensions or
additions, and must conform to all state and local regulations.

family income, as determined annually by the United States Department of Housing
and Urban Development and varied by household size, may request deferral of
payment of the assessment without penalty or additional interest incurred for the
period of eligibility. Should the Tax Collector find an owner ineligible under those
provisions, the Tax Collector may enter into a written agreement with the owner
under the same term and terms pursuant to Subsection B above.

D. Should the Tax Collector decline to enter into such payment agreement, aggrieved
owner(s) may appeal the decision to the Board of Appeals pursuant to Chapter 13.2,
Sewer Service Decision Appeals.

E. Payment of the assessment is due in full upon demise of the owner(s); or transfer to
any other owner by gift, assignment, devise, sale, or otherwise, except for:

(1) Transfers to a spouse or joint tenant, living or surviving, provided the
transferee executes a new mortgage agreement, promissory note and
installment payment agreement with the Town.

(2) Transfers to trusts, providing the trustee executes a new mortgage agreement,
promissory note and installment payment agreement with the Town.

(3) Such new agreements to be executed for a period not to exceed the final
payment date of the original agreement.

F. The municipal officers shall annually file with the Tax Collector a list of installment
payments due the municipality under such written agreements with the owner or
owners of land so assessed.

G. If the person so assessed, within 30 days after written notice of the total amount of
such assessment and charges, or annual installment payment and interest, fails,
neglects or refuses to pay such municipality the expense thereby incurred, or fails
to enter into a written agreement as provided herein for payment of the same, or
fails to pay any installment due under a written agreement so entered, then a special
tax in the amount of the total unpaid assessment and charge may be assessed by the
Municipal Assessor upon each and every lot or parcel of land so assessed and
buildings upon the same.

H. Such assessment is to be included in the next annual warrant to the Tax Collector
for collection and collected in the same manner as state, county, and municipal
taxes are collected. Interest at a rate of 12% per year on the unpaid portion of
assessments and charges due the municipality accrues from the 30th day after
written notice to the person assessed and is to be added to and become part of the
special tax when committed to the Tax Collector.

§ 13.1.4.4 § 13.1.4.5

:4



1 | P a g e  
 

KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL Approved Minutes  

June 27, 2022, 6:00PM 

 COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 

1. Call to Order 

Chair Spiller called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

2. Introductory 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Roll Call 

Councilors present: Chair Judith Spiller, Vice Chair George Dow Councilor Cyrus Clark, 
and Councilor Mary Stevens. Councilors absent: Councilor Cameron Hamm, Councilor 
Colin McGuire, and Jeffrey Pelletier. 

5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption 

Chair spiller cast one vote for the agenda as presented. 

6. Town Manager’s Report 

The Town Manager reported on: Kittery Block Party, Freebie Barn Survey, Spruce 
Creek Watershed-Based Management Plan, Joint Land Use Study Implementation – 
Phase 3, Grant Efforts in General, and Finance Director Transition. 
Upcoming Dates: 
BL & BL-1 Affordable Housing Public Discussion is on June 29,2022 at 6PM, via Zoom. 
Council and School Committee Nomination Papers are Available on June 30, 2022 at 
the Town Hall. 
The Senior Tax Credit Applications are due are July 1, 2022 at the Town Hall. 
The Town Hall is closed for Independence Day on July 4, 2022. 
 
7. Acceptance of Previous Minutes - None 

8. Interviews for the Board of Appeals and Planning Board - None 

9. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees or other town 
consultants or requested officials. - None 
 
10. PUBLIC HEARINGS - None 

11. DISCUSSION 

a. Discussion by members of the public (three minutes per person) 
 



2 | P a g e  
 

Celestyne Fisher Bragg, 139 Dennett Road, Kittery expressed her concerns about the 
infrastructure that would be needed if the town added the additional 900 housing units. 
Ms. Bragg also announced that she would be running for Town Council. 
 
b. Response to public comment directed to a particular Councilor 
c. Chairperson’s response to public comments 
 
Chair Spiller responded to Ms. Bragg’s concerns. 
 
12. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

13. NEW BUSINESS 

a. Donations/gifts received for Council disposition 

(060222-1) The Kittery Town Council moves to accept a donation in the amount of 
$244,714.00 from the RPL Corporation to be deposited into the Library Building account 
#4060. 
 
Moved by Councilor Stevens, seconded by Councilor Clark. 
 
Motion Carried 4-0-0 
 
(060222-2) The Kittery Town Council moves to accept a donation in the amount of 
$300.00 from Rosemarie Lesswing to be deposited into the Kittery Community Center 
Giving Tree Fundraiser account #2063. 
 
Moved by Councilor Stevens, seconded by Councilor Clark. 
 
Motion Carried 4-0-0 
 
b. (060222-3) The Kittery Town Council moves to appoint Clayton Smith to the 
Conservation Commission for a three-year term. 
 
Moved by Councilor Stevens, seconded by Vice Chair Dow. 
 
Motion Carried 4-0-0 
 
c. (060222-4) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a petition request from 
Aroma Joe’s Coffee located at 89 Route 236, to extend the Sewer main on Route 236. 
 
The Town Manager gave an overview to extend the Sewer main on Route 236. 
 
Moved by Vice Chair Dow, seconded by Councilor Stevens. 
 
Motion Carried 4-0-0 
 

kamaral
Highlight

kamaral
Highlight



3 | P a g e  
 

14. COUNCILOR ISSUES OR COMMENTS 

Chair Spiller read a letter from Councilor Hamm regarding affordable housing. 

Councilor Stevens stated it was nice having Governor Mills for Kittery’s 375th 

Anniversary, and spoke about General Whipple being a slave owner. 

Vice Chair Dow spoke about the Roe v Wade decision. 

Chair Spiller read the proclamation from the State of Maine, House of Representatives 
and Senate. 

15. COMMITTEE AND OTHER REPORTS 

a. Communications from the Chairperson - None 
b. Committee Reports - None 
 
16. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

17. ADJOURNMENT 

Councilor Stevens moved to adjourn at 6:49 p.m., seconded by Vice Chair Dow. 

All were in favor. 

 

Submitted by Kim Tackett 

Disclaimer: The following minutes constitute the author’s understanding of the meeting. 
Whilst every effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of the information, the 
Minutes are not intended as a verbatim transcript of comments at the meeting, but a 
summary of the discussion and actions that took place. For complete details, please 
refer to the video of the meeting on the Town of Kittery website. 



From: Kathryn P HILL
To: Jillian Richards
Subject: Re: Vital Record Request
Date: Friday, September 29, 2023 1:26:24 PM

Hello Jillian,

I choose the George Smart Santa Fund. 

Thank you,
Kathryn Hill

Sent from my iPhone

On Sep 29, 2023, at 10:17 AM, Jillian Richards <JRichards@kitteryme.org>
wrote:


That is wonderful idea Kathryn! We have a few “accounts” that you could donate to. I
will let you choose.
 
Rice Public Library
Kittery Community Center
Mary Safford Wildes Trust (This is a trust that the Town has had control of for over 30+
years, it is to assist residents of Kittery that may need financial assistance that the State
programs are unable to assist with)
George Smart Santa Fund (This is a annual fund we use to assist families with children
or elderly residents with Christmas funds/gifts)
 

Jillian Richards
Town Clerk
Registrar of Voters
General Assistance Administrator
Town of Kittery
200 Rogers Road
Kittery, ME  03904
207-475-1313  JRichards@kitteryme.org
 

From: Kathryn P HILL <hillkp@verizon.net> 
Sent: Friday, September 29, 2023 10:10 AM
To: Jillian Richards <JRichards@kitteryme.org>
Subject: Re: Vital Record Request
 
Hi Jillian,

mailto:hillkp@verizon.net
mailto:JRichards@kitteryme.org
mailto:JRichards@kitteryme.org


 
Can I make a donation to a Town of Kittery fund with my check? Otherwise you can
shred it for me. 
 
Thanks again,
Mrs. Hill
 

Sent from my iPhone

On Sep 29, 2023, at 3:55 AM, Jillian Richards <JRichards@kitteryme.org>
wrote:


Hi Ms Hill
 
If I remember correctly, we were unable to find the record you were
requesting. In that case I can't deposit the check because we were unable
to produce a certified copy for you. I could either mail the check back or
shred the check. Which ever you would prefer. 
 
Get Outlook for Android

From: Kathryn P HILL <hillkp@verizon.net>
Sent: Thursday, September 28, 2023 10:19:05 PM
To: Jillian Richards <JRichards@kitteryme.org>
Subject: Re: Vital Record Request
 
Dear Jillian,
 
I want you to know that I am in the process of changing my checking
account bank. I expect to close my PNC account by mid-October 2023.
The Town of Kittery has not deposited my check for $15. Please deposit
the check so that it will clear PNC before I close my account.
 
Thank you for your help and dedication in helping people find historic
records.
 
 Kathryn P. Hill
 

On Jun 23, 2023, at 10:45 AM, Jillian Richards
<JRichards@kitteryme.org> wrote:

mailto:JRichards@kitteryme.org
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Faka.ms%2FAAb9ysg&data=05%7C01%7CJRichards%40kitteryme.org%7Cd2bff5b255324cab2e9f08dbc1113278%7C58c6176664c54f4ba0161b0d8f7d9be6%7C0%7C0%7C638316051833772190%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=qnmiMTQC%2FfB8PYEmMXKdvhp6Q8ENMyXPlaSLRdqOzpY%3D&reserved=0
mailto:hillkp@verizon.net
mailto:JRichards@kitteryme.org
mailto:JRichards@kitteryme.org


 
Hi Kathryn
 
I received your vital record request but I can’t seem to find a
birth record for John Fagan here in Kittery. I’ve looked thru
our books from the time period, as well as our card catalog
that we have that goes back to the 1700’s and still nothing. I
have reached out to the surrounding towns in hopes that
maybe he was born in Eliot or South Berwick. I am waiting to
hear back. I didn’t want you to think I didn’t receive your
request. Once I hear back from them I will let you know and
we can take any necessary steps. 
 
Thanks!
 

Jillian Richards
Town Clerk
Registrar of Voters
General Assistance Administrator
Town of Kittery
200 Rogers Road
Kittery, ME  03904
207-475-1313  JRichards@kitteryme.org

 

mailto:JRichards@kitteryme.org


TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 
 
 

REPORT TO TOWN COUNCIL 
 

Date: October 11, 2023 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

CC: Todd Rollins, Chair Shellfish Conservation Committee 

Subject: Shellfish Conservation  

Councilor Sponsor: Chairperson Judy Spiller 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
In a recent review of our updated Shellfish Conservation ordinance, the Division of Marine Resources 
identified a few areas needing correction or adjustment to better align with the state law and DMR 
guidance.   
 
The changes are primarily non-substantive as they either clarify, restate, or remove items associated with 
state law.  In some cases, the amendments address grammatical errors.   
 
The only local-specific change proposed is the addition of a category of license for Nonresident Under 14 
years of age.  We were informed that having a Resident Under 14 license necessitated that we have a 
corresponding nonresident category.   
 
DMR has confirmed that due to the small number of Resident Under 14 licenses allocated, we did not 
need to allocate licenses to the Nonresident Under 14 category.  The Shellfish Conservation Committee is 
not recommending licenses for the 2023-2024 Nonresident Under 14 category.   
 
The Shellfish Conservation Committee has reviewed the proposed changes and recommended adoption at 
their August 9, 2023 meeting.  The proposed revisions were sent to DMR on September 17 for final 
review.  We expect to hear back from them soon. 
 
PROPOSED SOLUTION/RECOMMENDATION  
Approve amendments as proposed. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

 Draft Title 12 – Shellfish Conservation amendments 
 Draft Title 12 – Shellfish Conservation enactment 



DRAFT: October 11, 2023 
 

1 
 

Chapter 12.6  
Shellfish Conservation  

1.  AMEND Chapter 12.6 Shellfish to correct typos and add day licenses as follows: 
§ 12.6.1 Authority.  1 
The ordinance codified in this chapter is enacted in accordance with 12 M.R.S. § 6671. 2 

§ 12.6.2 Purpose.  3 
The purpose of this chapter is to establish a shellfish conservation program for the Town which will ensure 4 
the protection and optimum utilization of shellfish resources within its limits. These goals will be achieved 5 
by means which may include: 6 

A. Licensing;  7 

B. Limiting the number of shellfish harvesters;  8 

C. Restricting the time and area where digging is permitted;  9 

D. Limiting the minimum size of shellfish taken; and  10 

E. Limiting the amount of shellfish taken daily by a harvester.  11 

§ 12.6.3 Definitions.  12 
As used in this chapter, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated: 13 

LOT  14 
The total number of shellfish in any bulk pile. Where shellfish are in a box, barrel or other container, the 15 
contents of each box, barrel or other container constitutes a separate lot. 16 

NONRESIDENT  17 
Anyone who does not quality qualify as a resident under this chapter and is: 18 

a) a property owner in Kittery; or  19 
b) is domiciled in Maine for at least three months as evidenced by a vehicle registration, voter 20 

registration, State of Maine Income Tax return, or other documentation acceptable to the Town 21 
Clerk 22 

POSSESS  23 
Dig, take, harvest, ship, transport, hold, buy and sell retail and wholesale shellfish and shellstock. 24 

RESIDENT  25 
A person who has been domiciled in Kittery for at least three months as evidenced by a vehicle 26 
registration, voter registration, State of Maine Income Tax return, or other documentation acceptable to 27 
the Town Clerk. 28 



DRAFT: October 11, 2023 
 

2 
 

SHELLFISH, CLAMS AND INTERTIDAL SHELLFISH RESOURCES  29 
Clams, quahogs, oysters and mussels and includes shellstock and shucked shellfish.   30 

§ 12.6.4 Municipal shellfish digging license required.  31 
It is unlawful for any person to dig or possess shellfish from the shores and flats of Kittery without having a 32 
current license issued by the Town. 33 

§ 12.6.5 Designation, scope and qualifications.  34 
A. Residential recreational shellfish license. The license is available to residents and entitles the holder to 35 

dig and take possession of no more than one peck of shellfish in any one day for personal use.  36 

B. Nonresident recreational shellfish license. The license is available to any person not a resident and 37 
entitles the holder to dig and possess not more than one peck of shellfish in any one day for personal 38 
use.  39 

C. No person may dig and possess shellfish from the shores and flats of Kittery for the purposes of 40 
commercial use or commercial sale. 41 

§ 12.6.6 Application procedure.  42 
A. Any person may apply to the Town Clerk for a Shellfish Harvesting License as required by this chapter 43 

on forms provided by the Town. 44 

B. Misrepresentation. Any person who gives false information on a license application will cause said 45 
license to become invalid and void.  46 

C.    Individuals holding commercial licenses issued by the State of Maine are not entitled to a recreational 47 
license. 48 

§ 12.6.7 Fees.  49 
The annual license fee is set out in Appendix A. 50 

§ 12.6.8 Limitation of diggers.  51 
It is essential that the Town carefully husband its shellfish resources. The number of licenses issued from 52 
year to year will vary depending on the annual review of the Town’s shellfish resources, sizes, distribution, 53 
and abundance. 54 

A. The Shellfish Conservation Committee, with approval of the Commissioner of Marine Resources, will 55 
establish the number of noncommercial licenses to be permitted each year. 56 

B.   The Shellfish Committee will notify the Town Clerk in writing prior to November 1 of the number of 57 
licenses to be issued for the ensuing year. 58 

C. Notice of the number of licenses to be issued and the procedure for application is to be published in a 59 
trade or industry publication, or in a newspaper or combination of newspapers with general circulation, 60 
not less than 10 days prior to the period of issuance, and posted in the municipal offices until the period 61 
concludes.  62 



DRAFT: October 11, 2023 
 

3 
 

D.   Licenses shall be issued annually, on a first-come-first-served basis.  A wait list may be established if all 63 
licenses are issued.  The wait list will only be valid for the season it is established. 64 

E. Licenses may be returned to the Town voluntarily and reissued to another qualifying applicant at the 65 
current fee.  66 

§ 12.6.9 License expiration date.  67 
Each license issued under authority of this chapter expires at midnight on November 30 following the date of 68 
issuance, expect except single day licenses. Single day licenses expire at sunset on the date for which they 69 
are issued. 70 

§ 12.6.10 Opening and closing of flats.  71 
A. The Town Council, upon the approval of the Commissioner of Marine Resources, may open and close 72 

areas for shellfish harvest. Upon recommendation of the Shellfish Conservation Committee and 73 
concurrence of the Department of Marine Resources that the status of shellfish resource and other factors 74 
bearing on sound management indicate that an area should be opened or closed, the Town Council may 75 
hold a public hearing on the matter, and shall send a copy of the notice to the Department of Marine 76 
Resources. The decision of the Town Council to open or close a shellfish harvest area is to be based on 77 
findings of fact. 78 

§ 12.6.11 Harvesting Season 79 
A. The shellfish harvest season shall be established prior to November 1 each year by the Town Council, 80 

upon recommendation of the Shellfish Conservation Committee and approval of the Commissioner of 81 
Marine Resources.   82 

B. The season dates, number of licenses, and information on how to obtain a license will be advertised prior 83 
to each season in accordance with 12 M.R.S. § 6671. 84 

A.C. The shellfish harvest season may be amended through a conservation closure by the Town Council, 85 
with approval of the Commissioner of Marine Resources, as deemed recommended or needed.  86 

B.D. Shellfish harvesting may only occur on Sundays and on nationally recognized holidays, between 87 
sunrise and sunset, during the harvest season. 88 

§ 12.6.12 Minimum legal size of soft-shell clams.  89 
A. It is unlawful for any person to possess soft-shell clams within the Town which are less than two inches 90 

in the longest diameter, unless as otherwise provided. 91 

B. Any person may possess soft-shell clams that are less than two inches if they comprise less than 10% of 92 
any lot. The tolerance is determined by numerical count of not less than one peck nor more than four 93 
pecks taken at random from various parts of the lot or by a count of the entire lot if it contains less than 94 
one peck. 95 

§ 12.6.13 Violation, Revocation and Suspension.  96 
A.  The Shellfish Warden, Harbormaster, and Kittery Police Officers are authorized to enforce violations this 97 

chapter, to include the issuance of civil violations. 98 



DRAFT: October 11, 2023 
 

4 
 

B.  Any person in violation of this chapter, excluding a violation of §16.6.13.C may be assessed a penalty of 99 
$100 for the first offense, $150 for the second offense and $200 for the third and subsequent offenses.   100 

C. Any person found taking shellfish from an area not opened by the Town Council for harvesting, or when 101 
harvesting is not permitted, may be assessed a penalty of $500, and may result in the revocation of the 102 
individual’s shellfish license. 103 

D.  Repeat offenders and/or those who fail to pay fines within 30 days in accordance with this chapter may 104 
have their license suspended or revoked.  A license that has been suspended or revoked more than once 105 
may be prohibited from receiving a license in the ensuing year. 106 

E. Any person who violates this chapter may be charged with a Class D crime in accordance with 12 M.R.S. 107 
§6671. 108 

§ 12.6.14 Conflict with other laws. 109 

In the event of any conflict in the provisions of this article with the provisions of any present or future statute 110 
relating thereto, the most restrictive or that imposing the higher standards governs. 111 

2. AMEND Appendix A Chapter 12.6 SHELLFISH, Shellfish License Fees as follows: 112 

Resident recreational         $15 113 

Residents 70 and over         $0 114 

Residents under 14 years of Ageage       $0 115 

Nonresident recreational        $30 116 

Nonresident 70 and over         $0 117 

Nonresident under 14 years of age       $0 118 

Single Day License         $15 119 



KITTERY TOWN CODE 
CHAPTER 12.6 

SHELLFISH  
 

DRAFT: October 11, 2023 

AN ORDINANCE relating to the municipality’s authority for Town governance to give due and 1 
proper attention to its many demands pursuant to the Town Charter, Federal law, and Maine 2 
Revised Statutes, and more particularly where set forth in Maine Revised Statutes Title 30-A, 3 
Municipalities and Counties. 4 

WHEREAS, the Kittery Town Council is authorized to enact this Ordinance, as specified in 5 
Sections 1.01 and 2.07(3) of the Town Charter; 30-A MRS §3001, pursuant to its powers that 6 
authorize the town, under certain circumstances, to provide for the public health, welfare, 7 
morals, and safety, and does not intend for this Ordinance to conflict with any existing state or 8 
federal laws; and 9 

WHEREAS, the Maine Division of Marine Resources provided feedback and recommendations 10 
on Kittery’s Shellfish Conservation ordinance; and 11 

WHEREAS, the said amendments ensure the Town’s Shellfish Conservation ordinance are 12 
properly aligned with state law and Division of Marine Resources guidance; 13 

NOW THEREFORE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH TITLES 30-A MRS §3001 AND TOWN 14 
CHARTER §2.14, THE TOWN OF KITTERY HEREBY ORDAINS AMENDMENTS TO TITLE 15 
12.6 OF THE TOWN CODE, AND AMEND APPENDIX A AS PRESENTED. 16 

INTRODUCED and read in a public session of the Town Council on the ____ day of _______, 17 

20___, by:__________________ {NAME}   Motion to approve by Councilor 18 

__________________ {NAME},  as seconded by Councilor __________________ {NAME} and 19 

passed by a vote of _______. 20 

THIS ORDINANCE IS DULY AND PROPERLY ORDAINED by the Town Council of Kittery, 21 

Maine on the ______ day of _______, 20___, {NAME}, __________________ , Chairperson 22 

Attest:  {NAME}, __________________Town Clerk 23 







 

 

October 2, 2023 
 
Town of Kittery Maine 
Attention:  Jillian Richards – Town Clerk 
200 Rogers Road 
Kittery, ME 03904 
 
Dear Council Members: 
 
The Kiwanis Club of the Seacoast is requesting permission from the Town of Kittery, to sponsor the 
Annual Kittery Holiday Parade on Saturday December 2, 2023, and have the following Kiwanis Club 
Member appointed as the Town’s Official Parade Committee: 
 
 Glen Philbrook  41 Love Lane  Kitter, Maine 03904 
 
The parade will start at Post Office Square at 3:00 pm, follow the traditional parade route through the 
downtown area, and conclude at the John Paul Jones Park with the tree lighting ceremony. 
 
Should the case of inclement weather, we would like to have the option of a rain date of Sunday 
December 3, 2023 at 3:00 pm as the back up plan. 
 
The Kiwanis Club of the Seacoast has sponsored the parade since 1994 and is looking forward to 
another successful community event again this year. 
 
If you should have any questions concerning the parade, please contact Glen Philbrook at his cell phone 
of 603-799-8453 or Dan Witham (Club Secretary). 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

Daniel R Witham 

Daniel R Witham 
Secretary 
Kiwanis Club of the Seacoast 
603-590-0099 w or 603-969-4694 c 
 

 

Kiwanis Club of the Seacoast – PO Box 285 Kittery, ME 03904 
Frank Dennett – President Glen Philbrook – Immediate Past President 

Dan Witham – Secretary Kathryne O’Connell - Treasurer 







TOWN OF KITTERY 
Office of the Town Clerk 

200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 
Telephone: (207) 475-1328  

Application for Appointment to Traffic and Parking Ad Hoc Committee 

Name: __________________________________________________________________________________ 

Residence: _______________________________________________________________________________ 

Mailing (if different): _____________________________________________________________________ 

E-Mail Address: __________________________________________________________________________

Phone Number: (H) ___________________ (W) ___________________ (C) _________________________

The Town Council is seeking to appoint an ad hoc committee that represents diverse 
experiences, voices, and interest in assisting the Town develop a comprehensive policy on 
traffic calming and parking regulations that complies with state and federal regulations, 
and is synergistic with Title 16, the Bike/Ped Master Plan, the future Climate Action Plan, and 
the Comprehensive Plan.  The policy, as envisioned, will identify which tools or solutions will 
be acceptable in Kittery (e.g.: speed bumps, permit parking, metered parking, road diets, 
etc.) given certain circumstances and criteria.  The Committee will work with staff and a 
professional traffic engineering consultant to develop the policy. 

The ad hoc committee will conduct its work over the next 12 to 18 months and conclude 
with a proposed policy and recommendations for actions steps for the Town Council.   

Please respond the questions below. Please feel free to attach a separate piece of paper if 
additional space is needed. 

1. Why are you interested in participating in the Traffic and Parking Hoc Committee?



2. How do you think the Ad Hoc Committee should approach the challenge of
developing a policy where there are a broad range of needs, impacts, and
opinions on traffic and parking in neighborhoods, around businesses, and in
public areas of interest?

3. How do you see yourself contributing to the Traffic and Parking Ad Hoc
Committee’s work?

4. Are you a Registered Voter of the Town of Kittery? ❑ Yes ❑ No

5.  Any known conflicts of interest? (Please read below for info on Conflict of Interest):

      SIGNATURE OF APPLICANT     DATE 



Title 30-A: MUNICIPALITIES AND COUNTIES 

§2605. Conflicts of interest

1. Voting. The vote of a body is voidable when any official in an official position votes on any 
question in which that official has a direct or an indirect pecuniary interest.

4. Direct or indirect pecuniary interest. In the absence of actual fraud, an official of a body 
of the municipality, county government or a quasi-municipal corporation involved in a 
question or in the negotiation or award of a contract is deemed to have a direct or indirect 
pecuniary interest in a question or in a contract where the official is an officer, director, 
partner, associate, employee or stockholder of a private corporation, business or other 
economic entity to which the question relates or with which the unit of municipal, county 
government or the quasi-municipal corporation contracts only where the official is directly 
or indirectly the owner of at least 10% of the stock of the private corporation or owns at least 
a 10% interest in the business or other economic entity.

When an official is deemed to have a direct or indirect pecuniary interest, the vote on the 
question or the contract is not voidable and actionable if the official makes full disclosure of 
interest before any action is taken and if the official abstains from voting, from the 
negotiation or award of the contract and from otherwise attempting to influence a decision 
in which that official has an interest. The official's disclosure and a notice of abstention from 
taking part in a decision in which the official has an interest shall be recorded with the clerk 
or secretary of the municipal or county government or the quasi-municipal corporation. 

A. This subsection does not prohibit a member of a city or town council or a member of a 
quasi-municipal corporation who is a teacher from making or renewing a teacher 
employment contract with the municipality or quasi-municipal corporation for which the 
member serves.

6. Avoidance of appearance of conflict of interest. Every municipal and county official 
shall attempt to avoid the appearance of a conflict of interest by disclosure or by abstention.




























	2023.10.11 Agenda
	2023.10.11 TMR
	ADPA358.tmp
	Town of Kittery
	Office of the Town Manager
	200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904
	Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806
	kamaral@kitteryme.org


	2023.10.11 9.11.2023 Minutes
	2023.10.11 GTF Kittery 8 Rte 236
	GTF Downloads.pdf
	AMS1358 ConditionalLicense
	AMS1358 Original Online Submission 14OCT2022
	AMS1358 Online Submission 13FEB2023
	AMS1358 Online Submission 14FEB2023
	AMS1358 BUSORG Certificate of Formation and 2022 Annual Report
	AMS1358 BUSORG LLC Agreement
	AMS1358 Release of Information
	AMS1358 MRS Form - Redacted
	AMS1358 Principal Attestation - Redacted
	AMS1358 Principal Attestation Addendum
	AMS1358 Notary

	Conditional License AU Mnf Green Truck Farms 5.pdf
	AMP Facility License Print
	GREEN TRUCK FARMS 5, LLC - AMF1306
	AMF1306



	ConditionalLicense AU Store Green Truck Farms 6.pdf
	AMP Facility License Print
	GREEN TRUCK FARMS 6, LLC - AMS1313
	AMS1313



	Conditional License AU Store Green Truck Farms 7.pdf
	AMP Facility License Print
	GREEN TRUCK FARMS 7, LLC - AMS1272
	AMS1272




	George Smart Donation
	2023.10.11 Title 12 Shellfish Conservation
	ADPC831.tmp
	Chapter 12.6  Shellfish Conservation
	1.  AMEND Chapter 12.6 Shellfish to correct typos and add day licenses as follows:
	§ 12.6.1 Authority.
	§ 12.6.2 Purpose.
	§ 12.6.3 Definitions.
	§ 12.6.4 Municipal shellfish digging license required.
	§ 12.6.5 Designation, scope and qualifications.
	§ 12.6.6 Application procedure.
	§ 12.6.7 Fees.
	§ 12.6.8 Limitation of diggers.
	§ 12.6.9 License expiration date.
	§ 12.6.10 Opening and closing of flats.
	§ 12.6.11 Harvesting Season
	§ 12.6.12 Minimum legal size of soft-shell clams.
	§ 12.6.13 Violation, Revocation and Suspension.



	O'Keefe, Michael 2-11-2022
	Holiday Parage Request
	2023.10.11 Traffic and Parking Appointies
	2023.10.11 Traffic and Parking Appointies
	2023.10.11 Traffic and Parking Debbie Driscoll
	2023.10.11 Traffic and Parking Jared Lucas
	2023.10.11 Traffic and Parking John C Perry
	2023.10.11 Traffic and Parking Kathy Stimpson
	2023.10.11 Traffic and Parking Lawrence Elbach
	2023.10.11 Traffic and Parking Shannon Hill

	2023.10.11 Jessica Becker


	Name: Jared Lucas
	Residence: 6 Pickernell Lane Kittery ME 03904
	Mailing if different: 
	EMail Address: jared.ezra.lucas@gmail.com
	Phone Number H: N/A
	W: N/A
	C: 215.350.1086
	Interested?: I am interested in participating to help impart innovative change in our town. As the town evolves, I would like to be a part of the process. This is a good opportunity to start to see how the town works, what value I can bring and ultimately create a logical and efficient traffic/parking strategy. 
	Policy: I imagine the baseline data for the town will be segmented by specific areas of the town across a few tactical areas - traffic, parking and perhaps in- vs. out-of town usage. There would ideally be segment-specific strategic plans and tactics created within the policy. 
	Contribution: Professionally, I am a strategist. I have worked with projects for Fortune 50s and for innovative start-ups. The same skills can be applied to the committee's work for policy creation and evaluation. I am very eager to understand how the town works and how I can contribute for making Kittery an even better place to live. 
	Yes: Yes
	No: Off
	Conflicts: N/A
	Date: Sept. 14, 2023


